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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS

THIS REPORT ON FORM 10-K CONTAINS FORWARD-LOOKINGIBTEMENTS RELATING TO CLINICAL AND REGULATORY
DEVELOPMENTS (INCLUDING ANTICIPATED CLINICAL TRIALCOMMENCEMENT AND FDA FILING AND APPROVAL
DATES), MARKETING AND SALES MATTERS, FUTURE EXPENSEEVELS, FINANCIAL RESULTS AND YEAR 2000 MATTERS.
THESE STATEMENTS INVOLVE INHERENT RISKS AND UNCERTIATIES. THE COMPANY'S ACTUAL FINANCIAL AND
OPERATING RESULTS MAY DIFFER SIGNIFICANTLY FROM THRESULTS DISCUSSED IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS. FACTORS THAT MIGHT CAUSE SUCH A DIFFEREE INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, THOSE
DISCUSSED IN "RISK FACTORS," PARTICULARLY THOSE REATING TO THE ONGOING DEVELOPMENT AND
COMMERCIALIZATION OF THE COMPANY'S

POTENTIAL PHARMACEUTICAL PRODUCTS AND, IN THE CASEF YEAR 2000 MATTERS, THE ABILITY TO IDENTIFY AND
CORRECT ALL RELEVANT COMPUTER CODE AND THE SUCCES$3- REMEDIAL EFFORTS IMPLEMENTED BY THIRD-
PARTY SUPPLIERS AND BUSINESS PARTNERS.

GENERAL

Gilead Sciences, Inc. ("Gilead" or the "Compang"an independent biopharmaceutical company thastegrovide accelerated solutions
for patients and the people who care for them.Tbmpany discovers, develops and commercializesigtapy therapeutics for important
viral diseases, including the currently marketeadpict VISTIDE-Registered Trademark- (cidofovir ictien) for the treatment of
cytomegalovirus ("CMV") retinitis, a sight-threateg viral infection in patients with acquired imneudeficiency syndrome ("AIDS"). In
addition, the Company is developing products tatttiseases caused by human immunodeficiency {irl¥"), hepatitis B virus ("HBV")
and influenza virus.

The successful development and commercializatidghefCompany's products will require substantial angoing efforts at the forefront of
the life sciences industry. The Company is purspirgglinical or clinical development of a numbempodduct candidates. Even if these
product candidates appear promising during varstages of development, they may not reach the rméoka number of reasons. Such
reasons include the possibilities that the potéptiaducts will be found ineffective or cause hauh#ide effects during preclinical or clinical
trials, fail to receive necessary regulatory appteybe difficult or uneconomical to manufacturesocommercial scale, be uneconomical to
market or be precluded from commercialization likieai proprietary rights or competing products dfers.

The Company faces significant challenges and fisk® industry undergoing rapid change, includimg tisks inherent in its research and
development programs, uncertainties in obtainirdjenforcing patents, the lengthy, expensive an@énain regulatory approval process,
reliance on third party manufacturers, intense aetitipn from pharmaceutical and biotechnology comes, dependence on collaborative
relationships, increasing pressure on pharmacéticang from payors, patients and government &g, and uncertainties associated with
the market acceptance of and size of the markedrfprof the Company's products or products in agmaknt.

The Company expects that its financial results ealhtinue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter #vat such fluctuations may be substantial.
There can be no assurance that the Company witesstully develop, commercialize, manufacture aadket additional products, nor can
there be assurance that the Company will eitheeaetor sustain profitability.

On March 1, 1999, Gilead and NeXstar Pharmacestitat. ("NeXstar") announced a definitive merggreement (the "Merger") providing
for the acquisition by Gilead of all the outstargitommon stock of NeXstar. The Merger is structaea tax-free, stock-for-stock
transaction. The Company intends to account foMbeger under the pooling-of-interests method. NaXseadquartered in Boulder,
Colorado, is engaged in the discovery, developmmaanhufacture and commercialization of productseattserious and life-threatening
illnesses. In addition to its Boulder headquartiies{star maintains research, development and metufag facilities in San Dimas,
California, and marketing subsidiaries



outside of the United States. Under the terms®Mlerger agreement, NeXstar stockholders will recbietween 0.3786 and 0.5000 of a
share of Gilead common stock for each share of eX®mmon stock. The exact exchange ratio williérmined based on the trading
range of Gilead common stock prior to completiothaf Merger. The Merger is subject to certain cbods, including approval by the
stockholders of Gilead and NeXstar. The Mergexjeeted to be completed in mid-1999. See "Managésbiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operation--PsgabMerger Agreement."”

The Company was incorporated in Delaware in 198 Company's principal executive offices are lot@ie333 Lakeside Drive, Foster
City, California 94404 and its telephone numbg6E0) 574-3000, or (800) GILEADS (800-445-3235).

FOR A MORE DETAILED DISCUSSION OF THE RISK FACTORRELATING TO THE COMPANY SUMMARIZED ABOVE, SEE
"RISK FACTORS" AT THE END OF THIS ITEM 1 (PAGES TTHROUGH 24 OF THIS REPORT). STOCKHOLDERS AND
PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE COMPANY SHOULD CAREFUY. CONSIDER THESE RISK FACTORS.

OVERVIEW OF NUCLEOTIDES

Nucleotides exist in every human cell and are thigling blocks of the nucleic acids DNA and RNA shgle nucleotide is called
mononucleotide, and several nucleotides linkedttegeare called an oligonucleotide. Nucleotidesiavelved in the metabolism and
regulation of certain activities of cells and mierganisms. Oligonucleotides are the material caimgigenetic information.

Natural oligonucleotides are coupled to one andtharspecific manner to form DNA or RNA strand&eTspecific sequences of nucleoti
that compose each strand of DNA contain the geceties for the different proteins produced by tlé roteins perform most of the norr
physiologic functions of humans, viruses and otirganisms. However, when the production or actieftproteins becomes aberrant,
numerous diseases, such as vascular disease, imdlienny disease or cancer, can result. Diseasesalsayesult from a foreign organism,
such as a virus, which directs a cell to producdgins necessary for viral replication.

Natural nucleotides are a versatile class of com@sihat can be chemically modified to inhibit greduction or activity of disea-causing
proteins. Natural nucleotides have three moleadarponents: a sugar, a phosphate group and abasg. nucleotide in DNA has the same
sugar and phosphate group but a different basdebtisle analogues designed to be therapeutic contfsocan work by a number of differe
mechanisms. Mononucleotides can be designed tdergewith the metabolism of cells or with the iieption of viruses. Oligonucleotides ¢
be designed to interfere with transcription or $lation by binding to DNA or RNA.

The Company believes that the precise interactionuoleotides in binding to DNA, RNA and protein®ypides the chemical basis for the
development of therapeutic products with high djEtyi and potency and long duration of action. Marf the Company's products or
products in development are nucleotide analoguekjding VISTIDE, PREVEON-Registered Trademark-gfadir dipivoxil), adefovir
dipivoxil for hepatitis B and PMPA.



PRODUCT PIPELINE

The following table summarizes Gilead's products product candidates. This table is qualified sneititirety by reference to the more
detailed descriptions elsewhere in this Report.

PRODUCT/CANDIDATE TARGET INDI CATIONS DEVELOPMENT STATUS(1) WORLDWI DE RIGHTS
VISTIDE-Registered Trademark- ~ CMV Retinitis Launched in U.S. Gilead (U.S )
Pharmacia & Upjohn
(Ex-U.S.)

Launched in E.U.

PREVEON-Registered Trademark-  HIV-AIDS Phase I Gilead

Influenza Virus (Treatment) Phase Il Roche
GS 4104 Oral

Influenza Virus

(Prophylaxis) Phase 1lI Roche

Adefovir Dipivoxil Hepatitis B Viru S Phase Il Gilead
PMPA Oral Prodrug HIV-AIDS Phase Il Gilead
Cidofovir Topical Ophthalmic Viral Keratoconj unctivitis  Phase Il Bausch & Lo mb
Adenosine Receptor Regulators ~ Stroke Preclinical/Research  Gilead/NIH CRADA
HIV Protease Inhibitors HIV-AIDS Research Gilead
Hepatitis C Virus Inhibitors HCV Research Gilead

(1) See "Government Regulation” for a descriptibthe phases of clinical testing and the regulaapgroval process.
VISTIDE

In June 1996, Gilead received United States FoddDang Administration ("FDA") clearance to market first product, VISTIDE for the
treatment of CMV retinitis in patients with AIDSh& active ingredient in VISTIDE is cidofovir, a mamucleotide analogue that has
demonstrated activity in preclinical studies aridicél trials against several viruses in the hevjyas family. In addition to VISTIDE,
cidofovir is under evaluation for other indicatio®ee "Clinical Development Programs--Cidofovir."

Cytomegalovirus is an opportunistic infection iripats with AIDS. CMV is a systemic viral infectidhat may infect several sites in the
body, including the retina, gastrointestinal trauhgs, liver and central nervous system. Retiistihe most frequent manifestation of CMV
infection in patients with AIDS. The incidence ofi¥ retinitis in AIDS patients declined by more th@s% since 1996 as a result of more
effective therapeutics for AIDS, as well as the aferal ganciclovir for CMV prophylaxis. The Compaanticipates that this decline may
continue as these therapies effectively control kiféction.

VISTIDE was cleared for marketing based on clinici@ls demonstrating that the drug has a statifyicignificant effect in delaying the
progression of CMV retinitis lesions in newly diaged patients, and in previously treated patiehis knad failed other therapies. In addition,
VISTIDE has a more convenient dosing regimen thanother intravenous CMV treatments. VISTIDE is adstered by intravenous infusi
once per week for the first two weeks as inducti@rapy, and then once every other week as mamtertaerapy until progression of the
disease or intolerance to the therapy. Other iettaus treatments must be administered once orgiautimes per day and often require the
surgical implantation of a chronic catheter in flaient's chest for the daily infusions.
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Renal toxicity is the primary dose-limiting siddesft of VISTIDE administration. Prior to each adisiration, patients must be monitored for
urinary protein and serum creatinine (laboratorykees of renal toxicity). In addition, patients edee intravenous saline hydration and oral
probenecid on each treatment day to mitigate thenpial for toxicity. VISTIDE is contraindicated atients receiving other agents with
nephrotoxic potential, and patients are requiregnibergo a "wash out" period of seven days afterpteting therapy with such agents and
before receiving VISTIDE. In certain animal studiesliofovir, the active ingredient in VISTIDE, waarcinogenic.

VISTIDE is marketed and sold in the United Statg$llead's sales force of antiviral specialistsisTdroup currently consists of 26 sales
representatives and three regional directors wiailgehysicians, hospitals, clinics, pharmacies atiér healthcare providers involved in the
treatment of patients with CMV retinitis. Gileadls&/ISTIDE to wholesalers and specialty distritngtavho, in turn, sell the product to
hospitals, home healthcare companies, pharmactkstaer healthcare providers. See "Marketing addsSa

In August 1996, Gilead licensed commercial right®harmacia & Upjohn S.A. ("Pharmacia & Upjohn"market and sell VISTIDE in all
territories outside of the United States. In Afi807, the European Commission granted marketingpappfor VISTIDE for all the member
countries in the European Union under the centrdlgrocedure of the European Medicines Evaluatigengy ("EMEA"). Subsequently,
VISTIDE was approved for marketing in Switzerladdistralia and Hong Kong, and applications for appt@re pending in several other
countries. By the end of 1998, Pharmacia & Upjohd launched the product in twelve European counama two other countries. VISTIDE
product launches by Pharmacia & Upjohn in additi@oaintries are expected as approvals are obtaRtetmacia & Upjohn pays Gilead a
royalty on its net sales of VISTIDE on a trailimyarterly basis. See "Collaborative Relationshipisarmacia & Upjohn."

There are several approved therapies that comp#teASTIDE in the CMV retinitis market. Ganciclayimarketed by Roche Laboratories
the most widely used treatment for CMV retinitisar@iclovir is available in intravenous and orahfiolations, and the oral formulation is
approved for both prophylaxis and maintenancermeat of CMV retinitis. A ganciclovir ocular implannarketed by Bausch & Lomb
Incorporated ("Bausch & Lomb"), provides local #ygy to an affected eye and is implanted througlrgical procedure. In addition, Astra
U.S.A. markets foscarnet, another approved intrausrtherapy for CMV retinitis, and CibaVision matkérmivirsen, an antisense drug
injected directly into the eye. There are also ptigdly competing products in clinical developmémt the treatment of CMV retinitis.
Although the Company believes that VISTIDE has cetitipe advantages over these products, partiguleith regard to dosing convenience
and efficacy, there can be no assurance that thgp@ay will be successful in maintaining or incregsVISTIDE's share of the declining
CMV retinitis treatment market. See "Competition."

CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

Gilead is developing small molecule nucleotide agaés that are intended to treat viral infectiopsdlectively interfering with proteins
essential for viral replication. Numerous diseaseesses, particularly viral infections, requiregise interactions between cellular or viral
proteins and nucleotides or oligonucleotides. Kangle, many viruses depend upon certain proteinsvk as enzymes to synthesize their
own DNA. This dependence of the virus upon spedifieractions between proteins and nucleic acidsiges opportunities for the
development of therapeutic products that disrugséhcrucial interactions. Preclinical and clinigtaidies have demonstrated that small
molecule nucleotide analogues can selectively inpgithese interactions.

The Company believes that small molecule nucleaitiogues offer several potential advantagesemaphutics. First, these molecules may
have a long duration of action, permitting lessgjérent and therefore more convenient dosing. Sedmuhuse certain nucleotides can be
active in both infected and



uninfected cells, these molecules may provide pyigmhic protection of uninfected cells. Third, whesmpared to existing antiviral drugs,
viruses may be less likely to develop resistandbdse analogues. In addition, these analoguesmaygtive against viral strains that have
developed resistance to existing antiviral drugsalfy, the low molecular weight of these analoguesprodrug derivatives of them, may
permit their development into drugs suitable fal@dministration.

A major portion of the Company's operating expensaiate has been related to the research andogenent of products. During the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, the Corispasgarch and development expenses were $7%5i@n#H59.2 million, $41.9
million, respectively.

PREVEON

PREVEON is a mononucleotide analogue developed asa prodrug of adefovir, the Company's first HiNhical candidate. A prodrug is a
modified version of a parent compound designedt@mace delivery characteristics. PREVEON has detrated preclinical and clinical
activity against HIV, hepatitis B virus and herpiesses. See "Adefovir Dipivoxil for HBV." PREVEONaB been generally well tolerated in
clinical trials. The most common adverse eventeHhsen dose-related gastrointestinal effects, direiunausea and loss of appetite.
Nephrotoxicity, including changes in serum creatnand phosphate, is the most significant toxiciigerved. Nephrotoxicity has be
observed in approximately one-third of patientsediofor six months to one year at the 120 mg dalsedevel. In clinical trials, observed
nephrotoxicity has generally been gradual in oresatmptomatic, detectable by routine monitoring eesblvable upon dose reduction or
withdrawal. Some patients have also experiencedgtms in liver transaminases. In clinical triddREVEON is administered as a single «
tablet once per day, along with a single oral clpstiL-carnitine, a nutritional supplement. L-cgime is administered to counteract the
decrease of natural serum carnitine that can bgechloy PREVEON administration.

A number of products with different mechanisms afan have been approved for the treatment of HIMe first generation of approved HIV
drugs are reverse transcriptase inhibitors, inclydiucleoside and non-nucleoside compounds. Sewertdase inhibitors were approved for
marketing beginning in 1996, and others are inadindevelopment. Combination therapy with revdraascriptase inhibitors and protease
inhibitors is proving to be effective for many pémith AIDS, in some cases lowering the patievital load (level of virus in the blood) to
undetectable levels for prolonged periods of tifitee Company believes, however, that there issilistantial room for improvement in
AIDS drug therapy. Many patients are developindgstaace or becoming intolerant to combination thgrand require new combinations for
therapy to be effective. Patients would benefirfralDS drugs that are better-tolerated, more coiargnio dose, less prone to develop
significant resistance and active against resigtains of HIV.

PREVEON is a reverse transcriptase inhibitor thdtding evaluated in a series of clinical studmmsored by Gilead, as well as by
government organizations, in the United Statesadmndad. These studies were designed to test thy safd efficacy of PREVEON in a
variety of drug combinations and patient populatidncluding studies of patients not previoushateel with anti-HIV therapies, patients not
previously treated with a protease inhibitor antigués who had failed treatment with triple comltioa or protease containing regimens.
PREVEON is also available in the United States uatgieexpanded access program for patients withdohtreatment options, and more than
7,000 patients have enrolled in the program as arfchl 1999. In both the clinical studies and theaexied access program, PREVEON has
been administered at one of two dose levels (120m&d mg, once per day).

Based on the data obtained from the clinical stidied expanded access program, as well as ongeddck from the FDA, Gilead plans to
submit a new drug application ("NDA") for the 60 mgse of PREVEON during mid-1999. In November 1988,FDA granted "fast track"
designation to PREVEON for the treatment of HIVeicted patients with clinical, immunologic and/omlbgic progression despite prior
reverse transcriptase inhibitor therapy. In Jand@89, Gilead initiated a rolling submission bynfj
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the Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls sectibthe NDA. In addition to ongoing Phase Il clini¢eals for PREVEON, additional Phe

IV studies will be initiated during 1999 to confiriine safety and efficacy of PREVEON at the 60 mgedevel. There can be no assurance as
to when or whether Gilead will file an NDA for apwal of PREVEON. Moreover, even if the NDA is filetiere can be no assurance as to
the nature, timing or ultimate approval of the NDyAthe FDA.

HIV is the causative agent of AIDS. HIV infects @stimated 33 million people worldwide. There wemeeatimated 260,000 people with
AIDS in the United States in 1998. A number of #perutics are currently marketed or are in advastages of clinical development for the
treatment of HIV infection and AIDS, including 18aglucts currently marketed in the United States. "&®»mpetition."

The Company has an exclusive, worldwide licenggatent rights and related technology for adefavirich is the parent compound of
adefovir dipivoxil, from the Institute of Organich€mistry and Biochemistry of the Academy of Scienokthe Czech Republic and the
REGA Stichting Research Institute in Belgium (cdlieely, "IOCB/REGA"), and would be obligated toypa royalty to IOCB/ REGA on any
net sales of adefovir dipivoxil. See "CollaboratRelationships--IOCB/REGA."

GS 4104

In September 1996, Gilead announced the discoveB504104 (also known as Ro 64-0796), an oral prgpaif the active neuraminidase
inhibitor GS 4071, which inhibits the replicatiohinfluenza virus in a variety of animal models. @B)4 is a potent and specific inhibitor of
influenza A and B virus neuraminidase activity das shown potent antiviral activity when testedragdaboratory strains of influenza A
and B viruses IN VITRO.

Based on these data, Gilead and F. Hoffmann-La &btth and Hoffmann-La Roche, Inc. (collectiveliRdche") entered into an exclusive,
worldwide development and commercialization colla@bion covering Gilead's neuraminidase inhibit@8ead and Roche are jointly
conducting research and development of neuramieintdibitors for the prevention and treatment dilienza, with Roche funding 100% of
this program. GS 4104 is a systemic treatmentfiluénza, administered as an oral capsule and nkeditp reach all sites of infection. GS
4104 targets one of the two major surface strustafehe influenza virus, the neuraminidase prot€ire neuraminidase site is highly
conserved in all common strains of influenza. lfirg@ninidase is inhibited, the virus is not ablénfect new cells.

During 1998, Roche and Gilead completed and anrexlitie results of several Phase 11l clinical stadieGS 4104. In two treatment studies,
one conducted in the United States and anotheuniiode, Canada and Hong Kong and each involving 89@rpatients, GS 4104 significan
decreased the duration and severity of acute inflaén adults. In addition, GS 4104 reduced seagritlacomplications, such as bronchitis
and sinusitis, in previously healthy adults. Intbof these treatment studies, the drug was gewpevall tolerated. Transient nausea was
reported more often in the active drug arm of estady than in the placebo group. In a third stwdyich involved testing GS 4104 as a
preventative therapy, the drug reduced the incid@fdénfluenza infection relative to placebo andsweell tolerated by the over 1,000
participants who were on a six-week regimen ofdbigve drug.

Roche has exclusive commercial rights to GS 41@4tamny other products developed under the caliglam. Roche is obligated to pay
Gilead cash payments upon achievement of developmidgstones and royalties on net sales of anyymtsddeveloped under the
collaboration. See "Collaborative Relationships{ffah@nn-La Roche." Roche expects to submit an NDklie treatment indication for GS
4104 to the FDA during the first half of 1999. Hoxee, there can be no assurance as to when or wHetohe will file the NDA. Moreover,
even if the NDA is filed, there can be no assuraascto the nature, timing or ultimate approvalhaf NDA by the FDA.

Glaxo Wellcome, in collaboration with Biota Holdmgimited, is also pursuing development of zanamavheuraminidase inhibitor to treat
influenza. This compound, delivered with a dry pewd



inhaler, has been approved in some countries amadisr review for approval in the United Statesh®/FDA. Zanamavir represents
significant potential competition for GS 4104. S€@ampetition."

ADEFOVIR DIPIVOXIL FOR HBV

Gilead is also developing adefovir dipivoxil foretpotential treatment of HBV. More than 350 millipaople worldwide are chronically
infected with HBV, primarily in Asian countries. @mlications of chronic HBV include cirrhosis, cancé the liver and liver failure. A
vaccine is available that can prevent the transarissf HBV; however, it has no activity in thoseeddy infected with the virus. Alpha
interferon is approved for the treatment of HBVadbministered by injection and is not always susftésn controlling the disease.

In 1998, Gilead completed two Phase Il randomidedple-blind, placebo-controlled clinical studidsadefovir dipivoxil for the treatment of
hepatitis B infection. Data from both studies irmdecthat twelve weeks of dosing with adefovir dipiv at 5 mg, 30 mg or 60 mg once per
was well tolerated and resulted in a statisticaigynificant decline in HBV DNA levels in treatedtjwnts compared to placebo. The decline in
HBV DNA was greater than 4 logs (99.99%) at thehbigdoses tested. Treatment with adefovir dipivesab also associated with
seroconversion in a portion of the patients in ohthe studies. In March 1999, the Company initiatee first of a series of multinational
Phase Il trials in HBV infected patients.

Glaxo Wellcome, in collaboration with Biochem Pharis pursuing development of lamivudine, a nuétdmanalogue to treat HBV
infection. This compound was recently approvednfiarketing in the United States, China and seveharaountries and represents
significant potential competition for adefovir dipixil for HBV. See "Competition."

The Company has an exclusive, worldwide licenggatent rights and related technology for adefavirich is the parent compound of
adefovir dipivoxil, from IOCB/REGA, and would be lgiated to pay a royalty to IOCB/REGA on any ndesaf adefovir dipivoxil. See
"Collaborative Relationships--IOCB/ REGA."

PMPA AND PMPA PRODRUG

The Company is evaluating PMPA, a nucleotide anadogith structural similarities to adefovir dipivigxas a potential therapeutic for HIV
and AIDS. PMPA has shown significant activity agdisimian immunodeficiency virus ("SIV") in a vasieof preclinical treatment and
prevention models. SIV causes an AIDS-like syndram@imates. In these experiments, primates tieaith injections of PMPA either
before or after exposure to SIV were completelytgoted from infection. In another primate studygical gel form of PMPA also provided
protection against SIV transmission when appligdhiraginally.

Gilead has conducted placebontrolled Phase I/1l studies of PMPA in both ingBous and oral formulations ("PMPA Prodrug"). EbFuary
1998, the Company presented data from a Phassudy of PMPA Prodrug, indicating that the highdisse of the drug tested reduced viral
load by a median of 1.22 logs after one month airp In this study, PMPA Prodrug was administexgea single oral tablet at one of three
doses (75 mg, 150 mg or 300 mg) once per day. Basdloese results, the Company initiated a longrtehase 1l safety study of PMPA
Prodrug, in combination with other anti-retrovitérapies, which completed enrollment at 180 p&tienMarch 1999. Depending on the
results from this study, Gilead intends to initiatprogram of Phase 11l studies of PMPA Prodrughtethe end of 1999.

The National Institutes of Health ("NIH") is evatiray possible applications of intravenous PMPAha prevention of maternal-fetal HIV
transmission, as well as a topical version of PM&#the prevention of sexual transmission of HIV.

The Company has an exclusive, worldwide licenggatent rights and related technology for PMPA fi@<B/REGA, and would be
obligated to pay a royalty to IOCB/REGA on any sates of PMPA. See "Collaborative RelationshipssBIREGA."
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CIDOFOVIR

Cidofovir is a mononucleotide analogue that hasatestrated activity in preclinical studies and dalitrials against several viruses in the
herpesvirus family. Cidofovir is the active ingreni in the Company's commercial product VISTIDE¢ovir injection). See "VISTIDE."
Gilead is currently evaluating cidofovir in differieformulations for the potential treatment of eértinfectious diseases caused by
herpesviruses and other viruses.

Preclinical studies have demonstrated that cidofis\vactive against a variety of viruses that calisease in people with AIDS, including
molluscum contagiosum, which causes disfiguring $ésions, Kaposi's sarcoma, an AIDS-related malhgy, and progressive multifocal
leukoencephalopathy ("PML"), a rapidly progressiviéen fatal brain disease.

In 1994, Gilead entered into a license and suppigement with Bausch & Lomb (formerly Storz InstemhCompany, a subsidiary of
American Home Products Corporation) to developyandrop formulation of cidofovir for the potenttabatment of certain viruses that cause
external eye infections, including adenovirus, vahigthe leading cause of viral conjunctivitis,"pink eye." The license to Bausch & Lomt
limited to topical ophthalmic use for external Viege disease, and excludes any treatment requijagtion and any treatment for other eye
diseases such as CMV retinitis. Bausch & Lomb isdewting clinical development of topical ophthalmidofovir and is currently analyzing
the data from Phase Il clinical studies. See "@ualiative Relationships--Bausch & Lomb."

The side effect profiles of the drugs under develdept based on cidofovir have not yet been fullyrabgerized. Renal toxicity is the primary
dose-limiting side effect of VISTIDE administratioim addition, in certain animal studies, cidofowias carcinogenic. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be successfulnrldping or commercializing any therapeutic produother than VISTIDE, based on
cidofovir.

The Company has an exclusive, worldwide licenggatent rights and related technology for cidofdram IOCB/REGA, and is obligated to
pay a royalty to IOCB/REGA on the net sales of VIBE, as well as on any other future products caonagi cidofovir. See "VISTIDE,"
"Collaborative Relationships-- IOCB/REGA."

RESEARCH

Gilead's research efforts are conducted by a sftetetam with the multi-disciplinary skills thathé Company believes are critical for the
discovery and preclinical development of theragsubtiased on nucleotides or other small molecules.pfimary therapeutic targets of the
Company's research program are infectious disepsegrily viral diseases, as well as cancer.

NUCLEOTIDE ANALOGUES

The Company has an extensive library of proprietargieotide compounds that it is evaluating foivaratl and antiproliferative activity.
Among the primary targets of this screening agtigite HIV, herpesviruses, hepatitis B virus andyises. In addition, Gilead is evaluating
novel nucleotide prodrugs with the potential fohanced pharmaceutical properties, including béftevailability, longer half-life and
enhanced therapeutic index. Several nucleotideognat are also being evaluated for activity agaiaster in animal models.

HIV PROTEASE INHIBITORS

Through its structure-based drug design programCitbmpany has synthesized a number of small m@eamrhpounds with IN VITRO
activity against HIV. Gilead has evaluated sevelal protease inhibitors in animal models. The catr®cus of this program is to enhance
the pharmacological



properties and cross-resistance profile of thesgpomnds before conducting further preclinical depeient.
HEPATITIS C VIRUS

Building on its expertise in the discovery and depment of antiviral therapeutics, the Companwialeating different approaches that could
lead to inhibitors of hepatitis C virus ("HCV"). iBlresearch includes identification of HCV targetstablishment of assays and screening of
compounds as potential inhibitors. See "Legal Rrdirgys."

ANTIBACTERIAL PROGRAM

Gilead has synthesized a series of small moleargounds with IN VITRO activity against bacteriagluding methicillin-resistent
staphylococcus aureus ("MRSA"). The current foduthis program is the optimization of potency aetkstivity and evaluation of these
compounds in preclinical animal models.

ADENOSINE RECEPTOR REGULATORS

Gilead is working with the National Institute ofdbietes, Digestive and Kidney Diseases at the Niudy adenosine receptor agonists and
antagonists in the treatment and prevention ofodrgenerative disorders, particularly stroke. Iraeient research has also implicated
adenosine receptors in inflammation and allergsoiers. NIH researchers have synthesized a sdnes/el small molecule adenosine
agonist and antagonist compounds and have idehtiigeral compounds with A3 receptor agonist anagamist activity which exhibit
protective effects in an animal model of strokee3éncompounds also have potential utility in teatmment of inflammatory and allergic
conditions. In collaboration with the NIH, Gileagldurrently evaluating several compounds with A ptor antagonist or agonist activity in
animal models of stroke, and also intends to evaltiee anti-inflammatory and anti- allergic propestof these compounds.

COLLABORATIVE RELATIONSHIPS

As part of its business strategy, Gilead estabdisisdiaborations with pharmaceutical companiesssisain the clinical development and/or
commercialization of certain of its products anddurct candidates, and to provide support for rebeprograms. The Company also evalu
opportunities for in-licensing products and teclogids complementary to its business. The Compamjssing collaborative relationships are
as follows:

PHARMACIA & UPJOHN

In August 1996, Gilead and Pharmacia & Upjohn extténto a license and supply agreement providirgriahcia & Upjohn with exclusive
rights to market and sell VISTIDE in all countriestside of the United States. Under the terms eftireement, Pharmacia & Upjohn paid
Gilead an initial license fee of $10.0 million.Jane 1997, after VISTIDE was approved for markeimthe European Union, Gilead recei
an additional cash milestone payment of $10.0 omillin addition, Pharmacia & Upjohn purchased 1,133 newly issued shares of Series B
Preferred Stock at $35.28 per share, a price ¢quad5% of the average closing price of Gileadmmmn stock over the 30 trading days p

to public announcement of the European approvah total purchase price of $40.0 million. The 8gB Preferred Stock is not publicly
registered, votes together with Gilead's commooksémd is convertible at any time into an equal benof shares of Gilead's common stock
at Pharmacia & Upjohn's option. Pharmacia & Upjghrestricted in its ability to sell the Series Bferred Stock (or underlying common
stock), or purchase any additional stock of the Gany until June 2002. Gilead is entitled to royal&yments on a quarterly basis on the net
sales of VISTIDE by Pharmacia & Upjohn. Gileadasagnizing royalties on a delayed basis, one quafter the Pharmacia & Upjohn sales
that generated the royalties.



Pharmacia & Upjohn has the right to terminate tpee@ment at any time with six months notice. Se&TNDE."
HOFFMANN-LA ROCHE

In September 1996, Gilead and Roche entered inttl@oration agreement to develop and commereidlierapies to treat and prevent viral
influenza. Under the agreement, Roche receivedisix@ worldwide rights to Gilead's proprietary ughza neuraminidase inhibitors,
including GS 4104. Gilead and Roche are jointlydiarting the clinical development of GS 4104. In@er 1996, Roche made an initial
license fee payment to Gilead of $10.3 million &itkad is entitled to total additional cash milest@ayments of up to $40.0 million upon
achievement of development milestones, $6.0 milibwhich were recognized in 1997. Roche is fundif§% of its own and Gilead's
research and development costs for the programvdhpay Gilead royalties on net sales on GS 410d any other products developed under
the collaboration. Roche has the right to termitlag¢eagreement at any time upon 12 months notee."Slinical Development Program&s
4104."

In September 1996, Gilead and Roche Laboratorieq'IRoche Labs") entered into an agreement torooapte Roche's Roferon-Registered
Trademark--A (Interferon alfa-2a, recombinant) thoe treatment of chronic hepatitis C infectionhe tnited States. This co-promotion
agreement concluded at the end of 1998.

GLAXO WELLCOME

In July 1990, Gilead entered into a collaboratesearch and development agreement with Glaxo Weédac. ("Glaxo"). Concurrent with
the signing of the agreement Glaxo made an $8.bmiéquity investment in Gilead and currently lo&B9,911 shares (approximately 2.¢

of the Company's outstanding common stock. Undetdims of the agreement, as amended over timgp®@laded Gilead's ongoing
research in the antisense field at a level of apprately $3.0 million per year. This agreement #gmelrelated funding was terminated in June
1998. In December 1998, Gilead sold its antisemasenp estate to Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("I$&"$6.0 million, payable in installments
over three years. Gilead does not expect to peréatditional research in the antisense field.

BAUSCH & LOMB

In August 1994, the Company entered into a licamksupply agreement with Bausch & Lomb (formetiyr&Instrument Company, a
subsidiary of American Home Products Corporatipnysuant to which Bausch & Lomb will develop andénéhe right to market an eye dr
formulation of cidofovir for the potential treatntesf topical ophthalmic viruses. The field of theckisive, worldwide license to Bausch &
Lomb is limited to topical ophthalmic use for extakviral eye disease, and specifically excludgstesatment requiring injection, and any
treatment for other eye diseases such as CMV fistidBiausch & Lomb is conducting clinical developrhef topical ophthalmic cidofovir ar

is currently analyzing the data from Phase Il chiitrials. Gilead is entitled to receive a feehegear until Bausch & Lomb files an NDA
under the agreement. In addition, Bausch & Lomtibiggated to make a series of payments based aactiievement of development
milestones in different countries during the terfthe agreement. Gilead is responsible for suppglaunlk cidofovir to Bausch & Lomb, and
Bausch & Lomb is obligated to make royalty paymeatSilead based on net sales of any products dpgdlunder the agreement. Bausch &
Lomb may terminate this agreement at any time ogetinonths notice. See "Clinical Development PrograCidofovir."

IOCB/REGA

In 1991 and 1992, the Company entered into agremméth IOCB/REGA regarding a class of nucleotidenpounds, including cidofovir,
adefovir (the parent compound of adefovir dipivpaihd PMPA. Under these agreements and later anemmdnGilead received from
IOCB/REGA an exclusive
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license to manufacture, use and sell the compooonvsred by issued United States patents and papeititations plus foreign counterparts
throughout the world, subject to an obligation &y poyalties on product sales to IOCB/REGA. The @any is currently paying
IOCB/REGA quarterly royalties on sales of VISTIDEdawill be obligated to pay additional royaltiesompany future sales of adefovir
dipivoxil or PMPA. IOCB/REGA may terminate the litges under these agreements with respect to angupar product, in specified
countries, if the Company does not make any sdlssah product in such countries within 12 montheraegulatory approval. Under one of
these agreements, the Company has an option tweene exclusive license to any new developmentiyB/REGA during the term of this
agreement. Either party may terminate this agreéoresix months notice.

ACADEMIC AND CONSULTING RELATIONSHIPS

To supplement its research and development effihiesCompany collaborates with and has licensegiogpatents, patent applications and
technology from a number of universities and mddiesearch institutions.

MANUFACTURING

The Company generally relies on third parties fer tanufacture of bulk drug substance and drugygtddr clinical and commercial
purposes, including cidofovir (VISTIDE), adefoviipdsoxil (PREVEON) and PMPA. In the case of GS 41G4lead's influenza
neuraminidase inhibitor in clinical development,cRe is responsible for the manufacture of clinarad any commercial supplies of drug
substance and drug product. Pursuant to thesé@redhips, the Company depends on such third padipsrform their manufacturing
obligations effectively and on a timely basis. Tehean be no assurance that such parties will peréod any failures by third parties may
delay clinical trials or the submission of produfetisregulatory approval, impair the Company'sigbtb deliver commercial products on a
timely basis, or otherwise impair the Company's getitive position, which could have a material adeeeffect on the Company.

The Company has qualified a sole source supplitr the FDA for the bulk drug substance used in VI3 and another sole source supplier
for the final drug product. Gilead has establisaestcond source of bulk drug substance supply B8BTNDE, and intends to file for approval
of this supplier with the FDA in 1999. The Compamyticipates including two suppliers of bulk drudpstance and one supplier of drug
product for PREVEON in the NDA it intends to file 1999. PMPA drug substance is manufactured abGigend at a contract manufacturer,
and PMPA drug product for clinical trials is manetizred at two contract manufacturing sites. Indhent that supplies from any of Gilead's
suppliers were interrupted for any reason, the Gomis ability to complete its clinical trials origlits products could be impaired, which
would have a material adverse effect on the Compaing use of alternative suppliers for any of tleenpany's products or products in
development will require FDA approval, which wikkltime consuming.

Gilead has developed in-house capabilities to ggitle and purify nucleotides and oligonucleotidesi believes that it has a base of
proprietary technologies, including patent appiaas and trade secrets, for the manufacture oetbempounds. Gilead has established a
pilot-scale, bulk chemical facility, which operaiascompliance with the FDA's current Good Manutfiaictg Practices ("cGMP"), to meet its
current preclinical and limited early-stage cliniquirements. The Company believes that it hasilbbe able to develop, acquire or
contract for sufficient supply capacity to meetatilitional clinical and commercial manufacturieguirements, although there can be no
assurance that it will be able to do so. Gileadentty has no commercial-scale cGMP manufacturaugjifies for either the production of
bulk drug substance or final drug product, and umoent plans to establish such capacity.

The manufacture of sufficient quantities of newg#rean be an expensive, time-consuming and conppteess and may require the use of
materials with limited availability or require demence on
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sole source suppliers. If the Company is unabieielop manufacturing capabilities internally onteact for large scale manufacturing with
third parties on acceptable terms, the Companylisyaio conduct preclinical studies and clinicahts, and/or meet demand for commercial
products, will be adversely affected. This couldvyant or delay commercial shipment, submissiorroflpcts for regulatory approval and
initiation of new development programs, which wobal/e a material adverse effect on the Company.

The production of the Company's compounds is baspdrt on technology that the Company believesetproprietary. Gilead has licensed
this technology to contract manufacturers to entitden to manufacture compounds for the CompanyreTe@n be no assurance that such
manufacturers will abide by any use limitationsonfidentiality restrictions in licenses with them@pany. In addition, any such manufactt
may develop process technology related to its @rksilead, which could increase the Company'sairele on such manufacturer or require
the Company to obtain a license from such manufectn order to have its products manufacturedveieee. There can be no assurance that
such license, if required, would be available amteacceptable to the Company, if at all.

For certain of its potential products, the Compuaiiliyneed to develop further its production techogies for use on a larger scale in order to
conduct clinical trials and produce such produstscbmmercial sale at an acceptable cost. Therdbeanw assurance that the Company or its
partners will be able to implement any of theseettgyments successfully.

MARKETING AND SALES

In connection with the launch of VISTIDE in 1996/éad established a sales force of antiviral spistsan the United States. This group
currently consists of 26 sales representativegdlaed regional directors who detail physicians pitass, clinics, pharmacies and other
healthcare providers involved in the treatment B9 patients with CMV retinitis. Gilead sells VISIE to wholesalers and specialty
distributors who, in turn, sell the product to hitais, home healthcare companies, pharmacies ded bealthcare providers. Gilead's sales
force is supplemented by a marketing and saletaftapproximately 20 people based at the Compdreégiquarters in Foster City,
California.

The Company anticipates that it will expand itsstirg sales force in order to promote PREVEON &limited States, if that product recei
marketing clearance from the FDA. A larger salesdand additional marketing resources will be mesglto reach the broader market of
healthcare professionals treating patients infeatigid HIV. If any of the Company's other produatsdievelopment for specialty markets
receive marketing clearance in the United States,tbe Company obtains marketing rights to sughr@duct from a third party, Gilead's
current intention would be to market and sell saghroduct directly, supplementing its existing nadifkg and sales staff as appropriate.
Gilead has not established a marketing and safecitg in Europe or any other country outside ef thited States. Pharmacia & Upjohn
exclusive commercial rights to VISTIDE outside theited States, and Roche has exclusive commeiglabkrto GS 4104 on a worldwide
basis. The Company does not currently intend tectly market and sell any product outside of thé&e&éhStates and Europe.

The revenues received by Gilead for its produdbgesit to commercial collaborations, including VI®H outside of the United States and
4104 on a worldwide basis, are dependent to a [@egece on the efforts of third parties. Therelmamo assurance that such efforts will be
successful, that the interests of the Company @nghitners will not be in conflict or that anytbé Company's partners will not terminate
their relationship with the Company. See "CollabweRelationships."

PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

Gilead has a proprietary portfolio of patent rigatsl exclusive licenses to patents and patentcgtigihs related to its products and
technologies. The Company has filed patent appdicatdirected to the compositions of matter, meshaidoreparation and uses of novel
compounds on the commercial market, under researchdevelopment. Patent applications have bded by Gilead which encompass
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compounds that are relevant to many of the tathet€ompany is currently researching, as well herafirgets that may be of interest to
Gilead in the future. Gilead intends to file aduti@l patent applications, when appropriate, redatiivimprovements in its technologies and to
specific products that it develops.

Patents covering cidofovir (the active ingredienViSTIDE) and adefovir dipivoxil, including compitien of matter claims, have been issi

in the United States, Western Europe and othesdigtions. The Company has exclusive licenses fiord parties covering these patents and
other patent applications. See "Collaborative Ralahips--IOCB/REGA." The Company does not havempiftilings covering adefovir
dipivoxil in China or in other certain other Asiaauntries, although it does have an applicatiordjpegnin Japan and is seeking patent
protection in other Asian countries on commeraiairfs of adefovir dipivoxil. Asia is a major marKet hepatitis B therapies, one of the
potential indications for adefovir dipivoxil. Pateron certain of the Company's compounds may isgrey years before marketing approvi
obtained, limiting the ultimate commercial valuetloé product. However, patent term extensionsiftofovir have been applied for or gran

in the United States and a number of European desntompensating in part for delays in obtaimmayketing approval. Similar patent term
extensions may be available for other producteivetbpment.

The Company is the exclusive licensee or holdgrabénts and patent applications relating to methbagphonate derivatives and
neuraminidase inhibitors and their use in the tnesitt and prevention of viral infections. The Compaannot predict whether its patent or
license rights or those of third parties will rédnla significant position in these fields, whatlte patent applications or those of third parties
will be issued, whether its patents or those afitparties will provide significant proprietary pection, or whether they will be dominated,
circumvented or invalidated.

The commercial success of the Company will alseddpn part on not infringing patents or proprigtaghts of others and not breaching the
licenses granted to the Company. There can beswsasce that the Company will be able to obtainenke to any thirgharty technology thi

it may require to conduct its business or thabpifainable, such technology can be licensed asoreble cost. Failure by the Company to
obtain a license to any technology that it may meqio commercialize its technologies or productg/thave a material adverse effect on the
Company. In August 1998, the Company was serveld aviatent infringement lawsuit filed by Chiron @oration ("Chiron") in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Califoia. In the lawsuit, Chiron alleges that Gileadasducting scientific research that infringes
Chiron's patents covering the hepatitis C NS3 jpsgerotein and gene sequences and their useeensg for potential hepatitis C
therapeutics. See "Legal Proceedings."

The patent positions of pharmaceutical, biopharmigca and biotechnology firms, including Gileade @enerally uncertain and involve
complex legal and factual questions. Consequeetlyn though Gilead is currently prosecuting itepaapplications with the United States
and foreign patent offices, the Company does notwkwhether any of its or its licensors' pendinglagagions will result in the issuance of
any patents or, if any patents are issued, whéitiegrwill provide significant proprietary proteatioSince patent applications in the United
States are maintained in secrecy until patentgsaued, and since publication of discoveries insttientific or patent literature tend to lag
behind actual discoveries by several months, Giteawhot be certain that it has rights as the ifingtntor of technologies covered by pending
patent applications or that it was the first te filatent applications for such inventions.

The Company also relies upon unpatented tradetseamd improvements, unpatented know-how and aaingjtechnological innovation to
develop and maintain its competitive position whickeeks to protect, in part, by confidentialireements with its corporate partners,
collaborators, employees, consultants and vendbesxe can be no assurance that these agreememstlk breached, that the Company
would have adequate remedies for any breach, btiteaCompany's trade secrets will not otherwissbee known or be independently
discovered by competitors.
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Gilead's practice is to require its corporate parncollaborators, employees, consultants andorsrid execute a confidentiality agreement
upon the commencement of a relationship with then@any. The agreements provide that all confideirifarmation developed or made
known to an individual during the course of thateinship shall be kept confidential and not diselbto third parties except in specified
circumstances. In the case of employees, the agmsmrovide that all inventions conceived by tidhiidual while employed by the
Company shall be the exclusive property of the CamypThere can be no assurance, however, that géiggsements will provide meaningful
protection for the Company's trade secrets in Hemteof unauthorized use or disclosure of suchrmédion.

COMPETITION

The Company's products and development programsttarnumber of diseases and conditions, includirad infections and cancer. Even if
the Company is successful in developing producteett any of these diseases or conditions, therébe no assurance that any product that
receives marketing clearance will achieve signifiaaommercial acceptance. There are many commigreieilable products for these
diseases, and a large number of companies antlititsis are conducting well-funded research anctldg@ment activities directed at
developing additional treatments for these diseases

Ganciclovir, marketed in intravenous and oral folations by Roche Laboratories and as an ocularantdly Bausch & Lomb Incorporated,
foscarnet, marketed by Astra U.S.A., and formivirslocal injection marketed by CibaVision, arenooercially available for the treatment
of CMV retinitis. These products are directly cortiipee with VISTIDE. Several other potential CMVtheitis therapeutics are being
developed by other companies. A number of therageate currently marketed or are in advanced stafjelinical development for the
treatment of HIV infection and AIDS, including 18gducts currently marketed in the United StategsErproducts represent significant
potential competition for PREVEON and PMPA. Amohg tompanies with significant commercial presendbé AIDS market are Glaxo
Wellcome, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Hoffmann-La Roclgiouron Pharmaceuticals, Merck & Co. and DuPontriha

Glaxo Wellcome, in collaboration with Biota Holdimgimited, is pursuing development of zanamavitearaminidase inhibitor to treat
influenza. This compound has been approved in saaetries and is under review for approval in thétéd States by the FDA. If approved,
zanamavir would represent significant potential petition for GS 4104. In addition, Glaxo Wellconre collaboration with Biochem
Pharma, is pursuing development of lamivudine, @eauside analogue to treat HBV infection. This coumpd was recently approved for
marketing in the United States, China and severeraountries and represents significant potentiaipetition for adefovir dipivoxil for
HBV.

The Company believes that its products and procmdidates have potential competitive advantagesmany of these products, particuli
with regard to dosing convenience and the potefaralesistance development. However, there camb@ssurance that any of the Company's
products or products in development will competecessfully with other available products.

A number of companies are pursuing the developmitechnologies competitive with the Company's aesle programs. These competing
companies include specialized pharmaceutical faintlarge pharmaceutical companies acting eitlmpiendently or together with
biopharmaceutical companies. Furthermore, acadmstitutions, government agencies and other pubiit private organizations conducting
research may seek patent protection and may estatailaborative arrangements for competitive potsland programs.

Gilead anticipates that it will face increased cetfitpn in the future as new products enter thekeiaand advanced technologies become
available. There can be no assurance that exigtducts or new products developed by the Compaoypetitors will not be more
effective, or more effectively marketed and soft@yt any that may be developed by the Company. Ciitimpgoroducts may render Gilead's
technology and products obsolete or noncompetitiia to the Company's recovering research, devadopt or commercialization expenses
incurred with respect to any such products.
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Many of the Company's existing or potential contpesi, particularly large pharmaceutical compartes,e substantially greater financial,
technical and human resources than the Compamgdition, many of these competitors have signifiyagreater experience than the
Company in undertaking research, preclinical swidigd clinical trials of new pharmaceutical produobtaining FDA and other regulatory
approvals, and manufacturing, marketing and se8lingh products. Accordingly, the Company's comgeginay succeed in commercializing
products more rapidly or more effectively than @@mpany, which would have a material adverse effadhe Company.

The Company's competition will be determined int jpgrthe potential indications for which the Comparcompounds are developed and
ultimately approved by regulatory authorities. Eertain of the Company's potential products, aroitgmt competitive factor may be the
timing of market introduction of its products omepetitive products. Accordingly, the relative speéth which Gilead can develop products,
complete the clinical trials and regulatory apptquacesses, and supply commercial quantities@ptioducts to the market are expected to
be important competitive factors. The Company etgtat competition among products approved far gall be based, among other things,
on product efficacy, safety, dosing conveniencajlakility, price, third-party reimbursement andqya position.

The Company's competitive position also depends usaability to attract and retain qualified parsel, obtain patent protection or otherv
develop proprietary products or processes, andeeatificient capital resources for the substamigalod between technological conception
and commercial sales.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The production and marketing of the Company's petsdand its research and development activitiesaogct to regulation for safety,
efficacy and quality by numerous government autlesrin the United States and other countrieshénUnited States, drugs are subject to
rigorous FDA regulation. The Federal Food, Drug @admetic Act, as amended ("FFDCA"), and the regria promulgated thereunder, ¢
other federal and state statutes and regulatiang&rg, among other things the testing, manufactatety, efficacy, labeling, storage, record
keeping, approval, advertising and promotion of@enpany's products. Product development and appvathin this regulatory framewor
and under equivalent regulations in other counttases a number of years and involves the expameddf substantial resources.

The steps required before a pharmaceutical agepbmanarketed in the United States include (i) lmexal laboratory tests, IN VIVO
preclinical studies and formulation studies, (ii¢ submission to the FDA of an investigational meug application ("IND"), which must
become effective before clinical trials commendg,gdequate and well-controlled clinical triats éstablish the safety and efficacy of the
drug, (iv) the submission of an NDA to the FDA, dmiithe FDA approval of the NDA, prior to any corarnial sale or shipment of the drug.
In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each pnot] each drug manufacturing establishment musétistered with, and approved by, the
FDA. Domestic manufacturing establishments, inaigdhird party contract manufacturers producingugdponsor's products, are subject to
periodic inspections by the FDA and must comphjhvaGMP. To supply products for use in the Uniteat&, foreign manufacturing
establishments must comply with cGMP and are stibjegeriodic inspection by the FDA or by regulgtauthorities in certain of such
countries under reciprocal agreements with the FDiNg product and drug substance manufacturindkstenents located in California also
must be licensed by the State of California in climge with local regulatory requirements.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatioprdduct chemistry and formulation, as well as ahishadies to assess the potential safety and
efficacy of the product. Compounds must be fornadatccording to cGMP and preclinical safety tesistrbe conducted by laboratories that
comply with FDA regulations regarding current Gdaboratory Practices ("GLP"). The results of thedtinical tests are
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submitted to the FDA as part of an IND and areewed by the FDA prior to the commencement of céihtdals. Additional pharmacology
and toxicology studies are generally conducted aoeratly with clinical trials.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to healthy volunteers quatients, under the supervision of qualified
principal investigators. Clinical trials are contettin accordance with Good Clinical Practices umaetocols that detail the objectives of the
study, the parameters to be used to monitor safedythe efficacy criteria to be evaluated. Eacliqua must be submitted to the FDA as part
of the IND. Further, each clinical trial must bendocted under the auspices of an independentdtistitl Review Board ("IRB") or Ethics
Committee at the institution at which the studyl wé conducted. The IRB will consider, among otimémgs, ethical factors, the safety of
human subjects and the possible liability of thaitation.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in threegjgential phases, but the phases often overlaphdsél, the initial introduction of the drug i
healthy human subjects, the drug is tested fotysédelverse effects), dosage tolerance, metabotigtrjbution, excretion and
pharmacodynamics (clinical pharmacokinetics andphaology). Phase Il involves studies in a limipadient population to (i) determine the
efficacy of the drug for specific, targeted indioas, (ii) determine dosage tolerance and optimahde and

(iii) identify possible adverse effects and safiésks. When a compound appears to be effectiva@hdve an acceptable safety profile in
Phase Il clinical trials, Phase Il clinical trisdse undertaken to further evaluate and confirmadi efficacy and to further test for safety
within an expanded patient population at geogragllyiclispersed clinical study sites. There can dassurance that Phase |, Phase Il or f
1l clinical trials will be completed successfullyithin any specified time period, if at all, withspect to any of the Company's products
subject to such testing. Furthermore, the CompartgeoFDA may delay or suspend clinical trials iy eime if it is felt that the subjects or
patients are being exposed to an unacceptablehtresit

The results of the preclinical studies and clinic@ls are submitted to the FDA in the form of DA for approval of the marketing and
commercial shipment of the drug. The testing angr@l process is likely to require substantialgiand effort and there can be no assur.
that any approval will be granted on a timely bai§iat all. The FDA may deny an NDA if applicablkgulatory criteria are not satisfied,
require additional testing or information, requsignificant improvements to manufacturing faciktier require extensive post-marketing
testing and surveillance to monitor the safetyficacy of the Company's products if they do n@withe NDA as containing adequate
evidence of the quality, safety and efficacy of dneg.

Notwithstanding the submission of such data, thé& lRiay ultimately decide that the application doessatisfy its regulatory criteria fi
approval. Moreover, if regulatory approval of aglis granted, such approval may entail limitationghe indicated uses for which it may be
marketed. Finally, product approvals may be withdra compliance with regulatory standards is natimained or if problems occur
following initial marketing.

Among the conditions for NDA approval is the regairent that the prospective manufacturer's quatibtrol and manufacturing procedures
conform to cGMP, which must be followed at all tsnén complying with standards set forth in thesgutations, manufacturers (including a
drug sponsor's third- party contract manufactunensdt continue to expend time, money and effothéarea of production and quality
control to ensure full technical compliance.

The FDA has implemented accelerated approval proesdor pharmaceutical products that treat serolife-threatening diseases and
conditions, if those products have the potenti@ddress unmet medical needs. Under the Food arglNdodernization Act of 1997,

effective in February 1998, such products may Istgtated as "fast track" products, and may be agpron the basis of surrogate as well as
clinical endpoints. The FDA will generally reviewDMs for fast track products within six months. Dsfgonsors are generally required to
conduct post-marketing clinical trials of drugstthave been approved under the FDA's accelerajgabegd procedures, in order to
characterize further the drug's safety and
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efficacy profile. The FDA has granted fast trackidaation to PREVEON for the treatment of HIV-intied patients and the Company
believes that certain of its other products in digwment may qualify as fast track products andliggbée for accelerated approval. The
Company cannot predict the ultimate impact, howeokthe FDA's accelerated approval procedurehertiing or likelihood of approval
any of its potential products or those of any cotibge

In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA, @@mpany also is subject to regulation under theupPational Safety and Health Act, the
Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic SubstanCestrol Act, the Resource Conservation and Reco#etyand other federal, state or lo
regulations. The Company's research and developmesives the controlled use of hazardous matergidsmicals, viruses and various
radioactive compounds. Although the Company betidhat its safety procedures for handling and disgpof such materials comply with
the standards prescribed by state and federalatigns, the risk of accidental contamination ouipjfrom these materials cannot be
completely eliminated. In the event of such andemi, the Company could be held liable for sigaificdamages or fines.

In the European Community, human pharmaceuticalymts are also subject to extensive regulation.Himepean Community
Pharmaceutical Directives govern, among other #itlge testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, llaestorage, record keeping, advertising
and promotion of human pharmaceutical productediffe in January 1995, the European Communitytedaegulations providing for a
centralized licensing procedure, which is mandaforycertain kinds of products, as well as a deedined (country by country) procedure. A
license granted under the centralized proceduteares marketing of the product in all of the memstates of the European Community.
Under the decentralized procedure, a license gidntene member state can be extended to additioealber states pursuant to a simplified
application process. In the centralized procedihee EMEA coordinates a scientific review by onerare rapporteurs chosen from among
membership of the Committee for Proprietary Medigadducts ("CPMP"), which represent the medicin@aerities of the member states. T
final approval is granted by a decision of the Cassion or Council of the European Community, basedhe opinion of the CPMP. After
approval under the centralized procedure, pricimdjr@imbursement approvals are generally requireddst countries. VISTIDE was
approved by the European Community under the dergdaprocedure, and the Company anticipates tREVEON and GS 4104 will also |
reviewed under the centralized procedure when miatkauthorization applications for these prodwaesfiled.

PRICING AND REIMBURSEMENT

The business and financial condition of pharmacautind biotechnology companies will continue taffected by the efforts of government
and third-party payors to contain or reduce the oblealth care through various means. For exanpleertain foreign markets pricing or
profitability of prescription pharmaceuticals isbgect to government control. In particular, indiva pricing negotiations are often required in
many countries of the European Community, evepiraval to market the drug under the EMEA's certieal procedure is obtained. In the
United States, there have been, and the Compargctsxhat there will continue to be, a number defal and state proposals to implement
similar government control. In addition, an inciegseemphasis on managed care in the United Stateard will continue to increase the
pressure on pharmaceutical pricing. While the Camgmannot predict whether any such legislativeegutatory proposals will be adopted or
the effect such proposals or managed care effaisthmave on its business, the announcement of seglogals or efforts could have a
material adverse effect on the trading price ofGloenpany's Common Stock, and the adoption of sumhqgsals or efforts could have a
material adverse effect on the Company. Furthehdcaxtent that such proposals or efforts havatenal adverse effect on other
pharmaceutical companies that are prospective catgppartners for the Company, the Company's glvdiestablish a strategic alliance may
be adversely affected. In addition, in both thetehiStates and elsewhere, sales of prescriptiomatuticals are dependent in part on the
availability of reimbursement to the consumer fritnind-party payors, such as government and privesierance plans that mandate rebates or
predetermined discounts from list prices. For
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example, a significant proportion of VISTIDE salesubject to reimbursement by government agenigsslting in significant discounts

from list price and rebate obligations. The Compexgects that PREVEON and several of its otheryetsdin development, particularly for
AIDS indications, will have a similar reimbursemenofile. In addition, third-party payors, as wad patient advocacy organizations, are
increasingly challenging the prices charged for icedgroducts and services. If the Company succiedsnging one or more additional
products to the market, there can be no assurhatéhiese products will be considered cost effedivd that reimbursement will be available
or will be sufficient to allow the Company to sl products on a competitive basis.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of December 31, 1998, Gilead employed 293 peftiiltime, of whom 75 hold Ph.D. and/or M.D. degseand 46 hold other advanced
degrees. Approximately 182 employees are engagess@arch and development activities and 111 aptogred in finance, sales and
marketing, corporate development, legal and gersghalinistrative positions. Gilead believes thah#intains good relations with its
employees.

SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY BOARD

The Company's Scientific Advisory Board is composgthdividuals with expertise in fields relatedttee Company's programs. This Board
holds formal meetings with scientists from the Campat least once a year. In some cases, individeaibers of this Board consult and n
informally with the Company on a more frequent baBiach of the members of this Board has a congudjreement with the Company.

The members of Gilead's Scientific Advisory Board as follows:

DANIEL L. AZARNOFF, M.D., has been a member of GitEs Scientific Advisory Board since January 199@ headed G.D. Searle & Co.'s
research and development from 1979 through 198bpeaviously was Professor of Medicine and Pharteggoat the University of Kansas.
Dr. Azarnoff is a member of the Institute of Medieiof the National Academy of Sciences.

JACQUELINE K. BARTON, PH.D., has been a member dé&l's Scientific Advisory Board since January 9.98he is a Professor of
Chemistry at the California Institute of Technolggg€al Tech"), a member of the American AcademyAds and Sciences and a recipient of
a MacArthur Foundation Fellowship.

PAUL BERG, PH.D., has been a member of Gilead'srfific Advisory Board since April 1998 and alsowss on the Company's Board of
Directors. Dr. Berg is currently Cahill ProfessorGancer Research in the Department of Biochemadt8tanford University School of
Medicine, where he has been on the faculty sin&®1de received the Nobel Prize for Chemistry iBQ.9

PETER B. DERVAN, PH.D., has been a member of Gle&dientific Advisory Board since September 1387 is Bren Professor of
Chemistry at Cal Tech and a member of the Natigiwaldlemy of Sciences and the American Academy of and Sciences.

MICHAEL J. GAIT, PH.D., has been a member of Gilsdscientific Advisory Board since July 1989. HaiSenior Staff Scientist with the
Medical Research Council in Cambridge, England.

RALPH F. HIRSCHMANN, PH.D., has been a member dé&id's Scientific Advisory Board since October 1986 is a Research Professor
of Chemistry at the University of Pennsylvania.\isasly, Dr. Hirschmann was employed by Merck & Quost recently as Senior Vice
President of Basic Research and Chemistry. DrcHir&nn is a member of the American Academy of Anid Sciences.

LAWRENCE L.-K. LEUNG, M.D., has been a member ofdad's Scientific Advisory Board since Septembéd4l®He is Chief of the
Division of Hematology at the Stanford Universityeical School. Dr. Leung was previously DirectoCafrdiovascular Biology and
Medicine at Gilead.
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RISK FACTORS

GILEAD IS DEVELOPING DRUGS TO TREAT AIDS AND AIDS-RLATED CONDITIONS, AND THEREFORE CAN BE
ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY CHANGES IN THE REGULATORY ANBCOMMERCIAL ENVIRONMENT FOR AIDS THERAPIES.

Several of Gilead's products and products in dgretnt address AIDS or AIDS-related conditions. Bha®oducts include VISTIDE

(cidofovir injection) for CMV retinitis, PREVEON ¢Befovir dipivoxil) for HIV and AIDS and PMPA for M and AIDS. The medical,
regulatory and commercial environment for AIDS #pes changes quickly and often in ways that Gilsashable to accurately predict.
Gilead develops its AIDS products based upon cupelicy and the current marketplace for AIDS thea, as well as its prediction of futt
policy and the future marketplace for these thempbilead's business is subject to substantiabesause these policies and markets change
quickly and unpredictably and in ways that couldéha material adverse impact on its ability to obtagulatory approval and commercial
acceptance of its AIDS-related products.

GILEAD'S OPERATIONS DEPEND ON COMPLIANCE WITH COMPL EX GOVERNMENTAL
REGULATIONS.

The products that Gilead develops and sells muapbeoved and are subject to extensive regulatyahdé FDA and comparable agencies in
other countries. Gilead has plans to file an apgitte with the FDA for marketing approval of PREVE@ the second quarter of 1999. In
addition, Hoffmann-a Roche, Gilead's corporate partner for the dgrant and commercialization of GS 4104, expectda@n applicatior
with the FDA for marketing approval of GS 4104 ttedt influenza in the second quarter of 1999. @ileaticipates conducting a variety of
clinical trials and filing for marketing approval additional products over the next several ye@inese products may fail to receive marketing
approval on a timely basis, or at all. In addititrese products may receive marketing approvatgthae limitations on the uses of the
product. These failures, delays or limitationswa#l as other regulatory changes, actions and Ise@aluld delay commercialization of any
products and adversely affect Gilead's resultpefations.

In addition, even after Gilead's products are maikethe products and their manufacturers are sutgecontinual review. Later discovery of
previously unknown problems with Gilead's produmtsnanufacturers may result in restrictions on sudduct or manufacturer, including
withdrawal of the product from the market.

RESULTS OF CLINICAL TRIALS AND APPROVAL OF PRODUCTS ARE UNCERTAIN, AND
GILEAD MAY BE DELAYED IN OR PROHIBITED FROM SELLING ITS PRODUCTS.

Gilead has a number of potential products that hesehed the development stage. These potentidlipi®include PREVEON, GS 4104,
adefovir dipivoxil for HBV and PMPA. Gilead will beequired to demonstrate the safety and effects®péthese and any other products it
develops in each intended use through extensiv@ipigl studies and clinical trials in order totaim regulatory approval of those products.
The results from preclinical and early clinicaldies do not always accurately predict results tier)darge-scale clinical trials for several
reasons including:

- preliminary results may not be indicative of effeeness;
- further clinical trials may not achieve the dediresult; and

- further clinical trials may reveal unduly harmgitle effects or may show the drugs to be lesstffethan other drugs or delivery systems
for the desired indications.

Even successfully completed large-scale clinidgaldmay not result in marketable products for saiweasons, including:
- the potential products are not shown to be safeedfective;

- regulatory authorities disagree with the resoft&ilead's studies and trials;

- required regulatory approvals are not obtained;

- the potential products are too difficult to deyginto commercially viable products; or
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- the potential products do not obtain market atzoege.

A number of companies in Gilead's industry havéesatl significant setbacks in advanced clinical$rdespite promising results in earlier
trials. In the end, Gilead may be unable to devebapketable products.

The rate of completion of Gilead's clinical trialdl depend on the rate of patient enroliment. Eheill be substantial competition to enroll
patients in Gilead's clinical trials, particulafty AIDS and HBV therapies. This competition hatagled Gilead's clinical trials in the past. In
addition, recent improvements in existing AIDS &8V drug therapy may make it more difficult for &id to enroll patients in its clinical
trials as the patient population may choose toleimrglinical trials sponsored by other companieshoose alternative therapies. Delays in
planned patient enroliment can result in increatmdlopment costs and delays in regulatory appsoval

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS MAY NOT YIELD MARKETABL E PRODUCTS.

Gilead's future business success will depend aabitiy to successfully develop and obtain regutatapproval to market new pharmaceut
products. Development of a product requires sulistaachnical, financial and human resources ef/ére product is not successfully
completed. Gilead's potential products may appehetpromising at various stages of developmentayito reach the market for a number
of reasons, including:

- lack of efficacy or unacceptable toxicity duripgeclinical studies or clinical trials;

- failure to receive necessary regulatory apprqvals

- failure to achieve market acceptance;

- existence of proprietary rights of third partiasd

- inability to develop manufacturing methods thia efficient, cost-effective and capable of meestringent regulatory standards.

In addition, due to uncertainties that are pathefdevelopment process, Gilead may underestirhatedsts associated with the development
of a potential product. Delays or unanticipatedéases in costs of development or failure to olegulatory approval or market acceptance
for Gilead's products could adversely affect Gilsagberating results.

GILEAD DEPENDS ON RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHER COMPANSEFOR RESEARCH FUNDING, CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT,
SALES AND MARKETING PERFORMANCE AND REVENUES. FAILRE TO MAINTAIN THESE RELATIONSHIPS WOULD
NEGATIVELY IMPACT GILEAD'S BUSINESS.

Gilead has established a number of significantbaltative relationships with major pharmaceuticahpanies, including Pharmacia &
Upjohn, Hoffmann-La Roche and Bausch & Lomb. Gildagends to a large degree on these partners fi@si¢éarch funding, clinical
development and/or sales and marketing performan@aldition, Gilead has historically relied onlablborative relationships for a significant
portion of its revenues and expects this to be#se in future periods. Reliance or collaboratalationships poses a number of risks,
including:

- Gilead cannot control whether its corporate padrwill devote sufficient resources to its progsaon products;
- disputes may arise in the future with respet¢hé&ownership of rights to technology developedwitrporate partners;

- disagreements with corporate partners could teattlays in or termination of the research, dgwelent or commercialization of product
candidates, or result in litigation or arbitration;

- contracts with Gilead's corporate partners méydarovide significant protection or may fail be effectively enforced if one of these
partners fails to perform;
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- corporate partners have considerable discreti@teicting whether to pursue the development ofaatdjtional products and may pursue
alternative technologies or products either onrtbein or in collaboration with Gilead's competitoasd

- corporate partners with marketing rights may et devote fewer resources to the marketing lea@'s products than they do to products
of their own development.

Given these risks, there is a great deal of unicéyteegarding the success of Gilead's currentfahde collaborative efforts. If these efforts
fail, Gilead's product development or commercidglaaof new products could be delayed or revenamfexisting products could decline.

Gilead may seek future collaborative relationshifit corporate partners to fund some of its redearal development expenses and to
develop and commercialize some of its potentiatlpots. For example, the Company is in discussidtisseveral potential corporate partr
about collaborative development and commerciabratif adefovir dipivoxil for HBV, particularly in sian territories. Further, we anticipate
that the Company's receipt of revenues from cotigie agreements will continue to be affected kigting agreements, as well as by the
timing of drug development programs of its corpenaartners. Gilead may not be able to negotiatepdable collaborative arrangements in
the future, and any arrangements it does negatiatenot be successful. If the Company fails tol#ista additional collaborative

relationships, it will be required to undertakeer@sh, development, marketing and manufacturiritsgfroposed products at its own expense.

GILEAD EXPECTS TO OPERATE AT A LOSS FOR THE FORESEE ABLE FUTURE AND MAY NEVER
BE PROFITABLE.

Gilead has never been profitable on a full-yearsb@asd may never become profitable. At Decembed 898, Gilead's accumulated deficit
was approximately $218.5 million. Gilead's lossagehresulted principally from expenses associaiédits research and development
programs and, to a lesser extent, from sales, geaed administrative expenses. Gilead's reveruudate have been generated primarily from
collaborative arrangements rather than productmeee. Gilead's current product revenues are deswkdly from sales of VISTIDE in the
United States and a royalty arrangement for VISTHakes with Pharmacia & Upjohn outside of the UhiBates. VISTIDE has limited sales
potential relative to many pharmaceutical products.

GILEAD'S EXISTING PRODUCT AND PRODUCTS UNDER DEVELO PMENT MAY NOT BE ACCEPTED
BY PHYSICIANS, INSURERS AND PATIENTS.

Many of Gilead's products in development, if apgeb¥or marketing, have no established market. Hilgyaof these products to achieve and
sustain market acceptance will depend on the reaatbscope of regulatory approvals and whetheobgovernment authorities and
managed care organizations will adequately reimbpadients who use these products.

In addition, Gilead needs to convince the mediodl patient advocacy community of:
- the effectiveness of these products in treatingake;

- the safety of these products when administergrhtients; and

- the advantages of these products over competitivducts.

Physicians, patients, patient advocates, payorstenchedical community in general may not acceptuse any products that Gilead may
develop. If Gilead's products are not acceptedegslts of operations will suffer.

COMPETITIVE PRODUCTS FROM OTHER COMPANIES COULD SIG NIFICANTLY REDUCE THE
MARKET ACCEPTANCE OF GILEAD'S PRODUCTS.

Gilead's products and development programs targatrer of diseases and conditions, including wr@ctions and cancer. There are many
commercially available products for these diseaSestain of these products are well establishedaffies and have generated substantial
sales. In addition, a large number of companiesimstitutions are conducting well-funded reseanat development activities
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directed at developing treatments for these disededucts currently on the market and those uthelezlopment by Gilead's competitors
could make its technology and products obsoletsoacompetitive. Gilead expects that competitiontfier treatment of these diseases will
increase in the future as new products enter thhkehand advanced technologies become availablea&Gwill also be competing to license
or acquire technology from other companies.

Most of Gilead's competitors and potential competihave substantially greater resources than @ilHaose resources include superior
product development capabilities and financiakstfic, manufacturing, managerial and human resesirThese competitors may achieve
superior patent protection, obtain key technolaggeive regulatory approval or achieve product centimlization earlier than Gilead.

GILEAD'S MARKETING STAFF COMPETES WITH THE MARKETIN G ORGANIZATIONS OF LARGE
PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES.

Gilead's products compete, and the products Giteagdevelop are likely to compete, with productsthier companies that currently have
extensive and well-funded marketing and sales ojp@sa Because these companies are capable ofidgwignificantly greater resources to
their marketing efforts, Gilead's marketing or saorts may not compete successfully againsetfwets of these other companies.

PHARMACEUTICAL PRICING AND REIMBURSEMENT PRESSURES MAY REDUCE PROFITABILITY.

Successful commercialization of Gilead's produetgethds, in part, on the availability of governmeatal third-party payor reimbursement
for the cost of such products and related treatsa&gimbursement is generally provided by goverrirhealth administration authorities,
private health insurers and other organizationse@ument authorities and thigghrty payors increasingly are challenging the poicemedical
products and services, particularly for innovatiesv products and therapies. This has resultedier@average sales prices. For example, a
majority of VISTIDE sales is subject to reimbursernley government agencies, resulting in signifiadiatounts from list price and rebate
obligations. Gilead expects that several of itddpats in development, particularly for AIDS indieets, if they receive regulatory approval,
will have a similar reimbursement profile. Eveméfmbursement is available, reimbursement policiag adversely affect Gilead's ability to
sell its products on a profitable basis.

In addition, in many international markets, goveemts control the prices of prescription pharmacaisi In these markets, once marketing
approval is received, pricing negotiation can takether six to 12 months or longer. Product salitesmpts to gain market share or
introductory pricing programs of Gilead's compettoould require Gilead to lower its prices in #esuntries, which could adversely affect
its results of operations.

GILEAD MAY NOT BE ABLE TO OBTAIN EFFECTIVE PATENTSTO PROTECT ITS TECHNOLOGIES FROM USE BY
COMPETITORS, AND PATENTS OF OTHER COMPANIES COULIERUIRE GILEAD TO STOP USING OR PAY FOR THE USE OF
REQUIRED TECHNOLOGY.

Gilead's success will depend to a significant degreits ability to:
- obtain patents and licenses to patent rights;

- preserve trade secrets; and

- operate without infringing on the proprietaryhig of others.

Gilead has rights to United States and foreignedsuatents and has filed and will continue tofig¢ent applications in the United States and
abroad relating to its technologies. There islg fiswever, that patents may not issue from arthede applications or that the patents will
not be sufficient to protect Gilead's technologgtddt applications in the United States are confideuntil a patent is granted. As a result,
Gilead would not know if its competitors filed patepplications for technology covered by its pegdapplications. Gilead also can not be
certain that it was the first to invent the tectogyl that is the subject of its patent applicatiddesmpetitors may have filed patent applications
or received patents and may obtain additional psi@mnd proprietary rights that block or competéhwvBilead's patents.
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Gilead does not have patent filings covering adefdipivoxil in China or in certain other Asian aoties, although it does have an applice
pending in Japan. Asia is a major market for héipai therapies, one of the potential indicatiomsddefovir dipivoxil. Gilead may obtain
patents for certain products many years before atisuds approval is obtained for those products. Bsegatents have a limited life, which
may begin to run prior to commercial sale, the caruial value of the product may be limited.

Gilead's competitors may file patent applicatioogering its technology. If so, Gilead may have &otigipate in interference proceedings or
litigation to determine the right to a patent. g#ttion and interference proceedings are expensiae i successful. In August 1998, the
Company was served with a patent infringement laviided by Chiron Corporation alleging that Giléadesearch infringes Chiron's patents
covering the hepatitis C protein and gene sequesnogsheir use in screening for potential hepafittherapeutics.

Gilead's success depends in large part on itgyatilioperate without infringing upon the patent®tier proprietary rights of third parties. If
Gilead infringes patents of others, it may be préee from commercializing products or may be resgiito obtain licenses from these third
parties. Gilead cannot be certain that it wouldbke to obtain alternative technologies or any ireguicense. Even if Gilead were to obtain
such technologies or licenses, it cannot be cetitaitithe terms would be reasonable. If Gilead failobtain such licenses or alternative
technologies, it may be unable to develop somd! of &s products.

In addition, Gilead uses significant unpatentegpeiary technology and relies on unpatented tsmieets and proprietary know-how to
protect certain aspects of its production and dbelinologies. Gilead's trade secrets may becomrkor independently discovered by its
competitors.

UNCERTAINTY OF SUPPLY MAY AFFECT GILEAD'S ABILITY T O PRODUCE AND SELL ITS
PRODUCTS.

Gilead generally relies on third parties for thenmfacture of bulk drug substance and final druglpod for clinical and commercial purposes,
including for VISTIDE, adefovir dipivoxil, PMPA anGS 4104. Gilead depends on these third partipsrorm their obligations effectively
and on a timely basis. If these third partiestiaiberform as required, Gilead's clinical trialssabmission of products for regulatory approval
may be delayed. These delays could impair Gilestllgy to deliver commercial products on a timelgsis and could impair its competitive
position.

Many of the materials Gilead utilizes in its op&as are made at only one facility. A shutdown iy af these facilities due to technical,
regulatory or other problems, resulting in an intption in supply of these materials, could havadwerse impact on Gilead's financial
results. For example, Gilead has qualified only smgplier with the FDA for the bulk drug substansed in VISTIDE and one different
supplier for the final drug product. Gilead ha®astablished a second source of bulk drug sulestumply for VISTIDE but has not yet
qualified this source with the FDA and cannot bease that the FDA will approve this second soulecause the suppliers of key
components and materials must be named in the Neny Bpplication filed with the FDA for a producigsificant delays can occur if the
qualification of a new supplier is required. If plips from Gilead's suppliers were interrupteddoy reason, Gilead could be unable to ship
VISTIDE or any of its products in development.

GILEAD HAS LIMITED EXPERIENCE MANUFACTURING PRODUCT S AND COULD BE ADVERSELY
AFFECTED IF IT FAILS TO DEVELOP MANUFACTURING CAPAC ITY.

For some of Gilead's potential products, Gilead mékd to develop further its production technadsgior use on a larger scale in order to
conduct clinical trials and produce such produstscbmmercial sale at an acceptable cost. Gileadatabe certain that it will be able to
implement any of these developments successfully.
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The manufacturing process for pharmaceutical prisdgdighly regulated, and regulators may shutrdavanufacturing facilities that they
believe do not comply with regulations. The FDAsrent Good Manufacturing Practices are extenggelations governing manufacturing
processes, stability testing, record-keeping aralityustandards. Similar, but not identical, regiaias are in effect in other countries.

PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS MAY INCREASE COSTS AND DEC REASE PROFITS.

Testing, manufacturing, marketing and use of VISHI&nd Gilead's products in development involve sutiml risk of product liability
claims. These claims may be made directly by comssnihealthcare providers, pharmaceutical compamiethers. Although Gilead
maintains product liability insurance, a singledaret liability claim could exceed its coverage lispiand multiple claims are possible. If that
happens, the insurance coverage Gilead has madyeraslequate. A successful product liability clainexcess of Gilead's coverage could
require Gilead to pay substantial amounts. Thidccadversely affect Gilead's results of operatidvisteover, the amount and scope of any
coverage may be inadequate to protect Gilead ievkat of a successful product liability claim.aadition, in the future such insurance may
not be renewed at an acceptable cost or at all.

GILEAD'S USE OF HAZARDOUS MATERIAL EXPOSES IT TO PO TENTIAL LIABILITIES.

Gilead's research and development involves theated use of hazardous materials, chemicals, @sw@d various radioactive compounds.
Although Gilead believes that its safety proceddioerandling and disposing of such materials cgmyth the standards prescribed by state
and federal regulations, Gilead cannot complettygieate the risk of accidental contamination quiy from these materials. In the event of
such an accident, Gilead could be held liable igmiicant damages or fines.

YEAR 2000 ISSUES MAY NOT SUCCESSFULLY BE ADDRESSED.

Gilead is implementing a Year 2000 project desigioealddress the issue of computer software anda@aedcorrectly processing dates
through and beyond the Year 2000. Due to the uaicgytinherent in the Year 2000 problem, howeueeré can be no assurance that Year
2000 failures will not have a material impact ote@d's operations, financial results or financ@idition. In addition, Gilead cannot predict
whether its critical third-party suppliers and mesis partners will achieve Year 2000 complianceyhmther the failure of any third party to
do so would have a material effect on Gilead'srirgs.

24



ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Gilead's administrative offices and research lalooies are located in Foster City, California. Tb@mpany leases approximately 163,200
square feet of space in seven adjacent buildings.|§ases on this space expire March 31, 2006th@n@ompany has an option to renew the
leases for two additional five-year periods. TherPany believes that it will need to expand itsifaes in the future to support any
significant growth in its operations. Gilead arites it will be able to expand its facilities isamby locations. There can be no assurance,
however, that such space will be available on fablar terms, if at all.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In August 1998, the Company was served with a patérngement lawsuit filed by Chiron Corporationthe U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of California. In the lawsuit, €bn alleges that Gilead is conducting scientiisearch that infringes Chiron's pate
covering the hepatitis C protein and gene sequesnogsheir use in screening for potential hepa@ittherapeutics. Gilead has taken the
position that its research activities do not inferthe Chiron patents and believes that the lawsliihot have a material impact on Gilead's
business, operating results or financial condition.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITI ES HOLDERS
Not Applicable.
PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RE LATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Gilead common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Staatkd® under the symbol "GILD." The following tatdets forth for the periods indicat
the high and low prices per share of the Compayismon stock on The Nasdaqg Stock Market. Thesegpripresent quotations among
dealers without adjustments for retail mark-upstkydowns or commissions, and may not represenegprid actual transactions.

1997 CLOSING HIGH CLOSING LOW
First Quarter........ccccoeeeveeevveeecveeeens 341/ 4% 22718
Second Quarter 321/ 8% 215/8
Third Quarter..........cccceceveeeeeens 46 1/ 8% 24 1/4
Fourth Quarter..........ccoeeveeeeveeceiieeeennes 447/ 8% 32 1/4
1998

First Quarter..........ccocvevvveeveeeveeecneenne. 42 $ 355/8
Second Quarter 431/ 4% 315/8
Third Quarter..........cccceceveeeeens 303/ 8% 18 1/4
Fourth Quarter..........ccoeeveeevveeeeiieeeinns 41 1/ 16 $ 18 3/4

As of February 26, 1999, there were approximat8ly gtockholders of record. No dividends have begd pn the common stock since the
Company's inception, and the Company does notipate&paying any dividends in the foreseeable &itur
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

We derived this information from Gilead's auditethficial statements for 1994 through 1998. Thisrimfation is only a summary, and you
should read it in conjunction with Gilead's histatifinancial statements and related notes and ltEmant's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations cioeth elsewhere herein, and the annual and quarepbyrts and other information on file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Semdt7 and 8.

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

NINE MONTHS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, ENDED Y EAR ENDED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT DECEMBER 31, MARCH 31,
OF OPERATIONS DATA: 1998 1997 1996 1995 (1) 1995
Revenues:

Product sales, Net.........ccocceeveveeennnne $ 6,074 $ 11,735 $ 8,477 $ -- $ -

Contract revenue......... 24,198 27,413 24,910 2,685 4,922

Royalty revenue, net... 2,298 889 33 14 -
Total revenues..........cccoocvvevevncneneenne 32,570 40,037 33,420 2,699 4,922
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales.......coocveeeeiiiiieeenn, 594 1,167 910 - -

Research and development....................... 75,298 59,162 41,881 25,670 30,360

Selling, general and administrative............ 31,003 25,472 26,692 9,036 9,669
Total costs and eXpenses...........cccueeeeeueees 106,895 85,801 69,483 34,706 40,029
Loss from operations...............ccceeuvnnnne (74,325) (45,764) (36,063) (32,007) (35,107)
Interest income, Net.........ccoccvvvveennnnen. 18,250 17,771 14,331 4,592 3,833
NEt 10SS....oiiiiiiiiieiiie e $ (56,075) $ (27,993) $ (21,732) $ (27,415) $ (31,274)
Basic and diluted loss per common share.......... $ (185 % (095)% (0.78) $ (1.29) $ (1.65)
Common shares used to calculate basic and diluted

loss per common share............ccccceueeee. 30,363 29,326 27,786 21,274 18,971

DECEMBER 31,
- MARCH 31,

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA: 1998 1997 1996 1995 (1) 1995
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investments.........ccceeeveeiiee e $ 279,939 $ 322,298 $ 295,963 $ 155,659 $ 89,146
Working capital........cccocooeeiiieninens 256,560 306,867 284,154 145,539 80,190
Total @SSetS.......oevvvveiiiveeriiieiiiiees 302,860 352,069 310,673 166,659 102,395
Non-current portion of long-term debt.......... 563 1,331 2,914 3,482 5,454
Accumulated deficit..........cccocoeeiiens (218,554) (162,479) (134,486) (112,754) (85,339)
Total stockholders' equity (2)................. 270,547 317,347 291,660 151,499 86,056

(1) In October 1995, Gilead changed its fiscal yevad from March 31 to December 31, effective with hine months ended December 31,
1995.

(2) No dividends have been declared or paid ona@itecommon stock.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
OVERVIEW

Since its inception in June 1987, Gilead has del/tite substantial portion of its resources todtearch and development programs. In June
1996, the FDA granted marketing clearance of VIH for the treatment of CMV retinitis in patientstivAIDS. Since that time, the
Company has independently marketed VISTIDE in théed States with an antiviral specialty salesdaod has entered into a collaboration
agreement with Pharmacia & Upjohn to market VISTIREIl countries outside the United States.

The Company began to incur significant expensedingl to commercialization of VISTIDE and other guutial product candidates in 1996.

With the exception of the second quarter of 199Y the third quarter of 1996, when the Company ehsignificant one-time fees related to
collaborations, the Company has incurred losse®sta inception. Gilead expects to continue taifosses for at least an additional year,

due primarily to its research and development gy, including preclinical studies, clinical trialsd manufacturing, as well as marketing
and sales efforts in support of VISTIDE and otheteptial products.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS

This Report contains forward-looking statementatieg to clinical and regulatory developments, natirlg and sales matters, future expense
levels, financial results and Year 2000 mattergsEhstatements involve inherent risks and uncé&egaimhe Company's actual financial and
operating results may differ significantly from #eodiscussed in the forward-looking statementstofathat might cause such a difference
include, but are not limited to, the risks summedibelow and described in more detail under "Rattdis" on pages 19 to 24 of this Report.
In particular, factors that could result in a mitiedifference include, but are not limited to, skearelating to the ongoing development and
commercialization of the Company's potential phamodical products and, in the case of Year 200Qarsgtthe ability to identify and correct
all relevant computer code and the success of riainefforts implemented by third-party suppliersldusiness partners.

The successful development and commercializatidghefCompany's products will require substantial angoing efforts at the forefront of
the life sciences industry. The Company is purspirgglinical or clinical development of a numbepodduct candidates. Even if these
product candidates appear promising during varstages of development, they may not reach the meoka number of reasons. Such
reasons include the possibilities that the potéptiaducts will be found ineffective or unduly toxduring preclinical or clinical trials, fail to
receive necessary regulatory approvals, be difficumanufacture on a large scale, be uneconontaabrket or be precluded from
commercialization by either proprietary rights ompeting products of others.

As a company in an industry undergoing rapid chatimeCompany faces significant challenges andrisicluding the risks inherent in its
research and development programs, uncertaintiestaining and enforcing patents, the lengthy, agpe and uncertain regulatory approval
process, intense competition from pharmaceuticdlaotechnology companies, increasing pressurehannpaceutical pricing from payors,
patients and government agencies and uncertaaggxiated with the market acceptance of and $itteanarket for VISTIDE or any of the
Company's products in development.

The Company expects that its financial results gathtinue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter #rat such fluctuations may be substantial.
There can be no assurance that the Company witksstully develop, commercialize, manufacture aadket additional products, nor can
there be assurance that the
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Company will either achieve or sustain profitaliliAs of December 31, 1998, the Company's accumdidéficit was approximately $218.6
million.

As a result of the proposed acquisition of NeXsscribed below, Gilead's business will be sulipetditional risks related to NeXstar's
business. Stockholders and potential investorsértompany should carefully consider these riskeyaluating the Company and should be
aware that the realization of any of these riskdadbave a dramatic and negative impact on the Gorylp operating results, financial
condition and stock price. In addition, the forwdmdking statements included in this Report retat&ilead as a stand-alone business, and dc
not take into account the potential impact of theppsed acquisition of NeXstar.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
REVENUES

The Company had total revenues of $32.6 millior).84nillion and $33.4 million for the years endeed@mber 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively. Total revenues include revenues fnetrproduct sales, contracts, including researdndawelopment ("R&D") collaborations,
and net royalties.

Net product sales revenue was $6.1 million, $11illfom, and $8.5 million for 1998, 1997, and 19%6éspectively. All of the Company
product sales revenue relates to VISTIDE, whichGbenpany began to sell in mid-1996. As expecte&TNDE sales declined in 1998,
primarily due to a decline in the incidence of CVafinitis as a result of more effective HIV theregi The 38% increase in net product sales
revenue in 1997 as compared to 1996 is due tcatttaat 1997 results represent a full year ofssaldile 1996 revenue reflects
approximately six months of sales. VISTIDE prodsa&les revenue is expected to continue to be modest.

Net royalty revenue was $2.3 million in 1998 and$illion in 1997, and was derived from two sow.d@uring 1998 and 1997, respectiv
the Company earned $1.7 million and $0.7 milliomef royalties from Pharmacia & Upjohn on sale¥ISTIDE outside of the United
States. This amount increased primarily becausauh®er of countries in which Pharmacia & Upjohitssie product expanded in 1998 as
compared to 1997. The Company expects that rogdhien Pharmacia & Upjohn's sales of VISTIDE witintinue to increase during 1999 as
a result of recognizing a full year of sales inreager number of countries. The Company also redd0.6 million and $0.2 million in 1998
and 1997, respectively, of royalty revenue from iRotabs for co-promoting Roferon in the United &dor the treatment of chronic
hepatitis C virus infection. This qaromotion agreement with Roche Labs concludedeaetid of 1998. While the Company expects to re:
transition payments under this agreement in 199&h amounts are not expected to be significantaRpyevenue is recognized as income
when received, which is generally in the quartiofeing that in which the corresponding sales ocdire Company did not earn significant
royalty revenue before 1997.

Contract revenue was $24.2 million, $27.4 millioxd&24.9 million in 1998, 1997, and 1996, respe&tyivThe most significant source of
contract revenue in each of these three yearesdatthe development of GS 4104 under an R&D loolt@ion agreement between the
Company and Roche. GS 4104 is an orally adminidteoenpound to treat and prevent viral influenzaumans. During 1998, 1997 and
1996, the Company recorded approximately $16.4anil$14.2 million and $11.4 million, respectivebf,contract revenue under this
agreement with Roche. The $16.4 million recordedngul 998 represents reimbursed R&D expenses ahddes $5.2 million attributable to
R&D expenses incurred in the fourth quarter of 139 lich were subject to Roche's approval as of Beg 31, 1997. Such expenses were
approved for reimbursement and recognized as revieni998. During 1997 and 1996, the Company reezegras contract revenue R&D
reimbursements of $8.2 million and $1.1 millionspectively. Also during 1997 and 1996, the Compamapgnized milestone payments of
$6.0 million and a license fee of $10.3 millionspectively. Gilead is entitled to additional mitas¢ payments of up to $34.0 million upon
achieving certain developmental and regulatory stolees. R&D reimbursements under the Roche
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agreement are expected to be significantly lowdr9@9 as compared both to 1998 and 1997. The regaments will approximate actual
related R&D costs the Company incurs.

Contract revenue for each year in the three-yeaogended December 31, 1998 also includes reinebuest of research expenses under the
Company's collaborative R&D agreement with GlaXatesl to the Company's antisense program ($1.8mith 1998 and $3.0 million in

both 1997 and 1996). In June 1998, the agreemehth@funding for the program were terminated, ltegyin reduced revenue in 1998 as
compared to 1997 and 1996.

In 1998, Gilead and Isis entered into an agreemedé¢r which Gilead sold Isis the holdings of itisanse patent estate, including patents
patent applications covering antisense chemistdyaanisense drug delivery systems. Under the tefitfee agreement, Isis is required to pay
Gilead a total of $6.0 million in four installmentEhe first $2.0 million was paid in December 1988d the remaining $4.0 million is payable
in three additional payments (one payment per yea®99, 2000 and 2001). The total sale price o® $Gillion is included in contract reven

in 1998.

During 1997, Gilead recognized a $10.0 million miitene payment under its collaborative agreemeiht Ritarmacia & Upjohn following the
marketing authorization for VISTIDE in the Europdanion, which is the only milestone payment prodder under that agreement. The
Company also recognized as revenue a $10.0 miiiense fee from Pharmacia & Upjohn in 1996, tharythe agreement went into effect.

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Cost of product sales was $0.6 million, $1.2 millend $0.9 million for the years ended Decembel 988, 1997 and 1996, respectively, and
resulted from sales of VISTIDE. The Company's deafj cost of sales corresponds to the decreasetipraduct sales.

The Company's R&D expenses were $75.3 milliontierytear ended December 31, 1998, compared to $iBién for the year ended
December 31, 1997. This 27% increase is primatitjbaitable to costs associated with the ongoingesef PREVEON Phase 11l clinical

trials, as well as the expanded access prograpafients with HIV infection, which commenced in floeirth quarter of 1997. PREVEON is

an investigational reverse transcriptase inhilitarently being studied to treat HIV. Increased R&kpenses also reflect costs associated
with an additional product candidate that is adimgto later stage clinical trials (adefovir dipkil for the treatment of chronic hepatitis B
infection). R&D expenses of $41.9 million in 199&ieased by 41% in 1997. The increase in 1997 mpaxed to 1996 is primarily
attributable to costs associated with GS 4104adirtrials, as well as PREVEON clinical trials ahd commencement of the expanded acces:
program for patients with HIV. The Company expétstfR&D expenses to continue to increase signitigan 1999 over 1998 amounts,
reflecting anticipated increased expenses relatetirtical trials for several product candidatesvadl as related increases in staffing and
manufacturing.

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expesisvere $31.0 million in 1998 compared to $25.9ionilin 1997, an increase of 22%.
This increase represents costs incurred to expaled,snarketing and operational capacity in ardaitdgm of the potential commercial launch
of PREVEON and to support a greater level of R&Bhdites. SG&A expenses were $26.7 million durir@®s, which is 5% greater than
SG&A expense levels in 1997. The Company launcteefirst product, VISTIDE, in June 1996, and theeleof expenses in that year is
largely attributable to costs incurred to estabiighCompany's United States marketing and safesbildies. As expected, these expenses
were somewhat lower in 1997. The Company's selfjegeral and administrative expenses are expeziedrease substantially during 1999,
as Gilead continues to expand its sales and magketipacity and increase support activities foR&D efforts.
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NET INTEREST INCOME

The Company had net interest income of $18.3 mill®l7.8 million and $14.3 million in 1998, 1997datB96, respectively. The increased
level of net interest income in 1998 as comparetP@y is primarily due to increased returns onitrestment portfolio in 1998. Net interest
income in 1997 exceeded the 1996 amount mainlytaltiee full-year benefit in 1997 of the investmehthe proceeds from the Company's
public offering of common stock in 1996 and a $4Mi0ion equity investment by Pharmacia & Upjohnli#97. The Company expects net
interest income to decline substantially in 1998 thuincreased spending levels and the correspgmidioreasing balances of invested cash.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term invessnatialed $279.9 million at December 31, 1998, carag to $322.3 million at December
31, 1997. This $42.4 million decrease is primatiilie to the net use of cash to fund operations.ifigntly lesser amounts of cash were also
used to purchase property and equipment and reglatyolligations. Such uses of cash were offseaihlpy cash received from exercises of
employee stock options. During 1999, the Compameets that its balances of cash and cash equigad@ut short-term investments will
continue to decline substantially as R&D, SG&A aaghital equipment spending levels increase.

The Company believes that its existing capital ueses, supplemented by net product sales, comgraehue and net royalty revenue, will be
adequate to satisfy its capital needs for the &mable future. The Company's future capital requires will depend on many factors,
including the progress of the Company's R&D effatie scope and results of preclinical studiesdinital trials, the cost, timing and
outcomes of regulatory reviews, the rate of tecbgichl advances, determinations as to the comnigrofantial of the Company's products
under development, the commercial performance 8&TWDE and any of the Company's products in devekprthat receive marketing
approval, levels of administrative and legal exjsnshe status of competitive products, the esfailent of manufacturing capacity or third-
party manufacturing arrangements, the expansi@ales and marketing capabilities, possible geograptpansion and the establishment of
additional collaborative relationships with othengpanies.

The Company may in the future require additionalding, which could be in the form of proceeds frequity or debt financings or additior
collaborative agreements with corporate partnéudh funding is required, there can be no asseréimt it will be available on favorable
terms, if at all.

IMPACT OF YEAR 2000

The Company is implementing a Year 2000 projeeiddress the issue of computer software and hardwearectly processing dates through
and beyond the Year 2000. The goal of this pragetd ensure that all computer software and harevlzat the Company uses or relies upt
retired, replaced or made Year 2000 compliant leefogcember 31, 1999.

There are three primary aspects to the Companys @00 project:

computers and other equipment, information systeofisvare and third-party suppliers and businesspes. Gilead is addressing each of
these areas on a phased basis, as follows: 1) tauytae internal user community at Gilead; 2) asetthg an inventory of all software and
hardware; 3) evaluating all software and hardwareyar 2000 compliance; 4) implementing modifioas, retirement or replacement of
software or hardware, prioritized based on an amalyf importance to Gilead's business; 5) testimg) validating all modified or replaced

software and hardware; and 6) designing and imphéimge contingency and business continuation plangifitical systems.

To date, Gilead has completed the education arehiovy phases of the project, and estimates tH4t &software and hardware has
completed the evaluation phase. Implementationafifications or
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replacements and testing and validation are ondsdéeand the Company anticipates that, for busheeitical systems, all of these activities
will be complete by the end of 1999.

The Company has prioritized the implementation phadirst address software or hardware that affpodduct manufacturing, quality cont
and safety, employee safety, revenues or cashvessérwo systems that have been identified acalito Gilead's operations are software
programs from JD Edwards, Inc. ("JDE") and Beckr@aniter, Inc. ("Beckman"). The JDE system is aregirise-wide program that tracks
financial information, processes sales orders aoditors purchasing and manufacturing activitiestiby 1998, the Company upgraded the
JDE system to a Year 2000 compliant version, wiigiresently operational. The Beckman system mmnéad records laboratory data. The
Beckman system upgrades are approximately 80% @tenahd are scheduled to be finished during thenskguarter of 1999.

To date, the Company has initiated evaluationsafenthan 90% of its critical third-party suppliensd business partners. The Company
anticipates completing these evaluations by thersgquarter of 1999, on a prioritized basis. Resperio Gilead's inquiries regarding Year
2000 compliance in many cases have been generalarinding. To date, substantially all respondérdgcate that their Year 2000
compliance efforts are progressing on schedulett@tdheir computer systems either are or wiliear 2000-compliant at the appropriate
time. A significant majority of these respondents presently in the final testing phase of theiniv2000 compliance projects, and many of
them indicate that they are concurrently develogiogtingency plans.

Among the most critical third parties the Compagljess on are the financial institutions that man&gead's cash and investments of
approximately $280 million, the Company's stock$far agent, contract manufacturers, contract resemd laboratory organizations and
FDA. The Company intends to continue monitoring eamdluating these third parties to the extent prakthrough the end of 1999.

Gilead anticipates that the total cost of its Y2@00 compliance efforts will not be material tofiteancial condition or results of operations.
The current estimate for external costs of totahgliance efforts is approximately $2.1 million,which $1.1 million has been incurred to
date. Of the amount incurred to date, $0.8 milhas been expensed and the remainder has beerizegitihe $1.0 million of remaining
costs includes $0.8 million of capitalizable cogtsmarily computer hardware and software, and $@illon of costs to be charged to
expense, primarily consulting fees. These extesosis are included in Gilead's operating budgel8®9. However, this estimate does not
include any costs to Gilead that may be associatttdthe failure of any third-party supplier or linsss partner to achieve Year 2000
compliance.

The Company is also developing a series of conticg@lans for certain of its critical applicatioffhese plans involve, among other actions,
manual solutions, increased inventories and matlgtaffing strategies. These contingency plangapected to be finalized and ready for
implementation, if necessary, before the end 08199

The Company's Year 2000 project is designed tafgigntly reduce uncertainty and risk arising freime Year 2000 problem. The Company
believes that the implementation actions descréd@l/e reduce the potential for disruption of operest or significant financial impact. Due
to the uncertainty inherent in the Year 2000 prohlbowever, there can be no assurance that Ye&rfalOres will not have a material
impact on the Company's operations, financial tesar financial condition. In particular, the Comgacannot predict with any certainty
whether its critical thirgearty suppliers and business partners will achiée@ 2000 compliance, or whether the failure of amgh third part
to do so would have a material effect on the Comgausiness.
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MARKET RISK

The Company's portfolio of short-term investmem&sates an exposure to interest rate risk. Chamgeserest rate levels affect the fair value
of these financial instruments. A sensitivity arsidyto measure potential losses in the fair vafugilead's short-term investment portfolio
arising from a change in interest rates indicdtas @ one percentage point increase in interest rauld have decreased the fair value of the
short-term investment portfolio by approximately Billion at December 31, 1998. A one percentagatpglecrease in interest rates at
December 31, 1998 would have increased the faireval the short-term investment portfolio by $2.iflion.

PROPOSED MERGER AGREEMENT

On March 1, 1999, Gilead and NeXstar announcediaitiée merger agreement providing for the acqigsi by Gilead of all the outstanding
common stock of NeXstar. The merger is structused tax-free, stock-for-stock transaction. The Canypintends to account for this merger
under the pooling-of-interests method. NeXstardiqeartered in Boulder, Colorado, is engaged irdtheovery, development, manufacture
and commercialization of products to treat seriang life-threatening ilinesses. In addition toBtsaulder headquarters, NeXstar maintains
research, development and manufacturing faciliie€san Dimas, California, and marketing subsidavi®ridwide. Under the terms of the
merger agreement, NeXstar stockholders will recbeteveen 0.3786 and 0.5000 of a share of Gileadrammstock for each share of NeXs
common stock. The exact exchange ratio will berd@teed based on the trading range of Gilead comshock over a specified period prior
to completion of the merger. The merger is sulifecertain conditions, including approval of thecitholders of Gilead and NeXstar. The
transaction is expected to be completed in mid-1999

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The financial statements required by this itemsateforth beginning at page 44 of this report.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

IDENTIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors in alphabetical orded, @rtain information about them as of March 1999, are set forth below:

NAME AGE POSITION WITH GILEAD/PRINCIPAL OCCUP ATION

Paul Berg........cccoocvveevnneenns "-72 Cahill Professor, Department of Biochemistry, Stan fordUnlversny
School of Medicine

Etienne F. Davignon.................. 66 Chairman, Societe Generale de Belgique

James M. Denny, Sr.(1)(2)............ 66 Managing Director, William Blair Capital Partners \%

John C. Martin...........cccceeeee 47 President and Chief Executive Officer

Gordon E. Moore(1)(2).....ccccvve... 70 Chairman Emeritus, Intel Corporation

Donald H. Rumsfeld(1)(2)............. 66 Chairman of the Gilead Board of Directors

George P. Shultz(2)........cc....... 78 Distinguished Fellow, Hoover Institution, Stanford University

(1) Member of the compensation committee
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(2) Member of the audit committee

Dr. Berg joined the Gilead board of directors inrihf@998. Dr. Berg is currently Cahill Professor@ancer Research in the Department of
Biochemistry at Stanford University School of Mddi, where he has been on the faculty since 196%as served as Director of the
Stanford University Beckman Center for Moleculad @&enetic Medicine since its founding in 1985. Berg is a director of Affymetrix, Inc.
and Transgene, Inc. He is the founder and a sficeatvisor to Schering-Plough's DNAX Researchitast. Dr. Berg also serves as a
member of Gilead's Scientific Advisory Board. DerB received the Nobel Prize for Chemistry in 1980.

Mr. Davignon joined the Gilead board of directarsSeptember 1990. He has served as the Chairnfaocadte Generale de Belgique, a
diversified financial and industrial company, sid@85. Mr. Davignon served as the European Comiyiar@ommissioner for Industry and
International Markets from 1977 to 1981, and asE@és Vice President for Research, Industry anddyneolicies from 1981 to 1984. Mr.
Davignon is a director of Fiat S.A., Compagnie de& Minorco S.A. and a number of other Europeanpamies.

Mr. Denny joined the Gilead board of directorsamdary 1996. Mr. Denny is a Managing Director ofl\fin Blair Capital Partners V and
VI, private equity funds. Mr. Denny is a retiredc€iChairman of Sears, Roebuck & Co. As Vice Chairrha had responsibility for Allstate
Insurance Corporation, Coldwell Banker Real EsGiteup and the corporate financial organizationvieiesly, he served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial and Planning Offafe®.D. Searle & Co., as well as Chairman of Pelddalth Services, Inc., a Searle-
affiliated company. He is a director of Allstaterforation, Astra A.B., GATX Corporation and ChoicéR, Inc. and is a Chairman of
Northwestern Memorial Hospite

Dr. Martin is Gilead's President and Chief Execritdfficer. Dr. Martin joined Gilead in October 1986 Vice President for Research and
Development, was appointed Chief Operating Offinedctober 1995, and was appointed President atef Ekecutive Officer and elected
the Gilead board of directors in April 1996. Fro884 to 1990 he was employed at Bristol-Myers Squébjpharmaceutical company, where
he was Director of Antiviral Chemistry. Dr. Martivas employed at Syntex Corporation, a pharmacéuicapany, from 1978 to 1984. Dr.
Martin is the canventor of ganciclovir, a pharmaceutical now ufmdreatment of cytomegalovirus infection. He isrently the President «
the International Society for Antiviral Research. Dlartin received his Ph.D. in organic chemistign the University of Chicago.

Dr. Moore joined the Gilead board of directors@mdary 1996, and served as a member of GileadiséassAdvisory Board from July 1991
until January 1996. Dr. Moore is a fminder and Chairman Emeritus of Intel Corporatighere he previously served as Chairman, Pres
and Chief Executive Officer. He also served as @meof Research and Development for the FaircBéchiconductor Division of Fairchild
Camera and Instrument Corporation. Dr. Moore igectbr of Transamerica Corporation and is Chairmftihe Board of Trustees at the
California Institute of Technology. He received tiiational Medal of Technology in 1990.

Mr. Rumsfeld joined the Gilead board of directarsluly 1988 and was elected Chairman of the Baaddnuary 1997. Mr. Rumsfeld has
been in private business since August 1993. Heedemg the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer efi€al Instrument Corporation, a
diversified electronics company, from 1990 to 1993 was Chief Executive Officer of G.D. Searle & G pharmaceutical company, from
1977 to 1985. Mr. Rumsfeld formerly served as Biessial Envoy to the Middle East, U.S. Secretaripefense, White House Chief of Staff,
U.S. Ambassador to NATO and a U.S. CongressmanRMmsfeld is a director of ABB AB, Gulfstream Aepase Corp., RAND
Corporation and Tribune Company. In 1977, Mr. Rwefisfvas awarded the Medal of Freedom, the natlaglsest civilian award.
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Dr. Shultz joined the Gilead board of directordamuary 1996. Dr. Shultz currently serves as Qjsighed Fellow at the Hoover Institution
and as a director of the Bechtel Group, Inc., Audtm Communications and Gulfstream Aerospace CotiporeDr. Shultz served as U.S.
Secretary of State from 1982 to 1989 and earliereseas Secretary of Labor, Director of the Offidédvlanagement and Budget and Secretary
of the Treasury. Previously, he served as Deaheofaraduate School of Business at the Universigto€ago and as President of the Bechtel
Group, Inc. In 1989, Dr. Shultz was awarded the dled Freedom, the nation's highest civilian honor.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The names of Gilead's executive officers who ateatsm directors of Gilead and certain informatédoout each of them are set forth below:

Jeffrey W. Bird, age 38, is Gilead's Senior Vicedtdent, Business Operations. Dr. Bird joined GileaSeptember 1988 and worked as
Director of Scientific Programs and Research Sigenntil March 1990. After completing his medickgree, he returned to Gilead in
December 1991 as Director of Corporate Developnimttame Vice President of Corporate Developmektarch 1995 and was appointed
Senior Vice President, Business Operations in Jaril#08, at which time he became an executive éffibr. Bird received his M.D. and
Ph.D. degrees at Stanford University Medical School

Norbert W. Bischofberger, age 43, is Gilead's Se¥iioe President, Research. Dr. Bischofberger i@dead in 1990 as Director of Orgal
Chemistry, became Vice President of Organic CheynistMarch 1993 and was named Vice President aeRech in August 1995. Dr.
Bischofberger was appointed Senior Vice Presideasearch in January 1998, at which time he becanesecutive officer. Prior to joining
Gilead, Dr. Bischofberger worked in research atéhech, Inc. from 1986 to 1990, most recently asddger of DNA Synthesis. He received
his B.S. in chemistry at the University of Innsbtuic Austria, and his Ph.D. in Organic Chemistryte Eidgennossische Technische
Hochschule (ETH) in Zurich, Switzerland.

Howard S. Jaffe, age 41, is Gilead's Senior Viasident, Drug Development. Dr. Jaffe joined GileaBecember 1991 as Vice President,
Clinical Affairs, became Vice President and Chieddital Officer in March 1995 and became Senior \Reesident, Drug Development in
August 1996. Dr. Jaffe is an assistant clinicafggsor and attending physician at the Universit€alifornia, San Francisco. From 1986 until
joining Gilead, he was employed by Genentech, most recently as Director of Clinical Research @gtbkine Project Team Leader. [
Jaffe received his M.D. from the Yale Universityh®ol of Medicine and performed his residency adldwieship training at the University of
California, San Francisco.

Mark L. Perry, age 43, is Gilead's Senior Vice Riest, Chief Financial Officer and General Cound#l. Perry joined Gilead in July 1994 as
its Vice President and General Counsel and becaref Einancial Officer in May 1996. Mr. Perry wagpinted Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel in Jagul998. He has also served as Corporate Secssitengy May 1994. From 1981 to 1994,
Mr. Perry was with Cooley Godward LLP in San Franoiand Palo Alto, California. Cooley Godward seras Gilead's primary outside
counsel. Mr. Perry was an associate with Cooleyv@wod from 1981 to 1987, and a partner from 198¥a®4. Mr. Perry received his J.D.
from the University of California, Davis and is &mber of the California bar.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act ofAl@Rjuires Gilead's directors and executive officand persons who own more than ten
percent of a registered class of Gilead's equityriies, to file with the SEC initial reports ofvaership and reports of changes in ownership
of common stock and other equity securities of &lleExecutive officers, directors and greater tiemnpercent stockholders are required by
SEC regulation to furnish Gilead with copies ofSdiction 16(a) forms they file.
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To Gilead's knowledge, based solely on a revieth@fcopies of such reports furnished to Gileadwaritien representations that no other
reports were required, during 1998, all Sectiora)l@({ing requirements applicable to its executdfficers, directors and greater than ten
percent beneficial owners were met.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Each non-employee director of Gilead receives afed,000 for each meeting attended. In the yaded December 31, 1998, the total
compensation paid to current non-employee direatas $19,000. The members of the Gilead boardrettiirs are also eligible for
reimbursement for their expenses incurred in cotmreevith attendance at Gilead board of directoestings in accordance with Gilead's

policy.

Each non-employee director of Gilead also recestesk option grants under the Directors' OptiomPTehe Directors' Option Plan provides
for non-discretionary grants of nonstatutory stopkons to non-employee directors of Gilead, omatomatic basis pursuant to a pre-
approved schedule. Options granted under the Di€cDption Plan are at prices not less than fairket value on the date of grant, become
exercisable over a period of five years in equalrtprly installments at the rate of 5% per quaatet expire after ten years. Such vesting is
conditioned upon continuous service as a non-eneglayrector of or consultant to Gilead. The exergisce of options granted must be paid
in cash or shares of common stock of Gilead atithe the option is exercised.

Each non-employee director was granted as of Jarjdr996, or will be granted on the date he orisliiest elected to be a non-employee
director, an option to purchase 25,000 shares le@icommon stock, the initial grant. Thereaftereach anniversary date of a nemployet
director's initial grant, such non-employee direstoall automatically be granted an option to paseh5,000 shares of Gilead common stock,
the annual grant. A non-employee director whose #the Chairperson of the Gilead board of directbedl be granted an option to purchase
an additional 20,000 shares of Gilead common shabt¢ke time of his or her initial grant or latee&ion as Chairperson, and an additional
4,000 shares of Gilead common stock at the tinfésobr her annual grant. Each non-employee diregtar also serves on a standing
committee of the Gilead board of directors shalbaatically be granted an option to purchase aitiaddl 1,000 shares of Gilead common
stock at the time of his or her initial grant, amdadditional 1,000 shares of Gilead common stbtkeatime of his or her annual grant, for
each such committee. Each nemployee director who serves on a standing comenéttel who is also the Chairperson of that commstied!
automatically be granted an option to purchasedditianal 2,000 shares of Gilead common stock etithe of his or her annual grant. No
other options may be granted under the Directgosiod Plan.

During 1998, Gilead granted options covering 66,908res (net of cancellations) to its current nampleyee directors, at exercise prices
ranging from $25.00 to $38.25 per share. Each ngiianted had an exercise price equal to fair ntarkee on the date of grant.

As of February 26, 1999, options to purchase d t6ta05,000 shares of Gilead common stock werstantling under the Directors' Option
Plan.
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COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
SUMMARY OF COMPENSATION

The following table shows, for the years ended Demer 31, 1998, 1997, and 1996, certain compensatianded or paid to, or earned by,
Gilead's Chief Executive Officer and its four otheost highly compensated executive officers at Ddasr 31, 1998 (the "named executive
officers"):

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

LONG TERM
CcO MPENSATION

ANNUAL COMPENSATION - mmmeeeeeee

FISCAL YEAR  —----mmmmmmmmmmeeeeee S ECURITIES

ENDED SALARY U NDERLYING

NAME AND PRINCIPAL POSITION DECEMBER 31,  ($)(1) BONUS ($) OPT IONS (#)(2)
John C. Martin........cccocvviviiiiiieneeeeeen, . 1998 $ 354,375 $ 150,000 65,000
President and Chief Executive 1997 $ 326,667 $ 150,000 75,000
Officer 1996 $ 298,333 $ 110,000 75,000
Jeffrey W. Bird........ccceevveeeeiniiiiiiiiinnns . 1998 $ 222,750 $ 100,000 65,000
Senior Vice President, 1997 $ 187,917 $ 100,000 40,000
Business Operations 1996 $ 150,417 $ 30,000 20,000
Norbert W. Bischofberger.............c.c.ccce... . 1998 $ 222,752 $ 115,000 55,000
Senior Vice President, 1997 $ 199,583 $ 75,000 40,000
Research 1996 $ 179,167 $ 50,000 30,000
Howard S. Jaffe.......ccccccvivieeieinnnnnnnnnn. . 1998 $ 278,461 $ 100,000 35,000
Senior Vice President, 1997 $ 269,167 $ 100,000 40,000
Drug Development 1996 $ 250,417 $ 100,000 65,000
Mark L. PEITY.....cccoveeiieeiiiceiree e . 1998 $ 253,125 $ 100,000 35,000
Senior Vice President, 1997 $ 244,458 $ 75,000 40,000
Chief Financial Officer and 1996 $ 238,000 $ 60,000 20,000

General Counsel

(1) Includes amounts earned but deferred at thetieheof the named executive officer pursuant tee&i's 401(k) employee savings and
retirement plan. To date, Gilead has not made aatghing contributions under such plan.

(2) Gilead has not granted any stock appreciatgits, has not made any long-term incentive plaarda/and did not make any restricted
stock grants to the named executive officers duttiegperiods covered.

STOCK OPTION GRANTS AND EXERCISES

As of February 26, 1999, options to purchase d t§td,921,698 shares of common stock had beertepglaand remained outstanding under
the 1991 Stock Option Plan, and options to purcB4®e530 shares of common stock remained avaifabigrant thereunder. In addition, as
of such date, options to purchase a total of 190sBares of common stock were outstanding undea@# 1987 Incentive Stock Option Plan
and 1987 Supplemental Stock Option Plan and put$aamrtain option grants made outside of Gileagton plans.

Gilead grants both incentive stock options and tain®ry stock options to its executive officerglanthe 1991 Stock Option Plan. The
following tables show, for the year ended Decen®ier1998, the
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last fiscal year, certain information regardingiops$ granted to, exercised by, and held at yeabgride named executive officers:

OPTION GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR

INDIVIDUAL GRANTS POTENTIAL REALIZABLE
--------------- VA LUE AT ASSUMED ANNUAL
NUMBER OF RATES OF STOCK PRICE
SECURITIES % OF TOTAL OPTIONS EXERCISE OR AP PRECIATION FOR OPTION
UNDERLYING GRANTED TO BASE TERM(3)
OPTIONS GRANTED EMPLOYEES IN FISCAL PRICE EXPIRATION -- = e
NAME # (1) YEAR(2) ($/SH.)  DATE 5% ($) 10% ($)
John C. Martin...........ccc.ee.. 65,000 6.12% $ 22.875 07/22/08 $ 935,096 $ 2,369,633
Jeffrey W. Bird..........coee.n. 30,000 2.82% $ 38.000 01/21/08 $ 716,946 $ 1,816,818
35,000 3.29% $ 22.875 07/22/08 $ 503,513 $ 1,275,956
Norbert W. Bischofberger.......... 20,000 1.88% $ 38.000 01/21/08 $ 477,964 $ 1,211,212
35,000 3.29% $ 22.875 07/22/08 $ 503,513 $ 1,275,956
Howard S. Jaffe................... 35,000 3.29% $ 22.875 07/22/08 $ 503,513 $ 1,275,956
Mark L. Perry.......cccceeunen.. 35,000 3.29% $ 22.875 07/22/08 $ 503,513 $ 1,275,956

(1) The terms of such options, which include boitentive and nonstatutory stock options, are ctardisvith those of options granted to
other employees under Gilead's 1991 Stock Optian.Alhe options vest at the rate of 20% after @a# gnd 5% per quarter thereafter du
the optionee's employment. Subject to certain ei@eq the maximum term of options granted underlf®91 Stock Option Plan is ten years.

(2) Based on options to purchase 1,062,400 sha@sead common stock granted to employees, inclydixecutive officers, for the year
ended December 31, 1998.

(3) The potential realizable value is based ort¢h@ of the option at the date of the grant (10gkedt is calculated by assuming that the s
price on the date of grant appreciates at the atelicannual rate, compounded annually for theestegim, and that the option is exercised and
sold on the last day of the option term for therapiated stock price. Actual gains, if any, areadeent on the actual future performance of
Gilead common stock and the timing of exercise sald transactions by the holder. There can be suwrasce that the amounts reflected in
this table, or that any gains, will be achieved.

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN LAST FISCAL YEAR AND FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION

VALUES
NUMBER OF SECURITIES ~ VALUE OF UNEXERCISED
UNDERLYING UNEXERCISED  IN-THE -MONEY OPTIONS
SHARES VALUE  OPTIONS AT 12/31/98 (#) AT1 2/31/98 ($)
ACQUIRED ON =N 4 = o
NAME EXERCISE (#) ($)(1) EXERCISABLE/UNEXERCISABLE(2) EXERCISA BLE/UNEXERCISABLE(3)
John C. Martin..........cc.o........ 25,165 $ 540,196 288,325/208,000 $ 7,50 9,989/$3,378,875
Jeffery W. Bird.........ccoo....... 15,832 $ 587,141 59,097/120,600 $ 1,63 1,730/$1,815,612
Norbert W. Bischofberger............ 2,000 $ 44,500 91,599/112,600 $ 2,37 4,795/$1,776,613
Howard S. Jaffe.........c.......... 42,735 $ 886,837 76,065/132,200 $ 1,74 5,509/$2,715,038
Mark L. Permy.......ccoocivvenn, 15,000 $ 397,500 74,000/121,000 $ 2,11 5,875/$1,991,937

(1) Represents the fair market value of Gilead comstock on the date of exercise (based on théngleales price reported on the Nasdaq
Stock Market or the actual sales price if the sharere sold by the optionee) less the exercise paied does not necessarily indicate that the
shares were sold by the optionee.

(2) Includes both in-the-money and out-of-the-moaptions.
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(3) Fair market value of Gilead common stock atéeber 31, 1998 ($41.0625, based on the closing pailee reported on the Nasdaq Stock
Market), less the exercise price.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain informatimgarding the ownership of Gilead common stockfdbruary 26, 1999 by: (1) each
current director and nominee for director; (2) eaamed executive officer (as defined above in 11df) (3) all executive officers and
directors of Gilead as a group; and (4) all thasevkn by Gilead to be beneficial owners of more tfiaam percent of Gilead common stock
and series B preferred stock on a combined basis.

BENEFICIA L OWNERSHIP(1)
NUMBER OF PERCENT OF
BENEFICIAL OWNER SHARES TOTAL
Wellington Management Company, LLP(2) ....ccccccce. s 4,287,860 13.4%
75 State Street
Boston, MA 02109
T. Rowe Price ASSOCIAtES(3) uvvvvrrvreeieneeeees e ————— 3,164,300 9.9%
100 East Pratt Street
Baltimore, MD 21202
Capital Research and Management Company(4) ........ . e 2,895,000 9.0%
333 South Hope Street
Los Angeles, CA 90025
Capital Guardian Trust Company and Capital Internat ional S.A.(5) eoveeeiiiiiis 1,895,000 5.9%
11100 Santa Monica Boulevard, Suite 1500
Los Angeles, CA 90025
JOhN C. MArtiN(B)...cccooviciiiiiiiiiieeeees e ————— 349,045 1.1%
Donald H. RUMSTEIA(7)..cccocviiiiiiiiiieeiccies e 166,232 *
Norbert W. Bischofberger(8).....cccccvvvvvcccceeees e 112,153 *
Howard S. Jaffe(9)..ccccuiiiiiiiieceiceces e 96,213 *
= U I =T ¢ Y/ 10 ) N 94,548 *
Jeffrey W. Bird(11) oo s 79,043 *
James M. DenNY, SI.(12).cccccciiiieiineeaaas e ————— 53,524 *
Etienne F. DavigNON(13)..cccccuveiiniiiineeniceee e 53,330 *
GOordon E. MOOIE(14).cuviiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeees 47,531 *
George P. SHURZ(15)...cccciiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeees e 31,400 *
Paul BErg(Lh)....ccoooiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeaeeeeeeeee e 5,200 *
All executive officers and directors as a group (11 Persons)(17)....cccceeeenureeeaninnns 1,088,219 3.4%

* Less than one percent

(1) This table is based upon information suppligd3ilead's officers, directors and principal stogklers and Schedules 13D and 13G filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Urddssrwise indicated in the footnotes to this tabled subject to community property
laws where applicable, each of the stockholdersatbim this table has sole voting and investmentgyomith respect to the shares indicate
beneficially owned. Applicable percentages are thase

38



30,884,298 shares of Gilead common stock and I7883hares of Gilead series B preferred stock autisng on February 26, 1999, for a
total of 32,018,084 outstanding shares, adjustedqsgred by rules promulgated by the SEC.

(2) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Commisshn January 24, 1999. The Wellington Managementjgany, LLP is a registered
investment adviser. The Wellington Management Camwpa its capacity as investment adviser is consida "beneficial owner" in the
aggregate of 4,287,860 shares of Gilead commoik.sBuch shares are owned by numerous investmeigaaylclients of The Wellington
Management Company, none of which is known to hreeficial ownership of more than 5% of that clafssecurities of Gilead. As of
December 31, 1998 The Wellington Management Compandyshared voting power with respect to 1,770&280es and shared dispositive
power with respect to 4,228,860 shares.

(3) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Commissn February 12, 1999. T. Rowe Price Associdtes, in its capacity as a registered
investment adviser is considered a "beneficial aivimethe aggregate of 3,164,300 shares of Gileadroon stock. Such shares are owned by
various individual and institutional investors fehich T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. serves assinvent adviser with power to direct
investments and/or sole power to vote the shamsplrposes of the reporting requirements of theues and Exchange Act of 1934, T.
Rowe Price Associates is deemed to be a benefisiaér of such shares; however, T. Rowe Price Aasexiexpressly disclaims such
beneficial ownership.

(4) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Commissin February 8, 1999. The Capital Research anthlyEment Company is a registered
investment adviser that manages The American FGndsp of mutual funds. The Capital Research anddgament Company in its capacity
as investment adviser is considered a "benefigiaes” in the aggregate of 2,895,000 shares of @itmemmon stock. Such shares are owned
by accounts under the discretionary investment gemant of The Capital Research and Management Gompa of December 31, 1998,
The Capital Research and Management Company hadlisplositive power with respect to 2,895,000 share

(5) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Commissn February 8, 1999. The Capital Guardian T@ashpany is a California state-
chartered trust company that acts as investmenagaario large institutional accounts (primarily giem funds). Capital International S.A.
provides investment management services to institat accounts. The Capital Guardian Trust CompartyCapital International S.A., in
their capacity as investment managers, are corglddeneficial owners" in the aggregate of 1,868 88ares of Gilead common stock. Such
shares are owned by accounts under the discrefiamagstment management of The Capital GuardiastT@@mpany and Capital
International S.A. As of December 31, 1998, Thei@a@uardian Trust Company had sole voting powih wespect to 1,662,000 shares and
sole dispositive power with respect to 1,865,008ret and Capital International S.A. had sole vating dispositive power with respect to
30,000 shares.

(6) Includes 318,325 shares subject to stock opteercisable within 60 days.

(7) Includes 39,889 shares held in a grantor aptiist for which Mr. Rumsfeld is the donor andstee and 37,000 shares subject to stock
options exercisable within 60 days.

(8) Includes 12,534 shares held in trust for whichBischofberger and his wife are trustees an8®®Bshares subject to stock options
exercisable within 60 days.

(9) Includes 13,548 shares held in trust for whichJaffe and his wife are trustees and 82,665eshsuibject to stock options exercisable
within 60 days.

(10) Includes 500 shares held in account for MrryPeminor child for which Mr. Perry is the custad and 86,000 shares subject to stock
options exercisable within 60 days.

(11) Includes 72,597 shares subject to stock optexercisable within 60 days.
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(12) Includes 19,998 shares held by a partnershighich Mr. Denny is a managing partner, as to Whitr. Denny disclaims beneficial
ownership. Also includes 7,426 shares held in gastnip with Mr. Denny's wife and 26,100 sharesecttjo stock options exercisable within
60 days.

(13) Includes 53,330 shares subject to stock opteercisable within 60 days.

(14) Includes 30,866 shares subject to stock optexercisable within 60 days.

(15) Includes 21,400 shares subject to stock opteercisable within 60 days.

(16) Includes 5,200 shares subject to stock opgmxescisable within 60 days.

(17) Includes 830,082 shares subject to stock nptaxercisable within 60 days. See notes (6) thrgu§) above.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS

In November 1990, Gilead entered into a Relocdtioan Agreement with John C. Martin, currently GdeaPresident and Chief Executive
Officer. The principal amount of the loan is $1@MQAvith a term of ten years. The loan is non-irgebearing and 100% of the principal
amount will be forgiven on a pro rata basis ovargesix through ten as long as Dr. Martin is stifiployed by Gilead. In the event Dr. Martin
ceases to be employed by Gilead, the loan becarmterest-bearing and due within ninety days. Tha Isasecured by a deed of trust on Dr.
Martin's residence. As of December 31, 1998, $4D\08s outstanding.

In October 1994, Gilead entered into a Loan Agregmath Mark L. Perry, currently Gilead's SeniorcéiPresident, Chief Financial Officer
and General Counsel. The principal amount of the Is $100,000 with a term of ten years. The Isamn-interest bearing and 50% of the
principal amount will be forgiven on a pro rataikasver years six through ten as long as Mr. Piersfill employed by Gilead. In the event
Mr. Perry ceases to be employed by Gilead, the bemomes interest-bearing and due within sixty dakis loan is secured by a deed of trust
on Mr. Perry's residence. As of December 31, 1888¢entire loan amount was outstanding.

During 1998, Gilead paid an aggregate of $2,551tt3F?harma Research Corporation, a contract réseaganization. James M. Denny, a
member of Gilead's board of directors, is a margadirector of William Blair Capital, LLC, which mages William Blair Capital Fund V,
which owns a controlling interest (45% of the vgtstock) in Pharma Research Corporation. Mr. Desmpt involved in the supervision of
the operations of Pharma Research CorporationnizhBesearch Corporation provided services to Gipea to William Blair Capital's
investment.

Gilead has entered into indemnity agreements wilithf &s officers (including the named executivificers) and directors which provide,
among other things, that Gilead will indemnify swdficer or director, under the circumstances anthe extent provided for therein, for
expenses, damages, judgments, fines and settlementay be required to pay in actions or proceedivigich he is or may be made a party
by reason of his position as a director, officeothrer agent of Gilead, and otherwise to the et permitted under Delaware law and
Gilead's by-laws.
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PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(A) THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE FILED AS PART OF TIS FORM 10-K:

(1) All schedules are omitted because they are@atptired or the required information is includedhe financial statements or notes thereto.

(2) Exhibits
EXHIBIT EXHIBIT
FOOTNOTE NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

1) 3.1 Amended and Restated Ce

2) 3.2 Amended and Restated By

3) 3.3 Certificate of Amendmen

4.1 Reference is made to Ex

4) 4.2 Rights Agreement, dated
with exhibits.

4) 4.3 Form of letter sent to

3) 10.1 Form of Indemnity Agree
executive officers.

(5) 10.3 Form of Employee Propri
Registrant and certain

2) 10.4 Registrant's 1987 Incen

2) 10.5 Registrant's 1987 Suppl

(13) 10.7 Registrant's Employee S

(13) 10.8 Registrant's 1991 Stock

2) 10.15 Form of Non-Qualified S

2) 10.16 Relocation Loan Agreeme
Rosemary Martin.

2) 10.17 Vintage Park Research a
Associates dated March
Foster City, California

) 10.21 Letter Agreement, dated
exhibits with certain ¢

(6) 10.23 Vintage Park Research a
Associates dated Septem
California with related

(@) 10.26 Amendment Agreement, da
license agreements and

(@) 10.28 Loan Agreement among Re
confidential informatio

(8) 10.29 License and Supply agre
1994 with certain confi

4) 10.30 Loan Agreement, dated a

Pena.
10.33 Registrant's 1995 Non-E
related form of stock o

rtificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

-laws of the Registrant.

t of Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

hibits 3.1, 3.2, and 3.3.

as of November 21, 1994, between Registrant and Fi

Gilead Sciences, Inc. stockholders, dated December
ment entered into between the Registrant and its di

etary Information and Invention Agreement entered i
of its officers and key employees.

tive Stock Option Plan and related agreements.
emental Stock Option Plan and related agreements.
tock Purchase Plan, as amended January 22, 1998.
Option Plan, as amended January 22, 1998.

tock Option issued to certain executive officers an
nt, dated as of November 1, 1990 among Registrant,

nd Development Net Lease by and between Registrant
27, 1992 for premises located at 344B, 346 and 353
with related addendum, exhibits and amendments.

as of September 23, 1991 between Registrant and 10
onfidential information deleted.

nd Development Net Lease by and between Registrant
ber 16, 1993 for premises located at 335 Lakeside D
exhibits.

ted October 25, 1993 between Registrant and IOCB/ R
exhibits with certain confidential information dele
gistrant and The Daiwa Bank, Limited dated May 17,

n deleted.

ement between Registrant and American Cyanamid Comp
dential information deleted.

s of October 1, 1994 among Registrant and Mark L. P

mployee Directors' Stock Option Plan, as amended Ja
ption grant.
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and Vintage Park
rive, Foster City,

EGA, and related
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1994 with certain
any dated August 1,

erry and Melanie P.

nuary 26, 1999, and



EXHIBIT

FOOTNOTE

EXHIBIT

C)
(10)

(10)

(10)

11
11
11
(12)

(13

(14
14

14

*

10.34 Collaborative Research
Glaxo Wellcome Inc. wit

10.36 Vintage Park Research a
Partnership dated June
California.

10.37 Amendment No. 1 to Vint
WCB Seventeen Limited P
Drive, Foster City, Cal

10.38 Amendment No. 2 to Vint
WCB Seventeen Limited P
353 Lakeside Drive, Fos

10.40 License and Supply Agre
1996 with certain confi

10.41 Series B Preferred Stoc
dated August 7, 1996.

10.42 Development and License
Hoffmann-La Roche Inc d

10.45 Amended and Restated Co
dated September 12, 199

10.46 Amendment No. 1 to Coll
Registrant and Glaxo We

10.47 Patent Rights Purchase
December 18, 1998.

10.48 Amendment No. 3 to Vint
Spieker Properties, L.P
Foster City, California

10.49 Agreement and Plan of M
Acquisition Sub, Inc. a

10.50 Share Option Agreement
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

10.51 Form of Voting Agreemen
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Youn
24.1 Power of Attorney. Refe
27.1 Financial Data Schedule

NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

Agreement, dated as of March 25, 1996, by and betwe
h certain confidential information deleted.

nd Development Lease by and between Registrant and
24, 1996 for premises located at 333 Lakeside Drive

age Park Research and Development Lease by and betw
artnership dated June 24, 1996 for premises located
ifornia.

age Park Research and Development Lease by and betw
artnership dated June 24, 1996 for premises located

ter City, California.

ement between Registrant and Pharmacia & Upjohn S.A
dential information deleted.

k Purchase Agreement between Registrant and Pharmac

Agreement between Registrant and F. Hoffmann-La Ro
ated September 27, 1996 with certain confidential i
promotion Agreement between Registrant and Roche La
7 with certain confidential information deleted.

aborative Research Agreement, dated as of December
llcome Inc.

Agreement between Registrant and Isis Pharmaceutica

age Park Research and Development Lease by and betw
. dated August 14, 1998 for premises located at 355

erger dated February 28, 1999 by and among Registra
nd NeXstar Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
dated February 28, 1999 by and between Registrant a

t in connection with merger with NeXstar Pharmaceut
g LLP, Independent Auditors. Reference is made to p
rence is made to page 64.

* Registrant is applying for confidential treatmavith respect to portions of this Exhibit.

en Registrant and

WCB Sixteen Limited
, Foster City,

een Registrant and
at 335 Lakeside

een Registrant and
at 344B, 346 and

. dated August 7,
ia & Upjohn S.A.
che Ltd and
nformation deleted.
boratories, Inc.
22,1997, between

Is, Inc. dated

een Registrant and
Lakeside Drive,

nt, Gazelle
nd NeXstar

icals, Inc.
age 66.

(1) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Registradatement on Form S-8 (No. 33-46058) and incaitpdrherein by reference.

(2) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Registrafidatement on Form S-1 (No. 33-44534) or amendsitheteto and incorporated herein by

reference.

(3) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Registraidatement on Form S-3 (No. 333-868) or amendnibatsto and incorporated herein by

reference.
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(4) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Quartergp®&t on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decembget @394 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(5) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Registraidatement on Form S-1 (No. 33-55680) or amendsitbeteto and incorporated herein by
reference.

(6) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Quartergp®t on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe®®et993 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(7) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Annual Répa Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March B394 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(8) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Quartergp®t on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe®®et994 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(9) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Annual Repa Form 10-K for the nine month period ended éeber 31, 1995.

(10) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Quart&gport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jund 386 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(11) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Quart&gport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe@®el996 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(12) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Quart&gport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe@®et997 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(13) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Annual &tepn Form 10-K for the year ended December 3271#hd incorporated herein by
reference.

(14) Filed as an exhibit to Registrant's Currenpdeon Form 8-K filed on March 9, 1999 and incagied herein by reference.
(B) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

There were no reports on Form 8-K filed by the R&gnt during the fourth quarter of the fiscal yeaded December 31, 1998. On March 9,
1999, the Registrant filed a Current Report on F8+Kiregarding the proposed merger with NeXstarilaaeuticals, Inc.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Gilead Sciences, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Gilead Sciences, Inc. as of Deceniher9®8 and 1997 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgtsty and cash flows for each of the three yaatse period ended December 31, 1998.
These financial statements are the responsibilithie Company's management. Our responsibilitg Esxipress an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with geneaaltepted auditing standards. Those standardsedhat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethenthedial statements are free of material misstatem@naudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digeesn the financial statements. An audit alsoudek assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managememtell as evaluating the overall financial statetpeesentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referealbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated financial position of Gilead
Sciences, Inc. at December 31, 1998 and 1997 henconsolidated results of its operations andashdlows for each of the three years in
period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity wiherally accepted accounting principles.

/'s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
January 21, 1999

45



GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTYS)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents..............c.c.......
Short-term investments.
Other current assets........ccccccvvvveveeeenenns

Total current assets..........cccccvvvveveerenn..
Property and equipment, net.............cccceeees

Other assets......ccocvvveieiiiieeeeeeeieieeees

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable..........cccccccveveniennnnnn.
Accrued clinical and preclinical expenses........
Other accrued liabilities........................
Deferred revenue..........cccccceeeveveeeennns
Current portion of long-term debt and equipment f
obligations........cccceeviiieiiiiiieeeee

Total current liabilities.............ccccceevenee
Non-current portion of long-term debt..............
Commitments

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, par value $.001 per share, issua
5,000,000 shares authorized; 1,133,786 shares o
convertible preferred issued and outstanding at
and 1997 (liquidation preference of $40,000)...

Common stock, par value $.001 per share; 60,000,0
authorized; 30,710,435 shares and 30,041,584 sh
outstanding at December 31, 1998 and 1997, resp

Additional paid-in capital.......................

Accumulated other comprehensive income...........

Deferred compensation...........cccccceeeeeennn.

Accumulated defiCit..........cccceevviineeenne

Total stockholders' equity.............cccuveeenne

See accompanying notes
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DECEMBER 31,

$ 32,475 $ 31,990
. 247,464 290,308
8,371 17,960

10,182 10,313

................... $ 3,422 $ 3,303

................... 11,925 12,989
................... 12,358 5,705
................... 3,275 9,541
inancing

................... 770 1,853
................... 31,750 33,391
................... 563 1,331
ble in series;

f Series B

December 31, 1998
................... 1 1

00 shares

ares issued and

ectively........... 31 30
..... . 489,183 479,737
..... 43 344

. (157) (286)
................... (218,554) (162,479)



Revenues:

Product sales, net..................

Contract revenue.........
Royalty revenue, net

Total revenues............ccccvvvvenne

Costs and expenses:

Cost of product sales.............

Research and development

Selling, general and administrative
Total costs and expenses........

Loss from operations................

Interest income
Interest expense

NEet 10SS.....cccvviiriiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee,

Basic and diluted loss per common share

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Common shares used to calculate basic and diluted |

common share

See accompanying notes
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1998 1997 1996

$ 6,074 $ 11,735 $ 8,477

............ 24,198 27,413 24,910
............ 2,298 889 33
............ 32,570 40,037 33,420
............ 594 1,167 910
............ 75,298 59,162 41,881
............ 31,003 25472 26,692
............ 106,895 85,801 69,483
............ (74,325) (45,764) (36,063)
............ 18,442 18,260 15,042
............ (192) (489) (711)

$ (56,075) $ (27,993) $ (21,732)

$ (1.85)$ (0.95)$ (0.78)

30,363 29,326 27,786




GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

ADDITIONAL ACCUMULATED OTHER

PREFERRED PAID-IN COMPREHENSIVE D EFERRED ACCUMULATED
STOCK COMMON STOCK CAPITAL INCOME COM PENSATION DEFICIT
Balance at December 31, 1995...... $ - $ 24 $265,460 $ 167 $ (1,398) $(112,754)
- - (21,732)

Unrealized loss on

available-for-sale short-term

investments, net.............. -- -- -- (78)

Comprehensive loss............ -- -- -- -
Issuance of 500,853 shares of

common stock upon the exercise

of stock options.............. -- 1 3,077 -- - -
Issuance of 181,590 shares of

common stock pursuant to the

employee stock purchase

plan......cccoinnnns -- -- 1,856 -- - -
Issuance of 4,305,844 shares of

common stock at $37.75 per

share (net of issuance costs

of $7,063)......ccccvviinene -- 4 155,478 - - -
Compensation related to

accelerated vesting on stock

OPLioNS...cvviviiieieene. - - 706
Amortization of deferred

compensation - - -

Balance at December 31, 1996...... $ - $ 29 $426577 $ 89 $ (549) $(134,486)
Net LOSS.....ccvvririenninnns - - - - - (27,993)
Unrealized gain on

available-for-sale short-term

investments, net.............. - - - 255 - -

Comprehensive loss. .
Issuance of 1,190,541 shares of

common stock upon the exercise

of stock options.............. -- 1 11,243 -- - -
Issuance of 92,878 shares of

common stock pursuant to the

employee stock purchase

plan......cccoinnnns -- -- 1,918 -- - -
Issuance of 1,133,786 shares of

preferred stock............... 1 -- 39,999 -- - -
Amortization of deferred

compensation.................. -- -- --

Balance at December 31, 1997...... $ 1 $ 30 $479,737 $ 344 $ (286) $(162,479)
Net LOSS....cvvevveerineenines - -- -- -- -- (56,075)
Unrealized loss on

available-for-sale short-term

investments, net.............. - - - (301) - -

Comprehensive loss............ - - - -
Issuance of 568,969 shares of

common stock upon the exercisi

of stock options.............. - 1 6,859 - - -
Issuance of 99,882 shares of

common stock pursuant to the

employee stock purchase

plan......cccoviiiiennne - - 2,153 - - -
Amortization of deferred

compensation.................. - - -
Amounts recognized under

compensatory stock

transactions.... - - 434

$ 43 $ (157)  $(218,554)

Balance at December 31, 1998...... $ 1 $

TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY
Balance at December 31, 1995...... $ 151,499
Net LOSS....c.vvevveeneeenines (21,732)

Unrealized loss on
available-for-sale short-term
investments, net.............. (78)

Comprehensive loss. (21,810)

Issuance of 500,853 shares of
common stock upon the exercise
of stock options.............. 3,078

Issuance of 181,590 shares of
common stock pursuant to the
employee stock purchase



plan......cccoiviiienns 1,856
Issuance of 4,305,844 shares of

common stock at $37.75 per

share (net of issuance costs

of $7,063)......ccccvviinnne 155,482
Compensation related to

accelerated vesting on stock

options... 706
Amortization of deferred

compensation.................. 849

Balance at December 31, 1996...... $ 291,660

Net LOSS....cvveiveerieeninns (27,993)

Unrealized gain on
available-for-sale short-term
investments, net.............. 255

Comprehensive loss.
Issuance of 1,190,541 shares of

common stock upon the exercise

of stock options.............. 11,244
Issuance of 92,878 shares of

common stock pursuant to the

employee stock purchase

(27,738)

plan......ccooininnns 1,918
Issuance of 1,133,786 shares of

preferred stock............... 40,000
Amortization of deferred

compensation.................. 263

Balance at December 31, 1997...... $ 317,347

Net LOSS....ccovrverieniinnns (56,075)
Unrealized loss on
available-for-sale short-term
investments, net.............. (301)

Comprehensive loss. (56,376)

Issuance of 568,969 shares of
common stock upon the exercise
of stock options.............. 6,860

Issuance of 99,882 shares of
common stock pursuant to the
employee stock purchase
plan......coooininnns 2,153

Amortization of deferred
compensation.................. 129

Amounts recognized under
compensatory stock
transactions.................. 434

Balance at December 31, 1998...... $ 270,547

See accompanying notes



GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(IN THOUSANDS)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1998 1997 1996

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEtIOSS..cviiiiiiiecic e $ (56,075) $ (27,993) $ (21,732)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss
to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization.........c......... ... 2,757 2,983 3,773

Stock plan compensation expense........c.cee.e. . 434 - 706
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Other current assets........ccoevecvvveeeee . 9,589 (13,670) (2,732)
Other assetS....cccoovvveivvciiieciicees (2,870) (250) (175)
Accounts payable.........cccocevvcceeeeee. L 119 802 89
Accrued clinical and preclinical expenses.... ... (1,064) 7,982 1,084
Other accrued liabilities........cc.cccc.c.... L. 6,653 1,272 2,204
Deferred revenue........cccoooeeevvceeeee. L. (6,266) 9,014 319
Total adjustments.........cccccvvveveeee. L 9,352 8,133 5,268
Net cash used in operating activities.............. ... (46,723) (19,860) (16,464)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of short-term investments............ ... (486,067) (410,997) (437,627)
Sales of short-term investments...........c...... .. 390,251 196,515 248,552
Maturities of short-term investments........... ... 138,359 88,408 153,257
Capital expenditureS.......ccccceeeeeeeeeeveeeeee (2,497) (3,861) (3,727)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activites ... 40,046 (129,935) (39,545)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payments of financing obligations and long-term d ebt...... (1,851) (3,361) (2,843)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt......... ... - -- 3,000
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock........ . ... -- 40,000 --
Proceeds from issuances of common stock.......... ... 9,013 13,162 160,416
Net cash provided by financing activities.......... ... 7,162 49,801 160,573
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent Serrerens 485 (99,994) 104,564
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..... ... 31,990 131,984 27,420
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.......... . .. $ 32,475 $ 31,990 $ 131,984
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Interest paid......ccccoveeviiviiiiieiieeeeee $ 202$ 509% 731

See accompanying notes
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GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTNG POLICIES
ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Gilead Sciences, Inc. (the "Company" or "Gileaddsvincorporated in the State of Delaware on Jun&27. All of the Company's
operations are located in the United States. Theal@ated financial statements include the aceoafhthe Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiary Gilead Sciences Limited, which was falmader the laws of the United Kingdom in Novemb@®5. To date, the subsidiary has
been inactive and has no material assets or ligisili

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reportdtkifinancial statements and accompanying notetsiahresults could differ from those
estimates.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

In 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Finadgebunting Standards ("SFAS") No. 131, DISCLOSUREBOUT SEGMENTS OF

AN ENTERPRISE AND RELATED INFORMATION, which address how public business enterprises must repannvition about
operating segments. For a number of years, the @oynlpas been primarily engaged in the discovengldpment and marketing of a new
class of human therapeutics based on nucleotid&S.IBE-Registered Trademark-

(cidofovir injection), a drug for the treatmentaftomegalovirus ("CMV")

retinitis in patients with AIDS, received marketiogarance from the FDA in June 1996 and is the fizomw's first commercially available
product. Gilead sells this product in the Unitedt& through major drug wholesalers and it is ctiyéghe Company's only source of product
sales revenue. At the present time, the Compaosgenized and managed along functional lines.

Gilead also derives revenue from contracts, inclgdeimbursement of research and development ("R&DSts and the sale of patent rights,
and from royalties. During 1998, Gilead recognireyhlty revenue from sales of VISTIDE outside thaitgdd States by Pharmacia & Upjohn
S.A. ("P&U"), and from the co-promotion with Rochaboratories Inc. ("Roche Labs") of Roferon-A-Régied Trademark- (Interferon alfa-
2a, recombinant) for the treatment of chronic hgipat infection in the United States. The amoustajrces and nature of the Company's
contract and royalty revenues are described in mietail in Note 3.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes product sales revenue &itibeproduct is shipped. Provisions are made $tmated product returns, cash
discounts and government discounts and rebatesragbnevenue recognized under the Company's cobdive R&D agreements, license
and supply agreements and patent rights purchaseragnt is recorded as earned based upon therparfoe requirements of the contract.
Payments received in advance under these agreearentscorded as deferred revenue until earnedalBagvenue is recognized when
received, which is generally in the quarter follogiithat in which the corresponding sales occur.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 28BCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION, the Compéras elected to
follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APBNo. 25, ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK
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GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
DECEMBER 31, 1998

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTNG POLICIES (CONTINUED) ISSUED TO EMPLOYEES, and
related interpretations in accounting for its enypl® stock option plans. Under APB No. 25, if thereise price of the Company's employee
and director stock options equals or exceeds thedhie of the underlying stock on the date ofnjrao compensation expense is recognized.
See Note 7 for pro forma disclosures of stock-b@sapensation pursuant to SFAS No. 123.

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

For all periods presented, both basic and diluted per common share are computed based on theteeigverage number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Convertibdéapred stock and stock options could potentidilyte basic earnings per share in the
future, but were excluded from the computationitftdd loss per share as their effect is antidiifior the periods presented.

CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers highly liquid investmentditignificant interest rate risk and a remainingturity of three months or less at the
purchase date to be cash equivalents.

SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

Management determines the appropriate classifitatiaebt securities at the time of purchase aadaleates such designation at each
balance sheet date. The Company's debt securitedassified as available-for-sale and carriegstimated fair values in cash equivalents
and short-term investments. At December 31, 1988h and cash equivalents includes $30.5 milliosectirities designated as available-for-
sale ($28.5 million at December 31, 1997). Faiuealof available-for-sale securities are basedricegpobtained from commercial pricing
services. Unrealized gains and losses on avaifablsale securities are excluded from earningsrapdrted as a separate component of
stockholders' equity. Interest income includesraggg dividends, amortization of purchase premiams discounts, and realized gains and
losses on sales of securities. The cost of seesistdld is based on the specific identificationhrodt

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investnaeatthe financial instruments that primarily ggbthe Company to credit risk. By
policy, the Company limits amounts invested in sities by maturity, industry group, investment tygred issuer, except for securities issued
by the U.S. government. Gilead is not exposed yosagnificant concentrations of credit risk.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables, net of allowances for returisgadints, rebates and bad debts, are reportecearotisolidated balance sheet in other
current assets. At December 31, 1997, other cuassts includes reimbursable R&D expenses antkatorie payment totaling
approximately $12.4 million due from F. Hoffmann-Rache Ltd. and Hoffmann-La Roche, Inc. (collediiyéRoche"). For additional
information, refer to Note 3.
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GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
DECEMBER 31, 1998
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTNG POLICIES (CONTINUED) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost andstaighe following (in thousands):

DECEMBER 31,

1998 1997
Equipment subject to financing obligations......... ... $ 34 % 2,732
Laboratory equipment.......cccooevvvvevcccvneneee L 7,037 5,571
Office furniture and equipment........ccccccceeeeee. L 2,863 2,019
Computer equIipmMent......ccooevvveeemvciiieeeeeeee 3,685 2,062
Capitalized software.........ocoevcvvvveveee. L 1,422 956

Leasehold improvementS......cccccoeeeevevvvveneeee L 12,797 12,583

27,838 25,923
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization..... ... (17,656) (15,610)

Property and equipment are depreciated on a striighbasis over their estimated useful livesfalews:

ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE (IN

DESCRIPTION YEARS)
Laboratory equipment........cccovvvvviciiiieeees e 4-8
Office furniture and equipment........ccccccceeeee. L 6
Computer equUIPMeNt......cccoecveeeiiiiiieeeeeeee e 2-3
Capitalized software.........ccccovcvvvevveeeee. 3

Leasehold improvements and equipment subject émfiimg obligations are amortized on a straightiasis over the shorter of the estimated
useful life of the item or the term of the relatedse or borrowing.

OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Other accrued liabilities are summarized as follgwghousands):

DECEMBER 31,

Accrued compensation........cccceveeveeiceeneees $ 2,251 $ 1,833

Accrued Medicaid rebates........cccccceeeeeeeee. L 1,705 1,881
Estimated liability to Roche (Note 3).....ccccc.... . ... 5,000
Other e 3,402 1,991
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GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
DECEMBER 31, 1998

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTNG POLICIES (CONTINUED) FOREIGN CURRENCY
INSTRUMENTS

The Company periodically enters into foreign exg®forward contracts with financial institutionsancordance with its foreign exchange
risk management policy to hedge the currency exghaisk associated with certain firmly committedqhase transactions. In general, these
contracts do not expose the Company to markebiesiause gains and losses on the contracts offiest @ad losses on the transactions being
hedged. The Company's exposure to credit risk th@se contracts is a function of changes in intened currency exchange rates and,
therefore, varies over time. Gilead limits its rtblat counterparties to these contracts may belenalperform by transacting only with major
U.S. banks. The Company also limits its risk oElby entering into contracts that provide for regtliement at maturity. Therefore, the
Company's overall risk of loss in the event of ardgerparty default is limited to the amount of amyecognized and unrealized gains on
outstanding contracts (i.e., those contracts thaéfa positive fair value) at the date of default.

Gains and losses on these contracts are deferdegbparted as a component of the related transaittithe period in which it occurs. At both
December 31, 1998 and 1997, the Company's outsigufisiiward foreign exchange contracts and theinfalues were immaterial.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@dssued SFAS No. 133, ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIMESTRUMENTS AND
HEDGING ACTIVITIES, which establishes accountinglareporting standards for derivative instrumentsluding forward foreign exchan
contracts, and for hedging activities. SFAS No. E38ffective for years beginning after June 1899Jnder Gilead's existing derivatives
activity levels and hedging strategies, the adopdbSFAS No. 133 would not have a significant ictpan the Company's present financial
accounting and reporting practices.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassifiesbnform to the 1998 presentation.
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GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
DECEMBER 31, 1998
2. INVESTMENTS
The following is a summary of available-for-salewgties (in thousands):

GROSS GROSS
AMOR TIZED UNREALIZED UNREALIZED ESTIMATED
C OST GAINS LOSSES FAIR VALUE

DECEMBER 31, 1998
U.S. treasury securities and obligations of

U.S. government agencies................... $ 78,703 $ 62 $ (123) $ 78,642
Certificates of deposit............cceee... 38,058 65 (11) 38,112
Corporate debt securities.................... 34,676 152 (18) 34,810
Asset-backed securities...................... 89,565 101 (185) 89,481
Other debt securities............ccceeennee 36,984 - - 36,984

Total.oeeeeeeece $ 2 77986 $ 380 $ (337) $ 278,029

DECEMBER 31, 1997
U.S. treasury securities and obligations of

U.S. government agencies................... $ 35615 $ 55 $ (6) $ 35,664
Certificates of deposit............ccceee... 65,485 20 (2) 65,503
Corporate debt securities.................... 78,054 192 (1) 78,245
Asset-backed securities...................... 1 18,362 121 (35) 118,448
Other debt securities 20,965 - - 20,965

Total.eeoieiiee e $ 3 18,481 $ 388 $ (44) $ 318,825

The following table presents certain informatiolated to sales of available-for-sales securitiegi{ousands):

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1 998 1997 1996
Proceeds from sales............cccccvveeenn. $3 90,251 $ 196,515 $ 248,552
Gross realized gains on sales................. $ 1,127 $ 225 $ 451
Gross realized losses on sales................ $ 654 $ 142 $ 65

At both December 31, 1998 and 1997, neither théractual maturities of the debt securities (exabgdasset-backed securities) nor the
estimated maturities of the asset-backed secudiiesed three years. Under the Company's investpodiny, it may enter into repurchase
agreements ("repos") with major banks and authdrilesalers provided that such repos are collatexdlizy U.S. government securities with a
fair value of at least 102 percent of the fair eatf securities sold.

3. CONTRACT REVENUE AND ROYALTIES
PHARMACIA & UPJOHN

In August 1996, the Company and P&U entered irit@canse and Supply Agreement ("P&U Agreement") ket VISTIDE in all countrie
outside the United States. Under the terms of &ld Rgreement, P&U paid Gilead an initial licensefef $10.0 million. During the second
quarter of 1997, VISTIDE was approved for markeiim¢ghe European Union by the European Commissidigh
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GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
DECEMBER 31, 1998

3. CONTRACT REVENUE AND ROYALTIES (CONTINUED) trigered an additional cash milestone payment of $dlidn by P&U to
the Company. Also as a result of achieving thiestdne, in the second quarter of 1997 the Compmued and P&U purchased 1,133,786
shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stoclafproximately $40.0 million, or $35.28 per sharer. &dditional information about the
preferred stock, refer to Note 7.

Under the terms of the P&U Agreement and relatedeagents covering expanded access programs forIWESdutside of the United States,
the Company supplies to P&U either the bulk drugssance used to manufacture VISTIDE or the finis¥ERITIDE product ("Product”).
Gilead is entitled to receive a royalty based upé&tJ's sale of Product. It receives a portion of thygalty upon shipping either bulk drug
substance or Product to P&U, and the remainder &ddd's sale of Product to third parties. Any roiedtthat Gilead receives before Product
is sold to third parties are recorded as deferegdnue until such thirgarty sales occur. At December 31, 1998, the Compan recorded ¢
its balance sheet approximately $3.3 million of P&&ferred revenue ($2.1 million at December 31,7199

HOFFMANN-LA ROCHE

In September 1996, Gilead and Roche entered intdl@oration agreement ("Roche Agreement") to tigvand commercialize therapies to
treat and prevent viral influenza. Under the Rogeesement, Roche received exclusive worldwide sdbtGilead's proprietary influenza
neuraminidase inhibitors. In October 1996, Rochderan initial license fee payment to Gilead of 81illion, which the Company reported
as contract revenue. Upon achieving certain devedopal milestones, in both the second and fourttrtgqes of 1997, Gilead earned cash
payments of $3.0 million per quarter, for a tote$6.0 million. Gilead is entitled to additionalstapayments of up to $34.0 million upon
achieving additional developmental and regulatoitesiones. If any commercial products are develapgter the collaboration, Roche will
pay Gilead royalties based on net product sales.

Under the Roche Agreement, Roche reimburses thep@ayrfor its related R&D costs under this progranfunding such costs quarterly a
generally in advance, based on an annual budgehldResements are included in contract revenuea€tdmpany incurs the related R&D
costs. Amounts incurred by the Company in excessrafunts funded may also be reimbursed, subjdRothe’s approval. In this event,
revenue is not recognized until such approval & lobtained. Conversely, if amounts funded by B@&otteed the Company's related R&D
costs, the Company may be required to repay sumdseXunding to Roche.

For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 arfil 189 Company recorded approximately $16.4 mijl&$2 million and $1.1 million,
respectively, of R&D reimbursement revenue relatethe Roche Agreement, which is reported as contexvenue in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The $16libbmiecorded as revenue during 1998 includes $llon attributable to R&D expenses
incurred in the fourth quarter of 1997, which weubject to Roche's approval as of December 31,.199¢h expenses were approved for
reimbursement in 1998. Except for this $5.2 milli&&D costs related to the Roche Agreement apprateérthe reimbursement revenue in
each year presented and are included in R&D exgense

At December 31, 1998, the Company has recorded@med liability of $5.0 million, which represert898 R&D funding from Roche in
excess of actual 1998 R&D costs. The Company arth&are in the process of finalizing the 1999 budgd, as a result, the Company has
not yet received funding
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3. CONTRACT REVENUE AND ROYALTIES (CONTINUED) forstimated 1999 R&D spending under the Roche Agreé&ndén
December 31, 1997, deferred revenue includes $illidmrepresenting Roche's advance reimbursemebtdgeted R&D costs for the first
quarter of 1998.

In September 1996, Gilead and Roche Labs enteteéimagreement to co-promote Roche's Roferon-Ahfotreatment of chronic hepatitis
C infection in the United States. Roche paid Gila#&0.2 million one-time fee in 1996 in connectiith the signing of this agreement.
Beginning in 1997, Roche was required to pay Gileadyalty based on the net product sales. The @agnpecognizes these royalties when
received. During 1998, Gilead received $0.6 millihich is reported as royalty revenue. This coaption agreement concluded at the end
of 1998. While the Company expects to receive ttimmspayments under the agreement in 1999, suauats are not expected to be
significant.

GLAXO WELLCOME

In July 1990, the Company entered into a collaligaesearch agreement with Glaxo Wellcome Inclg%G"). Concurrent with the signing
of the agreement, Glaxo made an $8.0 million eguitgstment in the Company and holds 889,911 siamsoximately 2.8%) of the
Company's outstanding common stock at Decembet@®B. Under the terms of the Glaxo agreement, anded over time, the Company
received $1.8 million in 1998, and $3.0 millionboth 1997 and 1996, to fund research, which isrtedas contract revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatidres R&D costs reimbursed by Glaxo approximateréi@ed revenue and are include
R&D expense. This agreement and the related fundarg terminated in June 1998.

BAUSCH & LOMB

In August 1994, the Company entered into a licemsksupply agreement with Bausch & Lomb Incorpatr@termerly Storz Instrument
Company, a subsidiary of American Home Productp@mition), to develop and market an eyedrop fortiariaf cidofovir for the potential
treatment of topical ophthalmic viruses. The Comypateived a $0.3 million annual fee under thisagrent in each of the years ended
December 31, 1997 and 1996, which is reported asaxt revenue. The Company also may be entitleddeive milestone payments and
future royalties on product sales under the agreéme

ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS

In December 1998, Gilead and Isis Pharmaceutibiads("Isis") entered into an agreement under wiGdlead sold Isis its antisense patent
estate, including patents and patent applicationsning antisense chemistry and antisense drugeatglsystems. Under the terms of the
agreement, Isis is required to pay Gilead a tdt&b6d0 million in four installments. The first $2m0illion was paid in December 1998, and the
remaining $4.0 million is payable in three addiibpayments (one payment of $1.0 million in bot®4@nd 2000, and one payment of $2.0
million in 2001). The total sale price of $6.0 riwh is included in contract revenue in the Compauoghsolidated statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 1998.
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4. LONG-TERM DEBT

In October 1996, the Company entered into an umedc$8.0 million term loan to finance its officeddR&D facilities expansion. The four-
year loan requires quarterly principal payment$@® million, plus applicable interest, commenodtober 1, 1996. The interest rate \
fixed at 6.9 percent for the first year of the Ipand resets periodically thereafter based on egiple LIBOR rates. At December 31, 1998,
total debt outstanding is approximately $1.3 millithe current portion outstanding is $0.8 millaond the book value of the debt
approximates its fair value.

The terms of the debt require the Company to comly certain financial and operating covenantsD&tember 31, 1998, the Company-
in compliance with all such covenants.

5. COMMITMENTS

The Company leases its facilities pursuant to dpeydeases that have expiration dates in March62@ath two five-year renewal options.
Rent expense net of sublease income under thesesleataled approximately $2.2 million, $2.3 miiliand $2.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

At December 31, 1998, the aggregate noncancelahlesfminimum payments under the operating leas#f aggregate future minimum
rentals to be received by the Company under nomtalble subleases, are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

1999 i e $ 2,825
2000 i e, 2,992
2001 . e, 3,106
2002, i e, 3,224
2003, i ——— e, 3,347
Thereafter......ocovveieeeeee e, 8,005
$ 23,499

The Company has in place a letter of credit agre¢fnem a bank, which secures the aggregate fytayenents under one of its facilities
leases. At December 31, 1998, a total of $0.5 onillvas secured under this letter of credit arrargegm
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6. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On January 1, 1998, the Company adopted SFAS NIp.RBPORTING COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, which establisimew requirements
for reporting and displaying comprehensive incofoss) and its components. The adoption of SFAS186.has no impact on the Compar
net loss or total stockholders' equity. This newoaiting standard requires net unrealized gaitaesses on the Company's available-for-sale
securities to be reported as accumulated other repsive income (loss). Prior year financial stegiets have been reclassified to conform
to the requirements of SFAS No. 130.

The following reclassification adjustments are iieggito avoid double-counting net realized gainsales of securities that were previously
included in comprehensive income prior to the safale securities (in thousands):

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1998 1997 1996

Net gains on sales of securities included in intere st
INCOME.....oiiiiiiiieii e ...$ 473 $ 83 3% 386

Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized gain arising during the year...... ... $ 172 $ 338 $ 308
Reclassification adjustment...................... 473) (83) (386)

Net unrealized gain (loss) reported in other
comprehensive income...............c......... ...$ (301)$ 255 % (78)

7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
PREFERRED STOCK

The Company has 5,000,000 shares of authorizedrpeefstock issuable in series. The Company's Bafabdrectors is authorized to
determine the designation, powers, preferencesights of any such series. The Company has res@@@@00 shares of preferred stock for
potential issuance under the Preferred Share PsgdRights Plan.

In June 1997, the Company issued 1,133,786 shafaries B Convertible Preferred Stock to P&U fppeximately $40.0 million, or

$35.28 per share. Each preferred share is conleedtilihe option of the holder into one share oficwmn stock at any time, and each has a
liquidation value equal to its purchase price. Hegies B Preferred Stock has substantially the santieg rights as the Company's common
stock. Dividends are noncumulative and payablaeatate of 5 percent of the original issue priceyear only when, as and if declared by the
Company's Board of Directors. No dividends havenlierlared or paid on the Series B ConvertibledPrefl Stock.

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

Under the Company's Employee Stock Purchase PESRP"), employees can purchase shares of the Cglagammon stock based on a
percentage of their compensation. The purchase pec share must equal at least the lower of 8&epeof the market value on the date
offered or the date purchased. A total of 1,250 fitdres of common stock are reserved for issuamber the ESPP. As of December 31,
1998, 794,049 shares had been issued under the BS®R67 shares as of December 31, 1997).
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7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 97ARCOUNTING FOR

INCREASED SHARE AUTHORIZATIONS IN AN IRS SECTION &EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN UNDER APB OPINION
NO. 25, provides that new shares authorized undstieg Section 423 employee stock purchase plaag give rise to compensation expe
under circumstances specified in that accountiagdztrd. During 1998, the Company recognized congtiemsexpense of $0.4 million
related to an ESPP share authorization approv&898 in accordance with the provisions of EITF &sBlo. 97-12. In future years, the
Company will not be required to recognize additimmnpensation expense related to the 1998 shéneraation.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

In December 1987, the Company adopted the 198niiveeStock Option Plan and the Supplemental S@pton Plan for issuance of
common stock to employees, consultants and sdeatifvisors. In April 1991, the Company's Boardafectors approved the granting of
certain additional nonqualified stock options wihms and conditions substantially similar to thgsmnted under the 1987 Supplemental
Stock Option Plan. At the grant date, none of thigoos described above had exercise prices that l@es than the fair value of the
underlying stock on that date. The options vest éive years pursuant to a formula determined leyG@Gompany's Board of Directors and
expire after ten years. No shares are availablgrimt of future options under any of these plans.

In November 1991, the Company adopted the 1991kSdption Plan ("1991 Plan") for issuance of commstotk to employees and
consultants. Options issued under the 1991 Pladh ah¢he discretion of the Company's Board ofddiors, be either incentive stock options
or nonqualified stock options. In May 1998, the 1%9an was amended such that the exercise priak stbck options must be at least equal
to the fair value of the Company's common stockhendate of grant. The options vest over five ygarsuant to a formula determined by the
Company's Board of Directors and expire after teary. At December 31, 1998, 958,380 shares werkalleafor grant of future options.

In November 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Euoployee Directors' Stock Option Plan ("Directdtisin®) for issuance of common
stock to non-employee Directors pursuant to a geegened formula. The exercise price of optionsged under the Directors' Plan must be
at least equal to the fair value of the Compangtaroon stock on the date of grant. The options eest five years from the date of grant in
quarterly 5 percent installments and expire a#tarytears. At December 31, 1998, 85,000 sharesawaitable for grant of future options
under the Directors' Plan.
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7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONTINUED) The followingble summarizes activity under all stock optiompléor each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 1998. Albogrants presented in the table had exerciseprot less than the fair value of
underlying stock on the grant date (shares in thods):

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 3 1,

1998 1997 1996
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE
EXERCISE EXERCISE EXERCISE

SHARES PRICE SHARES PRICE SHARES PRICE
Outstanding, beginning of year..................... 4,117 $ 19.39 4,651 $ 14.9 6 4,144 $ 10.55
1,128 27.69 923 29.2 1 1,239 25.89
(241) 2711  (266) 205 1 (231)  13.70
(569) 12.06 (1,191) 9.4 2 (501)  6.15
4,435 $ 22.16 4,117 $ 19.3 9 4,651 $ 14.96
1,885 $ 16.66 1,673 $ 138 3 2,025 $ 10.23

In 1995, the Company granted 75,000 stock optidtis exercise prices less than the fair value ofuthderlying stock at the grant date. For
these options only, the Company recorded defemwethensation expense of $0.5 million, based on iffiereince between the grant price and
the fair value of the underlying stock at the dzftgrant. This deferred compensation is being amexitto expense over the five-year vesting
period of the options. Amortization expense forykars ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 199éddsal1 million, $0.3 million and $0.8
million, respectively.

The following table summarizes information aboutreise price ranges of outstanding and exercisgiiiens at December 31, 1998 (options
in thousands):

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

------ OPTIO NS EXERCISABLE
WEIGHTED- - e
AVERAGE WEIGHTED- WEIGHTED-
REMAINING AVERAGE AVERAGE
OoP TIONS  CONTRACTUAL LIFE EXERCISE  OPTION S EXERCISE
RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES ouTs TANDING IN YEARS PRICE EXERCISA BLE PRICE
$0.24 - $16.50......ccccciiiiinne 1,245 4.47 $ 10.55 1,0 72 $ 10.57
$17.50 - $22.88.... 1,417 7.96 20.50 4 21 18.86
$23.00 - $32.00.... 1,114 8.27 27.65 2 79 28.70
$32.13-$42.88.......cciiiin 659 8.48 37.45 1 13 36.54
Total....cooeeiiiiiccici, 4,435 7.14 $ 22.16 1,8 85 $ 16.66

PRO FORMA DISCLOSURES

The table below reflects Gilead's net loss andctasd diluted loss per common share if compensatshfor the Company's stock plans had
been determined based on their estimated fair saltithe grant dates for awards under those phinse pro forma compensation cost is
amortized over the vesting

60



GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
DECEMBER 31, 1998

7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONTINUED) periods of thelated awards, and because SFAS No. 123 is apfdioaly to options
granted or shares issued subsequent to March 9%, 8 pro forma effect will not be fully reflecteintil 1999.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

1998 1997 1996

Pro forma net loss (in thousands).............. $ (68,656) $ (38,503) $ (29,586)
Pro forma basic and diluted loss per share..... $ (2.26)$ (1.31)$ (1.06)

Fair values of the options were estimated at gilates using a Black-Scholes option pricing modeé Tompany used the multiple option
approach and the following assumptions:

1998 1997 1996

Expected life in years (from vesting date)--options 1.78 1.75 1 .54

Expected life in years--ESPP.........ccccccoeeeeeee. e 1.51 0.75 1 .54

Interest rate--0ptioNS.......ccoovvvvvvciceeee e 5.5% 6.2% 6.0%
Interest rate--ESPP..........ccovviviiiiieeeee e 5.2% 5.6% 6.0%
VOIAtIlItY oo e 66% 66% 69%
Dividend yield......cccoooeveeeeiiiiiiiceeee s 0% 0% 0%

The weighted average estimated fair value of etk ©ption granted for the years ended Decembet @48, 1997 and 1996 was $15.90,
$17.14 and $15.17, respectively.

PREFERRED SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS PLAN

In November 1994, the Company adopted a PrefefadeSPurchase Rights Plan (the "Plan™). The Plawiges for the distribution of a
preferred stock purchase right (a "Right") as addind for each share of Gilead common stock heleéodrd at the close of business on
December 14, 1994. The Rights are not currentlyots@ble. Under certain conditions involving anusdion or proposed acquisition by any
person or group of 15 percent or more of the Coppanommon stock, the Rights permit the holdersdiothan the 15 percent holder) to
purchase Gilead common stock at a 50 percent disémm the market price at that time, upon payntdratn exercise price of $60 per Right.
In addition, in the event of certain business carations, the Rights permit the purchase of the comstock of an acquirer at a 50 percent
discount from the market price at that time. Undintain conditions, the Rights may be redeemedh&yClompany's Board of Directors in
whole, but not in part, at a price of $.01 per Rigthe Rights have no voting privileges and aracitéd to and automatically trade with Gil
common stock. The Rights expire on November 214200

8. INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 1998, the Company had fedetadperating loss carryforwards of approximately $22million. The Company also had
federal R&D tax credit carryforwards of approximgt$7.9 million. The net operating loss and crexditryforwards will expire at various
dates beginning in 2001 through 2018, if not wtitiz
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8. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) Significant componerasthe Company's deferred tax assets for fedehktate income taxes are as
follows (in thousands):

DECEMBER 31,

1998 1997

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards........cccc..... L $ 77,200 $ 57,100

R&D CreditS. ..o 10,700 6,800

Capitalized R&D for California......cccccceeeeee. L 11,200 4,400

Other. .o 4,500 2,300
Total deferred tax assets........ccoeeveevvccee. L 103,600 70,600
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets......... ... (103,600) (70,600)
Net deferred tax assetS.....c.cocevvvevvvevcvenees L $ -8

The valuation allowance increased by $33.0 mildon $15.3 million during the years ended Decemited 398 and 1997, respectively.

Utilization of the net operating losses and creditryforwards may be subject to a substantial anima#ation due to the ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Cotl&986.

Approximately $14.9 million of the valuation allomee at December 31, 1998 relates to the tax bsrafgtock option deductions, which v
be credited to additional paid-in capital when iz=l.

9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED)

On January 26, 1999, the Board of Directors autkdran additional 200,000 shares of common stoelkaitable for grant under the
Directors' Plan. This increase is subject to stotdér approval at the Company's annual stockhdldeesting to be held in 1999.

On March 1, 1999, Gilead and NeXstar Pharmacestitat. ("NeXstar") announced a definitive merggregment providing for the
acquisition by Gilead of all the outstanding comnstock of NeXstar. The merger is structured asdrte, stock-for-stock transaction. The
Company intends to account for this merger undeptioling-ofinterests method. NeXstar, headquartered in Bouldiglorado, is engaged
the discovery, development, manufacture and comiaization of products to treat serious and lifestitening illnesses. In addition to its
Boulder headquarters, NeXstar maintains reseassteldpment and manufacturing facilities in San Dip@alifornia, and marketing
subsidiaries worldwide. Under the terms of the raeagreement, NeXstar stockholders will receivevben 0.3786 and 0.5000 of a share of
Gilead common stock for each share of NeXstar comstock. The exact exchange ratio will be deterchin&sed on the trading range of
Gilead common stock over a specified period pordmpletion of the merger. The merger is subgcetrtain conditions, including approval
of the stockholders of Gilead and NeXstar. Thedaation is expected to be completed in mid-1999.
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10. QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.

DECEMBER 31, 1998

The following table is in thousands, except persf@nounts:

1998

Total revenues.........cceevvveeeeeiiiieeeenns
Total costs and expenses............cccuveeeeees
NEet 10SS....ovvviiiiiiiee e
Basic and diluted loss per share...............

1997

Total revenues.........ccccoevcvveveeiicieenenns
Total costs and eXpenses...........cccueeeeeunees
Net income (I0SS).....cccovvuveeeriiiiiieneaninnen.
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share

1ST QUARTER 2ND QUARTER 3RD QUARTER 4

......... $ 13,560 $ 7,036

......... 25,902
......... (7,384)
......... (0.25)

......... $ 5,466
......... 17,460
......... (7,948)
......... (0.27)

26,887
(14,844)
(0.49)

$ 19,726
21,170
2,711
0.09

$ 3,038
24,715
(17,559)

(0.58)

$ 4,937
20,017

(10,331)

(0.35)

TH QUARTER

$ 8,936
29,393

(16,290)
(0.53)

$ 9,909
27,155
(12,424)
(0.42)



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyigsthas duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.

BY: /sl JOHN C. MARTIN

John C. Martin
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Date: March 22, 1999

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signhature appears below constitutes ammrgp@ohn C. Martin

and Mark L. Perry, and each of them, as his trutlawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with fullgr of substitution and resubstitution, for
him and in his name, place, and stead, in any Hrd@acities, to sign any and all amendmentsi®Report, and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connedtierewith, with the Securities and Exchange Cormimiig granting unto said attorneys-in-
fact and agents, and each of them, full power artiglagity to do and perform each and every act Amtjtrequisite and necessary to be done
in connection therewith, as fully to all intentsdgmurposes as he might or could do in person, ewlying and confirming that all said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them aor threhis substitute or substitutes, may lawfulty @ cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this Report has been signed bbipothe following persons on behalf of
the Registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

President and Chief

/s/ JOHN C. MARTIN Executive Officer ,
Director (Princip al March 22, 1999
John C. Martin Executive Officer )
Senior Vice Preside nt,
/sl MARK L. PERRY Chief Financial O fficer
and General Couns el March 22, 1999
Mark L. Perry (Principal Financ ial and
Accounting Office r
/s| DONALD H. RUMSFELD
Chairman of the Boa rd of March 22, 1999
Donald H. Rumsfeld Directors
/sl PAUL BERG
Director March 22, 1999

Paul Berg
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Director

Gordon E. Moore
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Exhibit 10.33

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.

1995 NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS' STOCK OPTION PLAN

ADOPTED ON NOVEMBER 27, 1995

APPROVED BY STOCKHOLDERS

ON APRIL 25, 1996

AMENDED ON JANUARY 26, 1999

APPROVED BY STOCKHOLDERS
ON , 1999

TERMINATION DATE: NOVEMBER 26, 2005
1. PURPOSE.

(a) The purpose of the 1995 Non-Employee Direc®iatk Option Plan (the "Plan”) is to provide a mehy which each director of Gilead
Sciences, Inc. (the "Company") who is not otherveis&employee of the Company or of any Affiliateled Company (each such person being
hereafter referred to as a "Non-Employee Directamilf)be given an opportunity to purchase stockhef Company.

(b) The word "Affiliate" as used in the Plan meany parent corporation or subsidiary corporatiothefCompany as those terms are defined
in Sections 424(e) and (f), respectively, of theelnal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from trtime (the "Code").

(c) The Company, by means of the Plan, seeks anrtiie services of persons now serving as Non-&yegl Directors of the Company, to
secure and retain



the services of persons capable of serving in saphcity, and to provide incentives for such pesdorexert maximum efforts for the success
of the Company.

2. ADMINISTRATION.

(&) The Plan shall be administered by the Boardidctors of the Company (the "Board") unless antil the Board delegates administration
to a committee, as provided in subparagraph 2(b).

(b) The Board may delegate administration of tr@nRb a committee composed of not fewer than tywan@mbers of the Board (the
"Committee"). If administration is delegated to en@nittee, the Committee shall have, in connectiih tihe administration of the Plan, the
powers theretofore possessed by the Board, subjgegver, to such resolutions, not inconsistent Wit provisions of the Plan, as may be
adopted from time to time by the Board. The Boaay mbolish the Committee at any time and revesterBoard the administration of the
Plan.

3. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN.

(a) Subject to the provisions of paragraph 10 irgdatio adjustments upon changes in stock, the gtaatkmay be sold pursuant to options
granted under the Plan shall not exceed in theeggge Five Hundred Fifty Thousand (550,000) shafréise Company's common stock. If
any option granted under the Plan shall for angaraxpire or otherwise terminate without havingrbexercised in full, the stock not
purchased under such option shall again becomé&hbiaior the Plan.

(b) The stock subject to the Plan may be unisshates or reacquired shares, bought on the marleherwise.
4. ELIGIBILITY.
Options shall be granted only to Non-Employee Doecof the Company.

5. NON-DISCRETIONARY GRANTS.



(&) On January 2, 1996, each person who is thesnaBinployee Director automatically shall be grardadption to purchase twenty-five
thousand (25,000) shares of common stock of thegaoamon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

(b) Each person who is, after January 2, 1996tedefor the first time to be a Non-Employee Dire@atomatically shall, upon the date of
initial election to be a Non-Employee Director e tBoard or stockholders of the Company, be graaweaption to purchase twenty-five
thousand (25,000) shares of common stock of thegaamon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

(c) On the one-year anniversary date of each Nopi&yee Director's initial grant under subparagrafd) or 5(b) above, and on each one-
year anniversary date thereafter, each person svtien a No-Employee Director automatically shall be grantadpgtion to purchase five
thousand (5,000) shares of common stock of the @ompn the terms and conditions set forth herein.

(d) In addition to the option grants described ahake Chairperson of the Board, if he or sheN®ma-Employee Director, or a NdBmployee
Director designated by the Board as a "lead direatoccircumstances where there is no Chairpersah@Chairperson is an employee of the
Company, automatically shall be granted optionsuichase: (i) twenty thousand (20,000) shares wincon stock of the Company, at the
time of his or her initial grant under subparagrafél) or 5(b) above or upon later election as Qlesgon or designation as lead director; and
(i) four thousand (4,000) shares of common stddke Company at the time of each annual grant usaleparagraph 5(c) above, all such
grants to be on the terms and conditions set fogtkin.

(e) In addition to the option grants described ah@ach Non-Employee Director who serves on a stgrabmmittee of the Board
automatically shall be



granted options to purchase: (i) one thousand Q) ,8lBares of common stock of the Company, at the f his or her initial grant under
subparagraph 5(a) or 5(b) above or upon lateriefetd each such committee, plus an additionalttvemsand (2,000) shares of common
stock of the Company at the same time for the @beason of each such committee; and (ii) one thali§éh©00) shares of common stock of
the Company at the time of each annual grant usugparagraph 5(c) above, plus an additional twaghaod (2,000) shares of common stock
of the Company for the Chairperson of each suchnaittee, at the time of each annual grant, all gyreimts to be on the terms and conditions
set forth herein.

6. OPTION PROVISIONS.
Each option granted under the Plan shall be sutgettie following terms and conditions:

(a) The term of each option commences on the ta@ranted and, unless sooner terminated asghtterein, expires on the date
("Expiration Date") ten (10) years from the dateycdnt. If the optionee's service as a Non-Empldyieector or employee of or consultant to
the Company or any Affiliate terminates for anys@aor for no reason, the option shall terminat¢herearlier of the Expiration Date or the
date three (3) months following the date of terfioraof all such service; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, thisiich termination of service is due
to the optionee's death or permanent and totabifitya(within the meaning of

Section 422(c)(6) of the Code), the option shathiaate on the earlier of the Expiration Date oe ¢h) year following the date of the
optionee's death or permanent and total disabititgny and all circumstances, an option may beotsexd following termination of the
optionee's service as a Non-Employee Director grleyee of or consultant to the Company or any /dfé only as to that number of shares
as to which it was exercisable on the date of teatidn of all



such service under the provisions of subparagréph 6

(b) The exercise price of each option shall betomedred percent (100%) of the fair market valuthefstock subject to such option on the
date such option is granted.

(c) Payment of the exercise price of each optiatuis in full in cash upon any exercise when the memof shares being purchased upon such
exercise is less than 1,000 shares; but when tmbeuof shares being purchased upon an exercis@d8 or more shares, the optionee may
elect to make payment of the exercise price underaf the following alternatives:

(i) Payment of the exercise price in cash at time tof exercise; or

(i) Provided that at the time of the exercise @@npany's common stock is publicly traded and queggularly in the Wall Street Journal,
payment by delivery of shares of common stock efGlompany already owned by the optionee, heldh®iperiod required to avoid a charge
to the Company's reported earnings, and ownedafideclear of any liens, claims, encumbrances arrggénterests, which common stock
shall be valued at its fair market value on thegaeceding the date of exercise; or

(iii) Payment by a combination of the methods ofrpant specified in subparagraphs 6(c)(i) and Gjgtiove.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, this option may bereised pursuant to a program developed under|R&gu T as promulgated by tl
Federal Reserve Board which results in the re@dipash (or check) by the Company prior to theasse of shares of the Company's
common stock.

(d) An option shall not be transferable except lily av by the laws of descent
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and distribution, or pursuant to a qualified doriweslations order satisfying the requirements ofeRL6b-3 under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended ("Rule 16b-3") and shakercisable during the lifetime of the person twwm the option is granted only by such
person (or by his guardian or legal representativé)ansferee pursuant to such an order. Notvétitihg the foregoing, the optionee may, by
delivering written notice to the Company in a fosatisfactory to the Company, designate a thirdypahio, in the event of the death of the
optionee, shall thereafter be entitled to exerttiseoption.

(e) The option shall become exercisable in instatita over a period of five (5) years from the dxtgrant at the rate of five percent (5%) in
equal quarterly installments commencing on the ttaee (3) months after the date of grant of thigoop provided that the optionee has,
during the entire period prior to such vesting datstinuously served as a Non-Employee Direct@mployee of or consultant to the
Company or any Affiliate of the Company, whereugoch option shall become fully exercisable in adaace with its terms with respect to
that portion of the shares represented by thalingent.

(f) The Company may require any optionee, or amggeto whom an option is transferred under sulgrapd 6(d), as a condition of
exercising any such option: (i) to give writtenwassces satisfactory to the Company as to the mgtis knowledge and experience in
financial and business matters; and (ii) to givétem assurances satisfactory to the Company gttt such person is acquiring the stock
subject to the option for such person's own accandtnot with any present intention of selling theswise distributing the stock. These
requirements, and any assurances given pursuaatkorequirements, shall be inoperative if (i)idgiance of the shares upon the exercise of
the option has been registered under a then-ciyrent



effective registration statement under the Seasrifict of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Aot'}ji), as to any particular requirement, a
determination is made by counsel for the Compaayshch requirement need not be met in the ciramass under the then-applicable
securities laws.

(9) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary congal herein, an option may not be exercised unkesshares issuable upon exercise of such
option are then registered under the SecuritiesoAdt such shares are not then so registeredCtimpany has determined that such exercise
and issuance would be exempt from the registraggnirements of the Securities Act.

7. COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

(a) During the terms of the options granted underRlan, the Company shall keep available atrakdithe number of shares of stock requ
to satisfy such options.

(b) The Company shall seek to obtain from eachlatgry commission or agency having jurisdiction iotree Plan such authority as may be
required to issue and sell shares of stock uporcisesof the options granted under the Plan; PRDDHOWEVER, that this undertaking
shall not require the Company to register undeiStbeurities Act either the Plan, any option granteder the Plan, or any stock issued or
issuable pursuant to any such option. If, afteseeable efforts, the Company is unable to obtaimfany such regulatory commission or
agency the authority which counsel for the Compad@gms necessary for the lawful issuance and sal@®cdif under the Plan, the Company
shall be relieved from any liability for failure tssue and sell stock upon exercise of such options

8. USE OF PROCEEDS FROM STOCK.
Proceeds from the sale of stock pursuant to optjoasted under the Plan shall
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constitute general funds of the Company.
9. MISCELLANEOUS.

(a) Neither an optionee nor any person to whompdiow is transferred under subparagraph 6(d) fisatieemed to be the holder of, or to |
any of the rights of a holder with respect to, ahgres subject to such option unless and until pacon has satisfied all requirements for
exercise of the option pursuant to its terms.

(b) Throughout the term of any option granted panguo the Plan, the Company shall make availabtke holder of such option, not later
than one hundred twenty (120) days after the addsach of the Company's fiscal years during theoogerm, upon request, such financial
and other information regarding the Company as c@ap the annual report to the stockholders oftbmpany provided for in the Bylaws
the Company and such other information regardiegdbmpany as the holder of such option may reaspnedpest.

(c) Nothing in the Plan or in any instrument exedupursuant thereto shall confer upon any Non-Eyggdirector any right to continue in
the service of the Company or any Affiliate or $ladéflect any right of the Company, its Board orcétioolders or any Affiliate to terminate the
service of any Non-Employee Director with or withcause.

(d) No Non-Employee Director, individually or asrember of a group, and no beneficiary or othergecdaiming under or through him,
shall have any right, title or interest in or toyaption reserved for the purposes of the Plang@e to such shares of common stock, if any,
as shall have been reserved for him pursuant tppion granted to him.

(e) In connection with each option made pursuathédPlan, it shall be a
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condition precedent to the Company's obligatioissae or transfer shares to a Non-Employee Dirgotdio evidence the removal of any
restrictions on transfer, that such Non-Employee®or make arrangements satisfactory to the Coynfmimsure that the amount of any
federal or other withholding tax required to behhigld with respect to such sale or transfer, ohsamoval or lapse, is made available to the
Company for timely payment of such tax.

(f) As used in this Plan, "fair market value" meaas of any date, the value of the common sto¢cke@fCompany determined as follows:

(i) If the common stock is listed on any establ@lstock exchange or a national market system, dimoduwithout limitation the National

Market System of the National Association of Se@siDealers, Inc. Automated Quotation ("NASDAQYs&m, the Fair Market Value of a
share of common stock shall be the closing sales por such stock (or the closing bid, if no saleye reported) as quoted on such system ot
exchange (or the exchange with the greatest vohfrirading in common stock) on the last marketitrgaiay prior to the day of
determination, as reported in the Wall Street Jaluon such other source as the Board deems reliable

(i) If the common stock is quoted on the NASDAQsEm (but not on the National Market System thgreofs regularly quoted by a
recognized securities dealer but selling priceshateeported, the Fair Market Value of a shareamfimon stock shall be the mean between
the bid and asked prices for the common stock enast market trading day prior to the day of deiration, as reported in the Wall Street
Journal or such other source as the Board deemblel

(iii) In the absence of an established markettieraommon stock, the Fair Market Value shall bemteined in good faith by the Board.

10. ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN STOCK.



(a) If any change is made in the stock subjedb¢oRtlan, or subject to any option granted undePtha (through merger, consolidation,
reorganization, recapitalization, stock dividendjdend in property other than cash, stock sgliyidating dividend, combination of shares,
exchange of shares, change in corporate structwtherwise), the Plan and outstanding optionsvélbppropriately adjusted in the class(es)
and maximum number of shares subject to the Pldritenclass(es) and number of shares and pricghpee of stock subject to outstanding
options.

(b) In the event of: (1) a merger or consolidaiiomvhich the Company is not the surviving corparati(2) a reverse merger in which the
Company is the surviving corporation but the shafdee Company's common stock outstanding immeljigireceding the merger are
converted by virtue of the merger into other prope~hether in the form of securities, cash or othige; or (3) any other capital
reorganization in which more than fifty percent¥g0of the shares of the Company entitled to voteechanged, the time during which
options outstanding under the Plan may be exeraiali be accelerated and the options terminatedtieéxercised prior to such event.

11. AMENDMENT OF THE PLAN.

(a) The Board at any time, and from time to timeyramend the Plan, PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the Badrall not amend the plan
more than once every six (6) months, with respetté provisions of the Plan which relate to theamn, price and timing of grants, other
than to comport with changes in the Code, the Eygadretirement Income Security Act, or the rulesahnder. Except as provided in
paragraph 10 relating to adjustments upon chamge®ek, no amendment shall be effective unlessoapp by the stockholders of the
Company within twelve (12) months before or after adoption of the amendment, where the amendmént w

(i) Increase the number of shares which may bestssimder
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the Plan;

(il Modify the requirements as to eligibility fgrarticipation in the Plan (to the extent such modifon requires stockholder approval in or
for the Plan to comply with the requirements of &kLbb-3); or

(iii) Modify the Plan in any other way if such mdidation requires stockholder approval in ordertfoe Plan to comply with the requirements
of Rule 16b-3 or Section 162(m) of the Internal 8&ave Code.

(b) Rights and obligations under any option grartefibre any amendment of the Plan shall not beiregdy such amendment unless (i) the
Company requests the consent of the person to whemption was granted and
(i) such person consents in writing.

12. TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE PLAN.

(a) The Board may suspend or terminate the Planyatime. Unless sooner terminated, the Plan sdatiinate on November 26, 2005. No
options may be granted under the Plan while the Blauspended or after it is terminated.

(b) Rights and obligations under any option grantéde the Plan is in effect shall not be impaildsuspension or termination of the Plan,
except with the consent of the person to whom fitep was granted.

(c) The Plan shall terminate upon the occurrenangfof the events described in Section 10(b) above
13. EFFECTIVE DATE OF PLAN; CONDITIONS OF EXERCISE.

(a) The Plan shall become effective upon adoptiothb Board of Directors, subject to the conditsaibsequent that the Plan is approved by
the stockholders of the Company.

(b) No option granted under the Plan shall be esedcor exercisable unless
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and until the condition of subparagraph 13(a) abm®&been met.
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GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.
NONSTATUTORY STOCK OPTION

, Optior

GILEAD SCIENCES, INC. (the "Company"), pursuanit®1995 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Riwe "Plan”), has this day
granted to you, the optionee named above, an oftiipanrchase shares of the common stock of the @oynfihe "Common Stock™). This
option is not intended to qualify and will not edted as an "incentive stock option" within theamiag of Section 422 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to(tinee'Code").

The details of your option are as follows:

1. The total number of shares of Common Stock stilijethis option is ( ). Subject to theitations contained herein, this option
shall be exercisable with respect to each instaitrakown below on or after the date of earliest@se (vesting) applicable to such
installment, as follows:

NUMBER OF SHARES (INSTALLMENT) DATE OF EARLIEST EXE RCISE (VESTING)

2. (a) The exercise price of this option is $ ( Dollars and centytme.

(b) Payment of the exercise price is due in fult@sh upon exercise of all or any part of eactaliment which has become exercisable by
when the number of shares being purchased isHasslt 000 shares; when the number of shares bamefased is 1,000 or more shares, you
may elect to make payment of the exercise priceuade of the following alternatives, all as settHfanore fully in the Plan: (i) in cash upon
exercise; (ii) provided that the Company's stogbublicly traded, payment by delivery of share€ommon Stock already owned by you,
free and clear of any liens; or (iii) payment bycanbination of the methods set forth in clausearg (ii). Notwithstanding the foregoing, this
option may be exercised pursuant to a program dpedlunder Regulation T as promulgated by the Bé&aserve Board which results in
the receipt of cash (or check) by the Company pddhe issuance of Common Stock.

3. In no event may this option be exercised for mmyber of shares which would require the issuaheaything other than whole shar



4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary congalifnerein, this option may not be exercised untesshares issuable upon exercise of this
option are then registered under the SecuritiesoAtB33 (the "Securities Act") or, if such shaaes not then so registered, the Company has
determined that such exercise and issuance wouddrapt from the registration requirements of theusities Act.

5. The term of this option commences on the datedi@nd, unless sooner terminated as set fortwbet in the Plan, terminates on

(which date shall be ten (10)syleam the date this option is granted). In no ¢veay this option be exercised on

after the date on which it terminates. This opsball terminate prior to the expiration of its teas follows: three (3) months after the
termination of your service as a non-employee tlirear employee of or consultant to the Compangroaffiliate of the Company (as defined
in the Plan), for any reason or for no reason,asile

(a) such termination of service is due to your parent and total disability (within the meaning etc8on 422 (c)(6) of the Code), in which
event the option shall terminate on the earligheftermination date set forth above or one (1) j@bbwing such permanent and total
disability;

(b) such termination of service is due to your Hesit which event the option shall terminate onehdier of the termination date set forth
above or one (1) year after your death; or

(c) exercise of the option within three (3) mondffiter such termination of service would resultiability under Section 16(b) of the Securit
Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), in whaase the option will terminate on the earlieripfi{e termination date set forth above,
(i) the tenth (10th) day after the last date updrich exercise would result in such liability, @r)(six (6) months and ten (10) days after such
termination of service.

However, this option may be exercised followingtstermination of service only as to that numbestadres as to which it was exercisable on
the date of such termination under the provisidn@asagraph 1 of this option.

6. This option may be exercised, to the extentifipdabove, by delivering a notice of exercisedthgr with the exercise price to the
Secretary of the Company, or to such other persasheaCompany may designate, during regular businesrs, together with such additional
documents as the Company may then require purtmiaanbparagraph 6(f) of the Plan.

7. This option is not transferable except by wiiif,the laws of descent and distribution or purstarat qualified domestic relations order
satisfying the requirements of Rule 16b-3 of thel&nge Act, and is exercisable during your lifeydsn you or a transferee pursuant to a
qualified domestic relations order. Notwithstandihg foregoing, you may, by delivering written metito the Company in a form satisfactory
to the Company, designate a third party who, inetvent of your death, shall thereafter be entitteeixercise this option.
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8. This option is not an employment or consultiggeement and nothing in this option shall be deetoenleate in any way whatsoever any
obligation on your part to continue in the sernaéehe Company, or of the Company to continue ygarvice with the Company.

9. Any notices provided for in this option or thiafPshall be given in writing and shall be deemféelctively given upon receipt or, in the ci
of notices delivered by the Company to you, fivedays after deposit in the United States mailtgmyes prepaid, addressed to you at the
address specified below or at such other addregsuakereafter designate by written notice to then@any.

10. This option is subject to all the provisiongtod Plan, a copy of which is attached hereto tmgrovisions are hereby made a part of this
option, including without limitation the provisiond paragraph 6 of the Plan relating to option @iwns, and is further subject to all
interpretations, amendments, rules and regulatidrish may from time to time be promulgated and @ddpursuant to the Plan. In the event
of any conflict between the provisions of this optand those of the Plan, the provisions of the Bhall control.

Dated , 19

Very truly yours,
GILEAD SCIENCES, INC.

By:

John C. Martin
President and Chief Executive Officer
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The undersigned:

(a) Acknowledges receipt of the foregoing optiod anderstands that all rights and liabilities witlspect to this option are set forth in the
option and the Plan; and

(b) Acknowledges that as of the date of grant f diption, it sets forth the entire understandiegnteen the undersigned optionee and the
Company and its affiliates regarding the acquisitid stock in the Company and supersedes all prairand written agreements on that
subject with the exception of any stock options/fmesly granted to the optionee by the Company,taedollowing agreements only [if
none, so state]:

NONE

(Initial)

OTHER

Optionee

Address:




NOTICE OF EXERCISE

Gilead Sciences, Inc.

333 Lakeside Drive Date of

Foster City, CA 94404 Exercis e:
Attn: Corporate Secretary

Ladies and Gentlemen:
This constitutes notice under my Nonstatutory SiOpkion that | elect to purchase the number ofehéor the price set forth below.

Stock Option dated:

Number of shares as to
which option is exercised:

Certificates to be
issued in name of:

Total exercise price:  $
Cash payment delivered
herewith: $

Value of stock payment
delivered herewith: $

By this exercise, | agree to provide such addificle@uments as you may require pursuant to thestefithe 1995 Non-Employee Directors'
Stock Option Plan.

Very truly yours,

Signature:

Printed Name:




CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE COMMISSION.
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH RESEZT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.

PATENT RIGHTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Patent Rights Purchase Agreement (this "Agesefhis made and entered into as of Decemberd®3 {the "Effective Date") between
Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Isis"), and GileadeBckes, Inc. ("Gilead").

1. DEFINITIONS.

1.1 "Cationic Lipid" means those compounds desdriheJnited States Patent Nos. 5,777,153 and 5885 United States Patent Applicat
Serial No. 08/672,206; and European Patent Apjtindtio. 97931462.2, to the extent such compounelsiar Codeblocker Compounds.

1.2 "Codeblocker Compound" means an oligonucledhdébinds directly to DNA or RNA within a cell @anselective basis determined by
nucleotide sequence of the target DNA or RNA argftsxts biological activity predominantly througmding to DNA or RNA to inhibit the
transcription or replication of the target DNA oKNR or binding to RNA to inhibit the translation,qaessing, packaging or regulatory activity
of the target RNA. A Codeblocker Compound may &laee a mechanism of action or biological activitiyes than one conferred through
direct binding to RNA or DNA provided that (i) ttempound originally was designed to bind a targdAlbr RNA and (i) the final
compound or any compounds used to derive the émapound were not identified using selective paaifion and polymerase amplification
in any fashion. An oligonucleotide, is any oligoneempolymer made up [***] An oligonucleotide incled RNA or DNA fragments, and may
be composed of naturally occurring or non-naturatigurring bases, sugars or intersugar linkagesoligonucleotide may have the bases,
sugars or intersugar linkages partially or compjeddsent. Oligonucleotides may be made such tjatant nucleoside or nucleoside
fragments are linked together by phosphate groupsodlified or non-naturally occurring internucletssilinkages to form the internucleoside
backbone of the oligomer, whether or not such lij@saretain a phosphorous atom in the linkage.

1.3 "Oligonucleotide Delivery System" means anyieartargeting entity, excipient, formulation, des, prodrug, covalent or noncovalent
conjugate, encapsulating vesicle, microcapsuleranimr nanosphere, emulsion, or microemulsiond|ifposome, virosome, or artificial vial
envelope which was developed by Gilead on or padhe Effective Date, and which (i) enhances #ltutar penetration or circulating half-
life of a Codeblocker Compound, (ii) selectivelyliders a Codeblocker compound to the intended targsue, cell or subcellular
compartment, (iii) provides sustained release G@bdeblocker Compound from a depot formulation,\grdtherwise favorably alters the
absorption, distribution, metabolism or excretidra@odeblocker Compound so as to enhance its @walogical activity of clinical value.
"Oligonucleotide Delivery System" includes catiohjids.

[***] = CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEE N OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE
COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUEST ED WITH RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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1.4 "Patent Rights" means the patents and patg@titapons listed in Exhibit A attached hereto.
2. ASSIGNMENTS AND LICENSES.

2.1 Gilead hereby sells and assigns to Isis aBitedfad's right, title and interest in Patent Rigktshject to the rights of Glaxo Wellcome Inc.
("Glaxo") under the Collaborative Research Agreenhbetween Glaxo and Gilead dated March 25, 1996 "@laxo Agreement"), provided
however, that the assignment of U.S. Patent Nurb2&6,775 shall be subject to the condition presetiat Gilead settle the interference
involving this patent on conditions of Gilead's obimg (including conceding priority). Gilead hergjnants Isis an exclusive, royalty-free,
worldwide, assignable license (with the right targrsublicenses) to U.S. Patent Number 5,256,7gmbiag on the Effective Date and
continuing until such time that Gilead settlesititerference and the assignment to Isis becomestafé.

2.2 Gilead hereby assigns and delegates to Isibl§&accepts and agrees to perform) all of Gigeaghts and obligations under the License
Agreement between Glen Research Corporation ("®&search”) and Gilead dated January 1, 1994 anddeden November 19, 1996. A
copy of the written consent to such assignmentdabeigation signed by Glen Research is attacheddchaseExhibit B. In the event that Isis,
by reason of this Agreement, is required to indéyn@ien Research under Section 8.1 (b) of the Research License Agreement, Gilead
will indemnify Isis up to a maximum amount equabiwe hundred percent (100%) of total royaltiesikexkby Gilead from Glen Research;
thereafter, Gilead will not have any indemnity ghlions to Isis related to such Agreement. Giledldoantinue to honor its obligations to
Glen Research for activities preceding the Effecidate of this Agreement.

2.3 Subject to the rights of Glen Research abaig hereby grants to Gilead an exclusive, perpgitualocable, royalty-free, worldwide,
assignable license (with the right to grant subnlées) to directly or indirectly make, have made, iraport, export or sell compounds and
other subject matter falling within the scope ofdPé& Rights which are [***]

2.4 Gilead hereby grants to Isis a nonexclusivepgtaal, royalty-free, worldwide, assignable licefwith the right to grant sublicenses) to
compounds and other subject matter which are withérscope of Patent Rights, solely for use asrradiates in the manufacture of
Codeblocker Compounds or oligomers [***]

2.5 Isis hereby grants to Gilead a non-exclusiea-sublicensable, non-assignable, perpetual, ioaie, royalty-free, worldwide license
under Patent Rights to make and use Codeblockep@oanas and Oligonucleotide Delivery Systems fogrimal research purposes, but not
for any commercial purpose.

2.6 Isis will not have any obligations to Gileathtang to Codeblocker Compounds or this Agreemenhé extent arising prior to the
Effective Date.

[***] = CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEE N OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE
COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUEST ED WITH RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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2.7 Each party hereby agrees to execute such dotsmed to take such other actions as shall bessapeor appropriate to effectuate the
assignments and licenses set forth in this Se@tion

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES BY GILEAD.
Gilead makes the following representations and avdies to Isis, each of which will survive the Etige Date:

3.1 To the best of Gilead's knowledge, the PatétitR include all of the patents and patent apptica owned or controlled by Gilead on or
prior to the Effective Date that cover Codeblockempounds and Oligonucleotide Delivery Systemsr thanufacture or use. There are no
other US or unpublished foreign filings owned ontrolled by Gilead filed prior to the Effective Raivhich claim Codeblocker Compounds
or Oligonucleotide Delivery Systems other thanetdarth in Exhibit A, nor does Gilead have anyganet intention to make such filings. If
Gilead becomes aware of any patents or patentcapiplns that (i) are owned or controlled by Gile@jl claim inventions made prior to the
Effective Date, (iii) cover Codeblocker Compoundgdigonucleotide Delivery Systems, and (iv) ar¢ included in Exhibit A, Gilead will
promptly notify Isis in writing and execute apprigpe documents to transfer such patents and papgfications to Isis.

3.2 Gilead represents and Isis acknowledges thtitgiGlaxo Agreement remains in effect and Gilead Glaxo have ongoing rights and
obligations thereunder, modified to the extent #madly set forth in this Agreement and (ii) thdggreement is not an assignment of Gilead's
rights or obligations under the Glaxo Agreement toad Isis assumes no rights or obligations to Glander this Agreement. Gilead
represents that the Research Term and all righligadions and funding relating thereto under thax@ Agreement have been terminated.
Gilead will not enter into any future amendmentgii® Glaxo Agreement which in any way affect tlghts of Isis hereunder.

3.3 The Glaxo Agreement and the license to Glere&eb referenced in Section 2.2 above are thelimelyses and Gilead is not aware of
other third party rights of any kind affecting tRatent Rights. Except with respect to U.S. Patemhber 5,256,775, which is subject to an
interference proceeding, the Patent Rights ar¢hmosubject of any pending interference, cancelatir other protest proceeding not
otherwise known to Isis, or otherwise subject gints or obligations to any third party other thdax® and Glen Research. The complete
terms and conditions of such rights and obligatiefating to Glaxo and Glen Research have beetodist to Isis.

3.4 There are no Collaboration Compounds (as d&fin&ection 1.7 of the Glaxo Agreement) and noeeevdeveloped during the Research
Term under the Glaxo Agreement. Gilead does notamyeroyalties to Glaxo or any third party under @laxo Agreement nor does Gilead
have any known or pending claims against Glaxarayisut of the Glaxo Agreement. To the best of &ile knowledge, (i) Glaxo does not
owe any royalties to Gilead or any third party urithe Glaxo Agreement, (ii) nor does Glaxo have lamywn or pending claims against
Gilead arising out of the Glaxo Agreement.



4. TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER.

4.1 Gilead and Isis will cooperate in the filingdagxecution of any and all documents necessarffé¢otaate the assignment to Isis of the
Patent Rights, including the filing of assignmemt®ther transfer of title covenants with the UP&tent and Trademark Office and foreign
patent offices as applicable to the Patent Righithin thirty (30) days from the Effective Date,l&d will notify all attorneys handling the
prosecution of the Patent Rights to contact thePsitent Department to provide an immediate stgidate on the Patent Rights and to pre
the documents necessary to transfer the PatentsRiglsis. The cost of recording assignments efRatent Rights will be borne by Isis.
Within forty-five (45) days from the Effective Dat&ilead and its counsel will use their reasonalelst efforts to transfer all files and
supporting documents relating to the Patent Ritghtsis, including but not limited to, all initiahvention disclosure documents, all docum:
sent to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office régaiidventions and claims, all draft patent applaas, all filing or prosecution documents
submitted to the patent offices, and all file wraggp Conception notebooks and all other documaerttsei possession or under the control of
Gilead or its counsel relating to conception andéoluction to practice, such as scientist notebsbldi be obtained in accord with Gilead's
ordinary document retention and made availablsitoupon Isis' reasonable request. All documenietprovided to Isis hereunder are to be
sent by expedited delivery service.

4.2 Gilead will make appropriate scientific stafadable to Isis for a scientific tutorial on thetgect matter of this Agreement, such tutorial
not to exceed more than [***] from Gilead's staffdanot to obligate Gilead to disclose any thirdypaonfidential information.

5. PATENT MAINTENANCE AND PROSECUTION RESPONSIBILIES.

5.1 On and after the Effective Date, Isis will taksponsibility for any action or proceeding inviaty Patent Rights. The cost of recording the
assignment of Patent Rights shall be borne solelgib. If Isis elects not to take such respongibihvolving Patent Right(s) in a particular
country then Isis will timely notify Gilead and Gla30 days before the time future action is dud, thereafter Gilead or Glaxo shall
undertake such responsibility. If Gilead or Glakeces to do so, Isis will grant any necessary attthto Gilead. Gilead will determine
whether Gilead or Glaxo shall take such resporisitit their expense. Isis assumes no obligatioBlexo as a result of its agreement with
Gilead in this Section 5.1.

5.2 NOTICE OF INFRINGEMENT. Isis shall promptly ifgtGilead in writing of any infringement of anysigned Patent Right(s) of which
it becomes aware.

5.3 ENFORCEMENT OF PATENTS. Except as otherwisdath in this Section, Isis may, but shall notrbquired to, prosecute any alleged
infringement or threatened infringement of any gssd Patent Right(s) of which it is aware or whikbrought to its attention. Isis shall ac

its own name and at its own expense. If Isis higsddo prosecute under the first sentence ofghrsgraph with respect to alleged or
threatened infringement

[***] = CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEE N OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE
COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUEST ED WITH RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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relating to any Patent Right(s) (i) two months @aftdas been notified in writing of such allegadringement, or (ii) one month before the
time limit, if any, set forth in the appropriateMs and regulations for the filing of such actiowsjchever comes first, Gilead (or at its election
Glaxo) may, but shall not be required to, proseamtesuch alleged infringement or threatened igment of a Patent within the Patent
Rights. In any such event, Gilead or Glaxo shalirbe to act in its own name and at its own expense

Notwithstanding the foregoing and as between thiégsa Gilead shall have the sole and exclusivietrif enforcement with respect to a
alleged or threatened infringement of any rightwaitthe scope of the license granted in

Section 2.3 of this Agreement. Isis shall coopefiallg with Gilead or Glaxo in any action by Gilead Glaxo, respectively, under this
paragraph, including if required in order to brgwgch an action, the furnishing of a power of aggrn

6. INDEMNITY AND WARRANTY.

6.1 Indemnity by Isis. Isis will indemnify, saveefénd and hold Gilead and its agents, directorseamoloyees harmless from and against any
and all suits, claims, actions, demands, liabditiexpenses and/or loss, including reasonable éegense and attorneys fees, resulting from
activities under this agreement by lsis.

6.2 INDEMNITY BY GILEAD. Gilead will indemnify, sag, defend and hold Isis and its agents, directodseanployees harmless from and
against any and all suits, claims, actions, demdiadslities, expenses and/or loss, including oreble legal expense and attorney fees,
resulting from (i) Gilead's, Gilead's sublicensee'Silead's assignee's activities under the liespsovided for in Sections 2.3 and 2.5; (ii)
Gilead's contractual obligations to third partiesliding Glaxo and Glen Research, except to thengéxésulting from Isis’ activities under tl
Agreement; or (iii) Gilead's exercise of the Patights prior to the Effective Date.

6.3 WARRANTY. Gilead warrants that it has suffidigight and title to enter into and to performatdigations under this Agreement.
EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, EHPARTIES DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES OF ANY NATURE,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF VALIDITY, MERCHANTABILITY,
NONINFRINGEMENT, AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURFSE.

7. CONFIDENTIALITY. Confidential Information undehe terms of this Agreement is all information tielg to the Patent Rights sold,
assigned or licensed to Isis under Section 2.ltfaad echnology Transfer to Isis by Gilead undertiBact.1. Gilead agrees to treat the
Confidential Information as confidential and to g and maintain the confidentiality thereof. Gidewill use at least the same standard of
care as it uses to protect its own Confidentiabimfation to ensure that its employees, agentscansultants do not disclose or make any
unauthorized use of such Confidential Informati@ilead will promptly notify Isis upon discovery afy unauthorized use or disclosure of
Confidential Information. Confidential Informatiamill not include any information which is generallyailable to the public, is otherwise
of the public domain other than through any aatraission of Gilead in breach of this Agreementwbich is required to be disclosed by law
or contract entered into



prior to this Agreement (provided that Isis shall/é notice thereof in advance so that it can aptdtect its interests should it decide to do
S0).

8. CONSIDERATION. Isis shall pay Gilead the followgi noncontingent, non-refundable cash paymentem@sderation for the assignments
provided for in this Agreement: $2,000,000 on tlife&ive Date, $1,000,000 on the first anniversairthe Effective Date, $1,000,000 on the
second anniversary of the Effective Date, and $2@I on the third anniversary of the Effective®dor total payments of $6,000,000. In
the event that Isis defaults on any of these paysnafter thirty (30) days notice and an opportutstcure, then ownership of all Patent
Rights will automatically revert to Gilead and lgidl take all actions reasonably requested by &illéor such purposes, including, without
limitation, signing and delivering any applicabks@nments and other documents. Isis shall bdeghtit no damages exceeding the
consideration set forth in this Section 8 for angured claim against Gilead respecting Gilead'fop®ance or representations hereunder.

9. NOTICES. Notices under this Agreement shallifécgent only if personally delivered, deliveregt B major commercial rapid delivery
courier service, facsimile or mailed by certifiedregistered mail, return receipt requested, targyat its addresses set forth as follows:

If to Isis: Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
2292 Faraday Avenue
Carlsbad, CA 92008
Attn: Executive Vice President, CFO
Facsimile: (760) 431-9448

If to Gilead:  Gilead Sciences, Inc.
333 Lakeside Drive
Foster City, CA 94404
Attn: Vice President, Intellectu al Property
Facsimile: (650) 577-6622

If to Glaxo: Glaxo Wellcome, Inc.
Five Moore Drive
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709
Attn: Company Secretary
Facsimile: (919) 483-0265

10. MISCELLANEOUS. If any provision of this Agreemteshall be adjudged by any court of competensgliction to be unenforceable or
invalid, that provision shall be limited or elimiea to the minimum extent necessary to continweffert the intent of the parties, and this
Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force afigct and enforceable. Any waivers or amendmemadi be effective only if made in
writing and signed by a representative of the rethpe parties authorized to bind the parties. Bagseement shall be governed by the laws of
the State of Delaware, excluding conflicts-of-lasinpiples. This Agreement is the complete and esigkistatement of the mutual
understanding of the parties and supersedes awélsall previous written and oral agreements amdnounications relating to the subject
matter of this



Agreement, excluding the Confidential Disclosure@@ment between the parties dated July 29, 1998.

7.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlgiseement as of the day and year first indicatea/ab

ISIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. GILEAD SCI ENCES, INC.

By: By:

Printed: printed:

Tide: Title: S

Address: 2292 Faraday Avenue Address: 3 33 Lakeside Drive
Carlsbad, CA 92008 F oster City, CA 94404
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EXHIBIT B
December 16, 1998
VIA FACSIMILE AND COURIER

Hugh Mackie, Ph.D.

Glen Research Corporation
22825 Dawvis Drive

Sterling, VA 20164

RE: ASSIGNMENT OF LICENSE AGREEMENT
Dear Hugh:

As we discussed today by phone, Gilead has negdtaPatent Rights Purchase Agreement with Isisfiweuticals, Inc. ("Isis"), a
biopharmaceutical company based in Carlsbad, Gaidppursuant to which Gilead will assign all t&f antisense patent rights to Isis. As part
of this Agreement, Gilead will be assigning to Isie License Agreement between Gilead and GlendRes€orporation dated January 1,
1994, as amended November 19, 1996 (the "Licenseehgent"). The purpose of this letter is to obthaformal consent of Glen Research
Corporation to the proposed assignment of the Isegkgreement to Isis, as required by Section et icense Agreement. Please indicate
your consent to the assignment by executing andglttis letter in the space indicated below ardrréng it to my attention via facsimile
(650) 5775488. When you receive the original copy of thielgplease execute and date it (using the samg aledereturn it to me by courie

We would be happy to discuss the proposed assignmemre detail with you, or put you in touch wabpropriate people at Isis. Please ¢
me a call at (650) 573-4772, or John Milligan &8Qp5734756, if you have any questions. Thank you for yymampt response to this matt

Very truly yours,

Jeffrey W. Bird, M.D., Ph.D.
Senior Vice President, Business Operations

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:
Glen Research Corporation

By

Name:
Title:

Date:



Exhibit 10.48
THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE

This Third Amendment (the "AMENDMENT") to Lease Agment is made as of August 14, 1998, by and betBB¢EKER PROPERTIES,
L.P., a California limited partnership ("SPIEKER&s successor in interest to WCB SEVENTEEN LIMITEBRTNERSHIP, a Delaware
limited partnership and GILEAD SCIENCES, INC., al®®eare limited corporation ("GILEAD").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Spieker, as Landlord, and Gilead, as Tetave entered into that certain Lease dated M2r¢ii992, amended by Amendment
No. 1, dated October 11, 1993, and amended by AmentNo. 2, dated June 24, 1996 with respect toesipathe Building commonl
known as 331, 344B, 346, and 353 Lakeside Drivetd¥cCity, California.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as folli
1. AMENDMENT OF BASIC LEASE INFORMATION. Those paons, as set forth below, are hereby added to #HwcB ease Information:
PREMISES AND BUILDING:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 Approxi mately 17,371 rentable

square feet ("Additional
Premise s"), as outlined on
Exhibit A to this Amendment

PERMITTED USE:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 General office use only
OCCUPANCY DENSITY:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 4/1,000 rentable square feet
PARKING DENSITY:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 4/1,000 rentable square feet
TERM COMMENCEMENT:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 Novembe r1, 1998, or as soon

as Land lord can deliver
Premise s, whichever occurs
first

TERM EXPIRATION:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 March 3 1, 2006

BASE RENT:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 $39,953 .30 per month

The Base Rent for the Additional Premises shalhbeeased annually on each anniversary of the T@asmmencement of this Third
Amendment to an amount equal to $39,953.30 mudtipliy a fraction, the numerator of which is the €loner Price Index, All Urban
Consumers, San Francisco, Oakland, and San Jddeshma by the United States Department of LabareBu of Statistics (1982-84=100) as
of the month immediately preceding the current Atliuent Date, and the denominator of which is thexras of the month immediately
preceding the Commencement Date. There will berénmim annual increase of 3% and a maximum annaadase of 5%. Adjustment Date
is defined as the anniversary date of the Term Cenuament.

INITIAL ESTIMATED MONTHLY OPERATING
EXPENSES AND PROPERTY TAXES:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 $12,854 .54 per month
TENANT'S PERCENTAGE SHARE:

355 Lakeside Drive, Suites 200 & 210 31.45%

LANDLORD'S ADDRESS FOR NOTICE:

Spieker Properties, L.P.



393 Vintage Park Drive, Suite 200
Foster City, CA 94404

2. ADDITION TO PREMISES. Tenant shall accept thed&idnal Premises in its "-is" condition.



Third Amendment to Lease, dated 8/14/98
Page 2

3. TENANT IMPROVEMENTS. Per the terms and condii@s outlined in Exhibit B ease Improvement Agreement, Tenant shall rec
one time tenant improvement allowance not to ex8d€®,000. The tenant improvement allowance shiyl be used for improvements to
Additional Premises.

4. SECURITY DEPOSIT. Notwithstanding anything te tontrary contained in Paragraph 15 of the Lahsesecurity deposit shall not be
less than $300,000 during the term of this Lease.

5. Except as modified by this Amendment, all prionis of the Lease, First Amendment to Lease andrge&mendment to Lease shall
remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettliss Amendment as of the date first written above

G LEAD: SPI EKER:
G LEAD SCI ENCES, | NC. SPI EKER PROPERTI ES, L. P.
a Del aware corporation a California limted partnership
BY: /s/ Mark L. Perry By: Spi eker Properties, Inc.
-------------------------- a Maryl and corporation,
Mark L. Perry its general partner
Its: Sr. Vice President, Chief By: /s/ Peter H. Schnugg
Financial Oficer and = e
General Counsel Peter H. Schnugg

Its: Senior Vice President
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EXHIBIT B
LEASE IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT

This Lease Improvement Agreement ("IMPROVEMENT AGREENT") sets forth the terms and conditions relgtio construction of the
initial tenant improvements described in the Pkanise prepared and approved as provided below BB ANT IMPROVEMENTS") in the
Premises.

1. PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

1.1 Tenant shall retain the services of a spaagmpla(the "SPACE PLANNER"), to be determined arldette, to prepare a detailed space
(the "SPACE PLAN") mutually satisfactory to Landiceind Tenant for the construction of the Tenantrowgments in the Premises. Tenant
shall submit the Space Plan and any proposed oegishereto to Landlord for Landlord's approval.

1.2 Based on the approved Space Plan, Tenantcshale the Space Planner to prepare detailed glasifications and working drawings
mutually satisfactory to Landlord and Tenant fa ttonstruction of the Tenant Improvements (the "RBA). Landlord and Tenant shall
diligently pursue the preparation of the Plans.argrshall submit the Plans and any proposed renggioereto, including the estimated cost of
the Tenant Improvements. All necessary revisiorteédSpace Plan and the Plans shall be made vithif2) business days after Landlord's
response thereto. This procedure shall be repeatédd_andlord ultimately approves the Space Plad Blans.

1.3 Tenant shall be responsible for ensuring theaPians are compatible with the design, consbmeihd equipment of the Building, comply
with applicable Regulations and the Standardsriddfbelow), and contain all such information as t@yequired to show locations, types
and requirements for all heat loads, people lofalsy, loads, power and plumbing, regular and sgddi4AC needs, telephone
communications, telephone and electrical outlehtihg, light fixtures and related power, and &lieal and telephone switches, B.T.U.
calculations, electrical requirements and speeiegptacle requirements. The Plans shall also inaluelchanical, electrical, plumbing,
structural and engineering drawings mutually satigry to Landlord and Tenant which shall be pregdry the mechanical contractor or
contractors, to be determined at a later date. Nottanding Landlord's preparation, review and apak of the Space Plan and the Plans and
any revisions thereto, Landlord shall have no rasjimlity or liability whatsoever for any errors omissions contained in the Space Plan or
Plans or any revisions thereto, or to verify dimens or conditions, or for the quality, design onmliance with applicable Regulations of
any improvements described therein or constructeatcordance therewith. Tenant hereby waives ailind against Landlord relating to, or
arising out of the design or construction of, tlemdnt Improvements.

1.4 Landlord may approve or disapprove the Spaae & Plans or any proposed revision thereto suédiio Landlord in Landlord's
reasonable discretion. Landlord shall not be deaimé@ve approved the Space Plan, the Plans, gorappsed revisions thereto, unless
approved by Landlord in writing. Landlord shall apye or disapprove any Space Plan, Plans or prdp@sgsions thereto submitted to
Landlord for Landlord's approval within five (5) &finess days after Landlord's receipt thereof.

2. SPECIFICATIONS FOR STANDARD TENANT IMPROVEMENTS.

2.1 Specifications and quantities of standard lImgldomponents which will comprise and be usedédonstruction of the Tenant
Improvements ("STANDARDS") are set forth in SCHEDEJLL to this EXHIBIT B. As used herein, "STANDARDSI "BUILDING
STANDARDS" shall mean the standards for a particitéan selected from time to time by Landlord fbe Building, including those set foi
on SCHEDULE 1 of this EXHIBIT B, or such other sti@nds of equal or better quality as may be mutusdleed between Landlord and
Tenant in writing.

2.2 No deviations from the Standards are permitted.
3. TENANT IMPROVEMENT COST.

3.1 The cost of the Tenant Improvements shall lie foa by Tenant, including, without limitation,etcost of: Standards; space plans and
studies; architectural and engineering fees; psrrajiprovals and other governmental fees; labarenal equipment and supplies;
construction fees and other amounts payable toachots or subcontractors; taxes; off-site improgets; remediation and preparation of the
Premises for construction of the Tenant Improvesidaaies; filing and recording fees; premiums fauirance and bonds; attorneys' fees;
financing costs; and all other costs expended betexpended in the construction of the Tenant dwgments. Tenant shall reimburse
Landlord for actual expenses, estimated to be appedely $1,500, which Landlord may incur in conti@e with the Tenant Improvements.

3.2 Provided Tenant is not in material default urttle Lease, including this Improvement Agreemeandlord shall contribute a one-time
tenant improvement allowance not to exceed $100(0CBNANT IMPROVEMENT ALLOWANCE") toward the costfdhe initial Tenant
Improvements. Provided Tenant is not then in maltelefault under the Lease, including this ImproeatmAgreement, Landlord shall
disburse the Tenant Improvement Allowance to Teoaoh completion of construction of the Tenant lay@ments and expiration of the ti
for filing of any mechanics' liens claimed or whietight be filed on account of any work ordered lenant or its contractor or any
subcontractor, and upon receipt by Landlord ofréifamte of completion executed by the Space Réarmamd Tenant's contractor, and
unconditional mechanics' lien releases (which meicisalien releases shall be executed by the sutamiars, labor suppliers and materialr
in addition to Tenant's contractor), in each cageim and substance reasonably satisfactory talbas, and all appropriate bills ai



supporting documentation for the work ordered bgalg or its contractor or any subcontractor.
3.3 No credit shall be given to Tenant if the aafsthe Tenant Improvements is less than the Temamtovement Allowance.
4. CONSTRUCTION OF TENANT IMPROVEMENTS.

4.1 Within ten (10) days after Tenant's and Laraioapproval of the Plans including the estimatthefcost of the Tenant Improvements and
Landlord's receipt of payment of any such estimated exceeding the amount of the Tenant Improvéimkowance, Tenant shall cause the
contractor to proceed to secure a building permdt@@mmence construction of the Tenant Improvemamigided that the Building has in
Landlord's reasonable discretion reached the sthgenstruction where it is appropriate to commermastruction of the Tenant
Improvements in the Premises.

4.2 Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining allegnmental approvals to the full extent neces&arthe construction and installation of the
Tenant Improvements and for Tenant's occupandgeoPtremises, in compliance with all applicable Raipns.



Tenant shall employ a contractor or contractorbe@pproved by Landlord in writing, to construw Tenant Improvements in conformance
with the approved Space Plan and Plans. The catistnuicontracts between Tenant and the approvettamdar shall be subject to Landlord's
prior reasonable approval and shall provide fogpees payments. The contractor(s) shall be dubnsed and Landlord's approval of the
contractor(s) shall be conditioned, among othergi upon the contractor's reputation for qualftwork, timeliness of performance, integr
and Landlord's prior experience with such contnacto

4.3 Landlord shall not be liable for any directimirect damages suffered by Tenant as a resulelafys in construction beyond Landlord's
reasonable control, including, but not limiteddelays due to strikes or unavailability of matexiaf labor, or delays caused by Tenant
(including delays by the Space Planner, the cottrar anyone else performing services on behalfesfant).

4.4 All work to be performed on the Premises bydrgror Tenant's contractor or agents shall be stutgehe following conditions:

(&) Such work shall proceed upon Landlord's writipproval of Tenant's contractor, and public lipénd property damage insurance
carried by Tenant's contractor, and shall furthrestbject to the provisions of Paragraph 8 of thaske.

(b) All work shall be done in conformity with a v@building permit when required, a copy of whidtalt be furnished to Landlord before
such work is commenced, and in any case, all surk shall be performed in a good and workmanlike frst-class manner, and in
accordance with all applicable Regulations and-diggiirements and standards of any insurance uniiegvboard, inspection bureau or
insurance carrier insuring the Premises pursuatitetd.ease. Notwithstanding any failure by Landlrebject to any such work, Landlord
shall have no responsibility for Tenant's failuwecomply with all applicable Regulations. Tenaralkhe responsible for ensuring that
construction and installation of the Tenant Impraeats will not affect the structural integrity it Building.

(c) If required by Landlord or any lender of Landipall work by Tenant or Tenant's contractor shalldone with union labor in accordance
with all union labor agreements applicable to tiaglés being employed.

(d) Landlord or Landlord's agents shall have thatrio inspect the construction of the Tenant Inaproents by Tenant during the progress
thereof. If Landlord shall give notice of faultyresiruction or any other deviation from the appro$géce Plan or Plans, Tenant shall cau:
contractor to make corrections promptly. Howeveither the privilege herein granted to Landloranake such inspections, nor the making
of such inspections by Landlord, shall operate asiaer of any right of Landlord to require gooddamorkmanlike construction and
improvements erected in accordance with the appr®gace Plan or Plans.

(e) Tenant shall cause its contractor to completelienant Improvements as soon as reasonably [gssib

(f) Tenant's construction of the Tenant Improversethiall comply with the following: (i) the Tenamyprovements shall be constructed in
strict accordance with the approved Space PlaramisP(ii) Tenant's and its contractor shall sutsohtedules of all work relating to the
Tenant Improvements to Landlord for Landlord's appt within fifteen (15) business days followingethelection of the contractor and the
approval of the Plans. Landlord shall within fiv® business days after receipt thereof inform Tepnaany changes which are necessary and
Tenant's contractor shall adhere to such corressteedule; and (iii) Tenant shall abide by all rutesde by Landlord with respect to the us
freight, loading dock, and service elevators, gferaf materials, coordination of work with the aators of other tenants, and any other
matter in connection with this Improvement Agreemearciuding, without limitation, the constructiar the Tenant Improvements.

(g) Tenant or Tenant's contractor or agents sinahge for necessary utility, hoisting and elevagnvice with Landlord's contractor and shall
pay such reasonable charges for such servicesyaberzharged by Tenant's or Landlord's contractor.

(h) Tenant's entry to the Premises for any purpaskjding, without limitation, inspection or perfoance of Tenant construction by Tenant's
agents, prior to the date Tenant's obligation toneat commences shall be subject to all the temasconditions of the Lease except the
payment of Rent. Tenant's entry shall mean entrydmant, its officers, contractors, licensees, egeservants, employees, guests, invitees, ot
visitors.

() Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord up@mtind for any reasonable expense actually inclnyede Landlord by reason of faulty
work done by Tenant or its contractors or by reasfcemy delays caused by such work, or by reasamaafequate clean-up.

()) Tenant hereby indemnifies and holds Landlordhiiass with respect to any and all costs, lossawages, injuries and liabilities relating in
any way to any act or omission of Tenant or Tesatthtractor or agents, or anyone directly or extly employed by any of them, in
connection with the Tenant Improvements and angdit®f Tenant's obligations under this Improvenfgreement, or in connection with
Tenant's non-payment of any amount arising ouh@fftenant Improvements. Such indemnity by Tenageaforth above, shall also apply
with respect to any and all costs, losses, damagjesies, and liabilities related in any way toriddord's performance or any ministerial acts
reasonably necessary (i) to permit Tenant to cormple Tenant Improvements, and (ii) to enable fietmobtain any building permit or
certificate of occupancy for the Premises.

(k) Tenant shall use its best efforts to contrdbtuaquire its contractor and the subcontractdilized by Tenant's contractor to guarantee to
Tenant and for the benefit of Landlord that thetiporof the Tenant Improvements for which it ispessible shall be free from any defects in
workmanship and materials for a period of not tbss one (1) year from the date of completion therfeursuant to such guarantee, each of
Tenant's contractor and the subcontractors utiliBe@ienant's contractor shall be responsible ferréplacement or repair, without additio



charge, of all work done or furnished in accordanith its contract that shall become defective withne (1) year after the later to occur of

(i) completion of the work performed by such coatea of subcontractors and

(i) the Term Commencement Date. The correctiosuath work shall include, without additional chargk additional expenses and damages
incurred in connection with such removal or reptaeat of all or any part of the Tenant Improvemeatsl/or the Building and/or common
areas that may be damaged or disturbed therebgntehall use its best efforts to ensure thatuah svarranties or guarantees as to materials
or workmanship of or with respect to the Tenantdompments shall be contained in the constructiariraat or subcontract and shall be
written such that such guarantees or warrantiesishge to the benefit of both Landlord and Tena# their repective interests may appear,
and can be directly enforced by either. Tenant cawts to give to Landlord any assignment or otksugnces which may be necessary to
effect such rights of direct enforcement.

5. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.

5.1 All of Tenant's contractors shall carry work@ompensation insurance covering all of theireeipe employees, and shall also carry
public liability insurance, including property dage all with limits, in form and with companiesa® required to be carried by Tenant as set
forth in the Lease



5.2 Tenant shall carry "Builder's All Risk" insuanin an amount approved by Landlord covering thestruction of the Tenant
Improvements, and such other insurance as Landiagdreasonably require, it being understood andeabthat the Tenant Improvements
shall be insured by Tenant pursuant to the Leasgeiiately upon completion thereof. Such insurahedl e in amounts and shall include
such extended coverage endorsements as may baabbscequired by Landlord including, but not liedtto, the requirement that all of
Tenant's contractors shall carry excess liabilitgt Rroducts and Completed Operation coverage inser@ach in amounts not less than
$500,000 per incident, $1,000,000 in aggregate jrafatm and with companies as are required todseed by Tenant as set forth in the
Lease.

5.3 Certificates for all insurance carried pursuarthis Improvement Agreement must comply with tbguirements of the Lease and shall be
delivered to Landlord before the commencement aktraction of the Tenant Improvements and befoeectintractor's equipment is moved
onto the site. In the event the Tenant Improvemargsiamaged by any cause during the course abtisruction thereof, Tenant shall
promptly repair the same at Tenant's sole coseapdnse. Tenant's contractors shall maintain alke@foregoing insurance coverage in force
until the Tenant Improvements are fully completad accepted by Landlord, except for any Product@mahpleted Operation Coverage
insurance required by Landlord, which is to be rzaned for the remaining Lease Term following coetioin of the work and acceptance by
Landlord and Tenant. All policies carried undestBaragraph 5 shall name Landlord and Tenant aditlddal Insureds”. All insurance
maintained by Tenant's contractors shall precludbeagyation claims by the insurer against anyoneretsthereunder. Such insurance shall
provide that it is primary insurance as respeasthiner and that any other insurance maintainemaner is excess and noncontributing with
the insurance required hereunder.

6. COMPLETION AND RENTAL COMMENCEMENT DATE.

6.1 Tenant's obligation to pay Rent under the Leas#i commence on the Scheduled Term Commencedbaatand the Scheduled Term
Commencement Date shall be the Term CommencemeatrDawithstanding anything to the contrary corgdiim the Basic Lease
Information, provided that Landlord shall have pdad Tenant with full access to the premises o slade. However, Landlord Delays (as
defined below) shall extend the Term Commencemaité [but only in the event that substantial conmedf the Tenant Improvements is
delayed despite Tenant's reasonable efforts tat a@pcompensate for such delays. In addition, aredlord Delays shall be deemed to have
occurred unless Tenant has provided notice, in tiamge with the Lease, to Landlord specifying thatelay shall be deemed to have
occurred because of actions, inactions or circumsis specified in the notice in reasonable défalich actions, inactions or circumstances
are not cured by Landlord within one (1) businesg after receipt of such notice ("COUNT DATE"), aifduch actions, inaction or
circumstances otherwise qualify as a Landlord Ddlagn a Landlord Delay shall be deemed to havaroed commencing as of the Count
Date. The Term Commencement Date shall be extelnylede day for each day from the Count Date tHaradlord Delay has occurred, as
calculated as provided above. The term "Landlorthizg" as such term may be used in this ImproverAgntement, shall mean any delays
in the completion of the Tenant Improvements wtind due to any act or omission of Landlord, itsnéger contractors. Landlord Delays
shall include, but shall not be limited to: (i) dgé$ in the giving of authorizations or approvaldlandlord, (ii) delays due to the acts or
failures to act, of Landlord, its agents or cortives; where such acts or failures to act delayctmpletion of the Tenant Improvements,
provided that Tenant acts in a commercially reaBkmaanner to mitigate any such delay, (iii) deldys to the interference of Landlord, its
agents or contractors with the completion of theare Improvements or the failure or refusal of payty to permit Tenant, its agents and
contractors, access to and use of the BuildingngrBailding facilities or services, including eléwes and loading docks, which access ant
are necessary to complete the Tenant Improvemamts(iv) delays due to Landlord's failure to alldenant sufficient access to the Building
and/or the Premises during Tenant's move into thmBes.

6.2 Within ten (10) days after completion of constion of the Tenant Improvements, Tenant shalseauNotice of Completion to be
recorded in the office of the Recorder of the cguntwhich the Building is located in accordanceéhaection 3093 of the Civil Code of the
State of California or any successor statute, &atl 8irnish a copy thereof to Landlord upon suebardation. If Tenant fails to do so,
Landlord may execute and file the same on behaleofant as Tenant's agent for such purpose, antersale cost and expense. At the
conclusion of construction, (i) Tenant shall catieeSpace Planner and the contractor (i) to uptiatapproved working drawings as
necessary to reflect all changes made to the apgraorking drawings during the course of constargt{ii) to certify to the best of their
knowledge that the "record-set" of as-built dravgirge true and correct, which certification shailvire the expiration or termination of the
Lease, and (c) to deliver to Landlord two (2) sdtsopies of such record set of drawings withinetyn

(90) days following issuance of a certificate o€ogancy for the Premises, and

(iii) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a copy of wiarranties, guarantees, and operating manualinéomination relating to the improvements,
equipment, and systems in the Premises.

6.3 A material default under this Improvement Agneat shall constitute a default under the Leas tlam parties shall be entitled to all
rights and remedies under the Lease in the evemnudterial default hereunder by the other pamywithstanding that the Term thereof has
not commenced).

6.4 Without limiting the "as-is" provisions of thenendment, except for the Tenant Improvementsyf &0 be constructed by Landlord
pursuant to this Improvement Agreement, Tenant@edbe Premises in its "as-is" condition and aekadges that it has had an opportunity
to inspect the Premises prior to signing the Amesiuin



SCHEDULE 1
TO EXHIBIT B

BUILDING STANDARDS

The following constitutes the Building Standardaenimprovements ("STANDARDS") in the quantitiegsified:

1. Doors (existing) Light Oak
2. Ceiling Tiles (existing) 2' X 2' - Armstr ong Cortega Minaboard
3. Window Treatment (existing) Manufacturer: Ba li
Quality: 1" Blin d
Color: Beige
4. Hardware Sets (existing) Stainless Steel

5. Window Mullions (existing)  Existing Color



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-46058g@ng to the Gilead Sciences, Inc.

1987 Incentive Stock Option Plan, 1987 Supplemesiatk Option Plan, 1991 Stock Option Plan, EmpéoStock Purchase Plan, and 1995
Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan, the Regti&in Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-62060) pertaitinigne Gilead Sciences, Inc. 1991
Stock Option Plan, and the Registration Statenfeming S-8 No. 33-81670) pertaining to the GileadeBces, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase

Plan, of our report dated January 21, 1999, wispeet to the consolidated financial statementsilea@ Sciences, Inc. included in the Ann
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decemberl398.

/'s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 19, 1999
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ARTICLE 5

THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE
SHEETS AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS BBID ON PAGES 4 AND 5 OF EXHIBIT 13.1 TO THE
COMPANY'S FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31998.

MULTIPLIER: 1,000

PERIOD TYPE YEAR
FISCAL YEAR END DEC 31 199
PERIOD START JAN 01 199
PERIOD END DEC 31 199
CASH 32,47
SECURITIES 247,46
RECEIVABLES 0
ALLOWANCES 0
INVENTORY 0
CURRENT ASSETS 288,310
PP&E 27,83¢
DEPRECIATION 17,65¢
TOTAL ASSETS 302,86
CURRENT LIABILITIES 31,75(
BONDS 562
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0
PREFERREL 1
COMMON 31
OTHER SE 270,51
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 302,86
SALES 6,07¢
TOTAL REVENUES 32,57(
CGS 594
TOTAL COSTS 106,89
OTHER EXPENSE 0
LOSS PROVISION 0
INTEREST EXPENSE 192
INCOME PRETAX (56,075
INCOME TAX 0
INCOME CONTINUING (56,075
DISCONTINUED 0
EXTRAORDINARY 0
CHANGES 0
NET INCOME (56,075
EPS PRIMARY (1.85'
EPS DILUTED (1.85'

1 CURRENT ASSETS INCLUDES RECEIVABLES, ALLOWANCES, \WENTORY AND OTHER CURRENT ASSET!
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